Dissertation Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now and hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Sara N. Stahley

Date

Desmosome dynamics: regulation via membrane rafts and dysregulation in pemphigus vulgaris

By

Sara N. Stahley Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Biochemistry, Cell, and Developmental Biology

> Andrew P. Kowalczyk, Ph.D Advisor

Victor Faundez, M.D., Ph.D Committee Member

> Michael Koval, Ph.D Committee Member

Kenneth H. Moberg, Ph.D Committee Member

Winfield S. Sale, Ph.D Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Date

Desmosome dynamics: regulation via membrane rafts and dysregulation in pemphigus vulgaris

By

Sara N. Stahley B.S., Clarkson University, 2008

Advisor: Andrew P. Kowalczyk, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology 2015

Abstract

Desmosome dynamics: regulation via membrane rafts and dysregulation in pemphigus vulgaris

By: Sara N. Stahley

Desmosomes provide adhesive strength to tissues such as the skin and heart by anchoring desmosomal cadherins of neighboring cells to the intermediate filament cytoskeleton. Compromised desmosome function results in human diseases, such as the autoimmune skin blistering disease pemphigus vulgaris (PV). In PV, autoantibodies (IgG) are directed against the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 3 (Dsg3), resulting in the loss of desmosome-mediated cell-cell adhesion. We previously demonstrated that PV IgG induce membrane raft-mediated Dsg3 endocytosis. We hypothesized that raft microdomains play a broader role by regulating the dynamics of both desmosome assembly and disassembly. In human keratinocytes, Dsg3 was found to be raft associated biochemically and colocalized with raft markers at cell borders by structured illumination microscopy (SIM), a form of super-resolution. Raft disruption prevented desmosome assembly and adhesion, indicating a functional link between rafts and desmosomes. Furthermore, PV IgG-induced desmosome disassembly occurred by a redistribution of Dsg3 into raft-containing endocytic linear arrays, resulting in cholesterol-dependent loss of adhesion. Thus, rafts are critical for both desmosome assembly and disassembly.

Multiple PV pathomechanisms have been proposed based largely on in vitro studies. In order to better understand how PV IgG alters desmosome morphology and function in vivo, patient tissue was analyzed by SIM. Consistent with previous in vitro studies, we observed the following: aberrant clustering of desmosomal proteins, patient IgG colocalization with markers of rafts and endosomes, decreased Dsg3 levels and smaller desmosomes. Additionally, split desmosomes were detected in patient tissue, a finding not previously observed in cell culture models of PV. Desmosome splitting could be recapitulated in vitro by exposing cultured keratinocytes to both PV IgG and mechanical stress, demonstrating that desmosome splitting in patients is due to compromised desmosomal adhesion. These findings indicate that Dsg3 clustering and endocytosis are associated with reduced desmosome size and adhesion defects in PV patients. Defining the pathogenic alterations in PV patients provides a foundation for future in vitro studies investigating PV pathomechanisms and targeted therapeutics. Collectively, this dissertation demonstrates that raft membrane microdomains modulate the dynamics of desmosome assembly and disassembly, and that altered desmosome dynamics in PV result in the loss of desmosomal adhesion.

Desmosome dynamics: regulation via membrane rafts and dysregulation in pemphigus vulgaris

By

Sara N. Stahley B.S., Clarkson University, 2008

Advisor: Andrew P. Kowalczyk, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Biochemistry, Cell and Developmental Biology 2015

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Dissertation overview	1
Chapter 2: Introduction	5
2.1 The epidermis	6
2.2 Desmosome ultrastructure and function	7
2.3 Molecular components and organization of the desmosome	9
2.3 1 Desmosomal cadherins	9
2.3.2 Plakoglobin	10
2.3.3 Plakophilins	11
2.3.4 Desmoplakin	12
2.3.5 Other desmosomal proteins	13
2.4 Tissue distribution of desmosomal proteins	14
2.5 Membrane rafts	15
2.5.1 Membrane raft definition	15
2.5.2 Membrane raft function	16
2.5.3 Studying membrane rafts	19
2.5.4 Rafts and cell junctions	21
Chapter 3: Compromised desmosomal adhesion in disease	30
3.1 Inherited disorders of the desmosome	31
3.2 Desmosomes in acquired disease	32
3.2.1 Pemphigus	32
3.2.2 Bullous impetigo / Staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome	37
3.2.3 Cancer	38
3.2.4 Other desmosomal diseases	40
3.3 Future directions	42
Chapter 4: Pathomechanisms of pemphigus: altered desmosome dyn	amics 47
4.1 Steric hindrance	48
4 2 Beyond steric hindrance	50
4.2 1 IoG targeting the Dsg EC3-5 domains play a role in acantholysis	50 50
4.2.2 PV IgG cause alterations in the desmosomal plaque	51
4.2.3 IgG-induced Dsg3 clustering	52
4.2.4 Dsg endocytosis and down-regulation	54
4.2.5 Cell signaling	55
4.2.6 Desmosome non-assembly vs. disassembly	58
4.3 Model for PV pathomechanisms and therapeutic implications	60

Chapter 5: Desmosome assembly and disassembly are membrane raft- dependent
5.1 Introduction665.2 Results695.2.1 Dsg3 and other desmosomal proteins are membrane raft associated695.2.2 Desmosome assembly and adhesion are cholesterol dependent705.2.3 Dsg3 raft partioning in associated with desmosome assembly715.2.4 PV IgG-induced desmosome disassembly is raft-dependent725.3 Discussion735.4 Materials and methods78
Chapter 6: Super-resolution microscopy reveals altered desmosomal protein organization in pemphigus vulgaris patients
cultured keratinocytes
Chapter 7: Summary and future directions 122

1	

References13	3	j	((0)	
--------------	---	---	---	---	---	---	--

List of Tables and Figure

Figure 1. Structure of the epidermis
Figure 2. Desmosome ultrastructure and organization
Figure 3. Domain organization of desmosomal proteins
Figure 4. Expression profile of desmosomal proteins in the epidermis
Figure 5. Membrane rafts and their biochemical isolation
Table 1. Desmosomal targets in disease 44
Table 2. Anti-Dsg autoantibodies cause acantholysis in pemphigus
Table 3. Desmosomal targets in cancer
Figure 6. Model for PV pathomechanisms 64
Figure 7. Dsg3 and other desmosomal proteins are membrane raft associated
Figure 8. Dsg3 colocalizes with raft markers at cell-cell borders
Figure 9. Desmosome assembly and adhesion are cholesterol dependent
Figure 10. Dsg3 raft association increases upon calcium addition
Figure 11. Dsg3 does not partition to rafts in cells lacking desmosomal proteins 89
Figure 12. PV IgG causes redistribution of Dsg3 into raft-containing linear arrays 90
Figure 13. Cholesterol depletion prevents PV IgG-induced Dsg3 redistribution and
weakened adhesion
Figure 14. Model for membrane rafts as platforms for desmosome regulation
Supplemental Figure 1. CD59 is expressed on the surface of HMEC-1 cells
Figure 15. PV IgG causes desmosomal protein clustering in patient tissue and in cultured
keratinocytes 109
Figure 16. PV IgG associates with linear arrays

Figure 17. PV patient IgG colocalizes with lipid raft and endosomal markers 111
Figure 18. Desmosomes in PV patients are smaller and split 112
Figure 19. Mechanical stress causes desmosome splitting in cultured keratinocytes
exposed to PV IgG 114
Supplemental Table 1. PV patient ELISA scores 115
Supplemental Figure 2. Clustering analysis of individual samples used in figure 15
Supplemental Figure 3. Altered desmosomal protein organization in PV patient lip tissue
Supplemental Figure 4. Altered plakoglobin organization in PV patient tissue 118
Supplemental Figure 5. Dsg3 levels are decreased in PV patient tissue 119
Supplemental Figure 6. Viewing desmosome 'rail-road' tracks via SIM 120
Supplemental Figure 7. Dsg-depleted desmosomes in PV patient tissue 121

Chapter 1

Dissertation Overview

Cell junctions play a fundamental role in cell biology, particularly in cell communication, cell movement, tissue organization and cell adhesion. The desmosome is an anchoring junction responsible for mediating strong adhesion between neighboring cells. Desmosomal adhesion provides tissues such as the skin and heart with the ability to resist mechanical stress. An introduction to desmosome structure and function is discussed in Chapter 2. The importance of desmosome-mediated adhesion is evidenced by the numerous human diseases of tissue fragility that result when desmosome function is compromised. Chapter 3 highlights diseases of compromised desmosomal adhesion, both inherited and acquired. Understanding the underlying cell biology of desmosomal diseases will contribute to the development of improved therapy options for desmosometargeted diseases, and deepen our understanding of basic desmosome biology. One disease of particular relevance to this thesis is pemphigus vulgaris (PV), an autoimmune blistering disease in which patients produce autoantibodies (IgG) against the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 3 (Dsg3), resulting in the loss of cell adhesion. The current understanding of pemphigus pathomechanisms is reviewed in Chapter 4. A host of studies, including the work presented in this thesis, indicate that pemphigus is ultimately a disease of altered desmosome dynamics.

In vitro, cultured keratinocytes can be treated with purified PV patient IgG to study the mechanisms by which PV IgG results in the loss of cell adhesion. Using this approach, the Kowalczyk lab previously identified distinct morphological changes and cellular responses to PV IgG, including Dsg3 clustering, endocytosis and endocytic linear array formation. PV IgG-induced Dsg3 endocytosis was found to occur through a lipid raft-mediated pathway, although the full implications of Dsg3 raft association in desmosomal adhesion was unclear. We hypothesized that both desmosome assembly and PV IgG-induced disassembly were membrane-raft dependent. Dsg3 raft association was investigated using biochemical Triton X-100 insolubility and sucrose buoyancy criteria, super-resolution immunofluorescence microscopy and raft-perturbation. The results of this study indicating that desmosome assembly and disassembly are raft-dependent are presented in Chapter 5.

PV IgG has proven useful as a tool to disrupt desmosomes and thereby study desmosomal regulation. However, very little is known about the desmosomal alterations that occur in PV patients. Therefore, PV patient biopsies were analyzed using super-resolution immunofluorescence, and this analysis is presented in Chapter 6. Similar to previous *in vitro* studies, we observed desmosomal alterations including Dsg3 clustering, endocytosis, linear array formation and smaller desmosomes. Additionally, split desmosomes were also observed in patient tissue, a finding not previously reported *in vitro*. Desmosome splitting could be recapitulated in cultured keratinocytes upon exposing PV IgG-treated cells to mechanical stress, revealing that the application of mechanical force causes PV IgG-weakened desmosomes to split. These findings strongly indicate that Dsg3 clustering and endocytosis are associated with reduced desmosome size and adhesion defects in PV patient tissue.

A summary and discussion of future directions founded upon the results presented in this dissertation are detailed in Chapter 7. The overall objective of this dissertation was to investigate the significance of desmosomal raft association and define the desmosome alterations in PV patient tissue. Collectively, this work reveals that lipid raft membrane microdomains modulate the dynamics of desmosome assembly and disassembly, and that these dynamics are altered in PV, resulting in the loss of desmosomal adhesion. Further, studies in this dissertation demonstrate that super-resolution light microscopy is capable of visualizing individual desmosomes as well as their morphology in patient tissue, which may prove useful for investigating other diseases in which adhesion structures are targeted. Super-resolution imaging will also be pivotal for future studies investigating desmosome- and raft-targeting mechanisms of desmosomal proteins, as well as, defining the structure and molecular composition of linear arrays. Importantly, the patient analysis presented here validates that PV pathomechanisms are accurately modeled *in vitro* through the use of cultured keratinoctyes and purified patient IgG. This finding has great import for future *in vitro* studies of PV pathomechanisms and for exploring better treatment options for patients of pemphigus and related bullous diseases. The work presented in this dissertation provides new insights into the fundamental cellular mechanisms that regulate desmosome dynamics and reveals how these processes are disrupted in the context of a devastating epidermal blistering disease.

Chapter 2

Introduction

2.1 The epidermis

Skin is essential for life and functions as our primary interface with the world. The skin is a protective barrier that protects us from infections, UV radiation and dehydration, but also plays important roles in thermoregulation, touch perception and wound healing. The skin is comprised of two major compartments, the dermis and the epidermis. The dermis provides support and nutrients to the epidermis, which is avascular and forms a barrier that is capable of resisting mechanical stress. The epidermis is a stratified squamous epithelium consisting of keratinocytes, melanocytes, Langerhans cells and Merkel cells. Keratinocytes are the most abundant cell type, making up 90-95% of the epidermis, and are organized into four major layers: the basal layer, the spinous layer, the granular layer and the stratum corneum (Figure 1). The basal layer contains a population of stem cells that allow the epidermis to be continually replenished with a turnover rate of about 28 days. Over a period of 14 days, keratinocytes differentiate as they transit through the spinous and granular layers. Another 14 days is spent within the stratum corneum after living keratinocytes undergo cornification into non-living corneocytes. This layer of corneocytes is most critical for providing the functional airliquid barrier (Simpson et al., 2011).

Cell-cell junctions are vital for a properly functioning epidermis, as evidenced by the many human disease states in which cell junctions are impaired (Ferone *et al.*, 2015; Ishida-Yamamoto and Igawa, 2014; Kobielak and Boddupally, 2014; Lai-Cheong *et al.*, 2007; Wei and Huang, 2013). Within the epidermis there are four types of intercellular junctions. Gap junctions are communicating junctions that allow for the passage of ions and small molecules between neighboring cells and are mostly located in the spinous layer (Simpson *et al.*, 2011). Tight junctions are located in the upper regions of the granular layer and have recently been shown to contribute to the epidermal barrier by preventing trans-epidermal water loss through mechanisms that are not fully understood (Simpson *et al.*, 2011). Located in all three living layers of the epidermis are adherens junctions and desmosomes. Adherens junctions and desmosomes adhere neighboring cells through cadherin-based extracellular adhesive interactions and linkage to the actin and keratin intermediate filament cytoskeleton, respectively (Simpson *et al.*, 2011). Both desmosomes are particularly important for mediating strong intercellular adhesion and providing the epidermis with the ability to resist mechanical stress (Kowalczyk and Green, 2013). Desmosomes are the central focus of this dissertation, and their role in basic epidermal biology and disease will be discussed in detail in subsequent sections.

2.2 Desmosome ultrastructure and function

Since their first description as 'intercellular bridges' by Giulio Bizzozero in 1864 (Bizzozero, 1864; Calkins and Setzer, 2007; Mazzarello *et al.*, 2001), desmosomes have become recognized as sites of strong cell-cell adhesion (Berika and Garrod, 2014). Stemming from the Greek words *desmos*, meaning bond or to bind, and *soma* meaning body, the desmosome is a highly ordered and specialized 'spot-weld' of intercellular adhesion (Calkins and Setzer, 2007). Desmosomes tether adjacent cells through extracellular adhesive interactions and intracellular linkages to the intermediate filament cytoskeleton. When viewed by electron microscopy, desmosomes exhibit parallel, electron-dense plaques, one from each opposing cell, physically joined in the intracellular space (Figure 2A) (Farquhar and Palade, 1963; Kelly, 1966; Odland, 1958; Overton, 1962). This electron dense appearance is due to extensive clustering and tight packing of the desmosomal components. Remarkably, desmosomes are also uniform in size, roughly 0.2-0.5 μ m in diameter, depending on the tissue. Thus, desmosomes represent a unique membrane microdomain that is symmetrical and highly ordered.

The desmosome is comprised of proteins from three major families and is organized into three morphologically distinguishable regions (Figure 2B). The extracellular core region (ECR) consists of the extracellular space between adherent cells in which the desmosomal cadherins, desmoglein and desmocollin, engage in calciumdependent interactions, physically adhering neighboring cells. The intracellular portion of the desmosome is commonly referred to as the 'desmosomal plaque' and is further divided into two regions, the plasma membrane proximal outer dense plaque (ODP) and the inner dense plaque (IDP). In the ODP, the cytoplasmic tails of the cadherins are linked to armadillo proteins plakoglobin and plakophilin, and the amino-terminus of the plakin family protein desmoplakin (Chen et al., 2002; Chitaev et al., 1996; Kami et al., 2009). The precise organization and protein-protein interactions within the plaque, in particular the ODP, remain unknown. Within the IDP, the carboxyl-terminus of desmoplakin binds to keratin filaments, thereby tethering the intermediate filament cytoskeleton to the desmosomal adhesion complex (Choi et al., 2002; Green et al., 1992; Jones and Goldman, 1985; Stappenbeck et al., 1993).

By mechanically anchoring neighboring cells to one another, the desmosome provides tissues with the ability to resist mechanical forces (Kowalczyk and Green, 2013). Desmosomes are prominent in epithelial and cardiac tissues, both of which experience a high degree of mechanical stress (Berika and Garrod, 2014; Desai *et al.*, 2009). Though the desmosome must be rigid and sturdy enough to provide the strong adhesion necessary for tissue integrity, the desmosome is also thought to be a dynamic complex that undergoes remodeling during both normal homeostasis and cellular processes such as development, differentiation and wound healing, as well as disease (Kitajima, 2013, 2014; Nekrasova and Green, 2013). As discussed in Chapter 3, disruption of desmosome function causes numerous human diseases that are often associated with tissue fragility. The fact that desmosomal diseases often present with severe tissue fragility reinforces the notion that desmosomes provide strong adhesion and mechanical integrity to tissues.

2.3 Molecular components and organization of the desmosome

2.3.1 Desmosomal cadherins

The desmosomal cadherins, desmoglein and desmocollin, are type-1 transmembrane proteins that are members of the cadherin superfamily of cell adhesion molecules. Cadherins contain extracellular cadherin repeat domains that rigidify upon calcium binding in order to mediate cell-cell adhesive interactions. There are four desmogleins (Dsg 1-4) and three desmocollins (Dsc 1-3) (Figure 3A). Both desmosomal cadherins have four extracellular cadherin (EC1-4) repeats, with the EC1-2 domains thought to be primarily responsible for engaging in cis (on the same cell) and trans (on opposing cells) interactions to drive junction assembly and adhesion. The EC repeats are followed by an extracellular anchor (EA), a transmembrane (TM) domain and an intracellular anchor (IA) (Saito *et al.*, 2012b).

The desmogleins contain an intracellular cadherin-like sequence (ICS) domain which is responsible for binding plakoglobin, as well as, an extended tail comprised of an intracellular proline-rich linker (IPL), repeat unit domains (RUD) and a desmoglein terminal domain (DTD) (Saito *et al.*, 2012b). Evolutionarily and structurally, the desmocollins are more closely related to the classical cadherins, such as E-cadherin (Kljuic *et al.*, 2004). Alternative splicing results in a Dsc 'a' isoform that contains the ICS domain where plakoglobin binds and a shorter 'b' isoform which lacks the plakoglobin binding site (Cheng et al., 2004; Collins et al., 1991; Troyanovsky et al., 1993; Witcher et al., 1996). Unlike classical cadherins which engage in homophilic adhesive interactions, studies indicate that the desmosomal cadherins are capable of mediating both homo- and heterophilic interactions. Heterophilic interactions between Dsg and Dsc seem to be critical for desmosome formation and function (Green and Simpson, 2007; Thomason et al., 2010). In vitro, the presence of both Dsg and Dsc is required to mediate cell-cell adhesion (Getsios et al., 2004a; Kowalczyk et al., 1996; Marcozzi et al., 1998). Further, EC1-2 peptides of both Dsg1 and Dsc1 are required to prevent desmosomal adhesion in epithelial cells (Runswick et al., 2001; Tselepis et al., 1998). Binding partners of the cytoplasmic tail of the desmosomal cadherins make up the desmosomal plaque and will be discussed next.

2.3.2 Plakoglobin

Plakoglobin (PG) is a founding member of the armadillo family of proteins that are characterized by a central domain constructed of tandem 'armadillo' motifs. Armadillo was originally discovered in *Drosophila* and is the homolog of vertebrae proteins β-catenin and PG (Peifer *et al.*, 1992). Armadillo domains tend to mediate protein-protein interactions. While PG is capable of binding to E-cadherin and localizes to the adherens junction, PG has a much greater affinity for binding to the desmosomal cadherins (Chitaev *et al.*, 1996). In the desmosome, PG serves as a bridge between the cytoplasmic tails of the cadherins and the intermediate filament binding protein desmoplakin (discussed in 2.3.4). PG contains 12 central arm repeat domains (similar to β-catenin) that are flanked by amino-terminal head and carboxyl-terminal tail domains (Figure 3B). Mutagenesis studies suggest that multiple arm repeats near the aminoterminus and the carboxyl-terminus are important for binding to the desmosomal cadherins (Chitaev *et al.*, 1996; Choi *et al.*, 2009; Wahl *et al.*, 1996; Witcher *et al.*, 1996). The central armadillo domain of PG has also been shown to bind to desmoplakin (Bornslaeger *et al.*, 2001; Kowalczyk *et al.*, 1997; Smith and Fuchs, 1998), thereby serving as bridge between the desmosomal cadherins and the keratin filament binding protein desmoplakin.

2.3.3 Plakophilins

The plakophilins (PKP1-3) are also members of the armadillo protein family, but are more closely related to the adherens junction protein p-120-catenin rather than PG (Hatzfeld, 2007). Structurally, the PKPs differ from PG in that they contain only nine arm repeat domains and harbor an insertion between repeats five and six which introduces a bend in the overall protein structure (Figure 3B) (Bass-Zubek *et al.*, 2009). Additionally, PKP1 and PKP2 are alternatively spliced resulting in a short 'a' isoform and a longer 'b' isoform (Bass-Zubek *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, PKP1 and PKP2 localize to the nucleus and the PKPs have been shown to bind to mRNA translational machinery (Bass-Zubek *et al.*, 2009; Fischer-Keso *et al.*, 2014; Klymkowsky, 1999; Wolf and Hatzfeld, 2010; Wolf *et al.*, 2010). While most armadillo proteins interact with others proteins via their arm repeat domains, all binding partners of the PKPs associate with the PKP amino-terminal head domain (Bass-Zubek *et al.*, 2009). The PKPs have been shown to bind to a wide variety of proteins including Dsg1, Dsg2, Dsg3, Dsc1a, Dsc2a, Dsc3, PG, desmoplakin, keratin and actin (Hatzfeld, 2007; Hatzfeld *et al.*, 2000). Though, binding of the PKP1 head domain to desmoplakin is particularly robust and is required to recruit desmoplakin to desmosomes (Kowalczyk *et al.*, 1999). Together with desmoplakin, the PKPs facilitate clustering and drive lateral interactions between the desmosomal cadherin complexes to reinforce the desmosomal plaque and strengthen desmosomal adhesion (Bornslaeger *et al.*, 2001; Kowalczyk *et al.*, 1999).

2.3.4 Desmoplakin

Desmoplakin (DP) is the most abundant desmosomal plaque protein and is an obligate component of the desmosome (Bornslaeger *et al.*, 1996; Delva *et al.*, 2009; Gallicano *et al.*, 1998; Kowalczyk and Green, 2013). DP is a member of the plakin family of proteins, large molecules that link the cytoskeleton to the plasma membrane and mediate associations between microtubules, actin and intermediate filament networks (Bouameur *et al.*, 2014). In keratinocytes, DP provides the crucial link between the keratin intermediate filament cytoskeleton and the desmosomal cadherins through interactions with PG and PKP (Delva *et al.*, 2009). Structurally, DP consists of an aminoterminal globular head domain, a coiled-coil rod domain and a carboxyl-terminal tail that

contains plakin repeats A-C, along with a glycine-serine-arginine (GSR) rich region (Figure 3C) (Choi *et al.*, 2002; Green *et al.*, 1999). DP is alternatively spliced within the rod domain resulting in a longer DPI isoform and a shorter DPII isoform (Green *et al.*, 1992). The plakin head domain is responsible for binding to PG and PKP, while the carboxyl-terminal tail domain binds to intermediate filaments (Kowalczyk and Green, 2013).

2.3.5 Other desmosomal proteins

While the previously discussed proteins are well characterized as major desmosomal components, other proteins are also known be associated with the desmosome. Perhaps the most notable is the recently discovered desmosomal protein Perp, a target of p53/63 transcriptional regulation and tetraspan membrane protein that localizes to desmosomes. Perp plays a role in desmosome assembly and is essential for epithelial integrity, as the loss of Perp leads to severe skin fragility in mice (Ihrie and Attardi, 2005; Ihrie *et al.*, 2005). Members of the plakin family, such as envoplakin and periplakin, contribute to the development of the cornified envelope as components of corneodesmosomes (Kalinin *et al.*, 2004; Ruhrberg *et al.*, 1997; Sevilla *et al.*, 2007). Another component of corneodesmosomes is corneodesmosoin, a glycoprotein primarily expressed in the upper epidermal layers and hair follicles, which contributes to keratinocyte adhesion in the stratum corneum (Jonca *et al.*, 2002; Jonca *et al.*, 2011). The periplakin-binding protein kazrin is an adaptor protein and RhoA regulator (Groot *et al.*, 2004; Sevilla *et al.*, 2008), while pinin is a known keratin-binding protein (Shi and Sugrue, 2000). Additional desmosomal proteins include desmocalmin and kertocalmin (Fairley *et al.*, 1991; Tsukita and Tsukita, 1985).

2.4 Tissue distribution of desmosomal proteins

Desmosomal proteins have complex expression patterns that are tissue-specific and have been shown to be important for driving epithelial patterning and differentiation. The choreographed expression profile within the epidermis is a prime example (Figure 4). DP and PG, along with Dsg2 and Dsc2, are expressed in all desmosome-bearing tissues, including simple and stratified epithelia, as well as myocardium. All seven desmosomal cadherins are expressed in the epidermis, but are differentially expressed as keratinocytes undergo terminal differentiation while transiting to the granular layer (Holthofer et al., 2007; Kottke et al., 2006). Dsg2 and Dsg3 are expressed in the lower layers of the epidermis, while Dsg1 is predominantly expressed in the upper granular layers. Dsg4 is found within the granular layer but is primarily expressed in the hair follicle. Dsc2 and Dsc3 are expressed in the basal and spinous layers, while Dsc1 is restricted to the upper layers. These patterns of expression are critical for tissue organization and homeostasis as misexpression leads to a variety of proliferative, epidermal patterning and adhesion defects (Brennan et al., 2007; Hardman et al., 2005; Merritt et al., 2002).

Similar to the desmosomal cadherins, the PKPs also display tissue and differentiation specific patterns of expression. PKP1 is expressed in the suprabasal layers of stratified epithelia, primarily the upper layers, and is important for tissue integrity of the upper epidermis, while PKP3 is expressed uniformly throughout the epidermis. PKP3 is also found in simple epithelia and has been shown to have important roles in the hair follicle (Bass-Zubek *et al.*, 2009). PKP2 is the most widely expressed plakophilin. PKP2 is found in the lower layers of stratified epithelia, as well as non-epithelial tissue such as myocardium and lymph nodes. PKP2 is required for normal cardiac function (Bass-Zubek *et al.*, 2009). The coordinated interaction among desmosomal proteins, as well as their appropriate expression patterns, is thought to be essential for desmosomal adhesion and epidermal function.

As mentioned above, the epidermis is a unique tissue with varying expression of desmosomal proteins, as well as differential expression of junctions themselves; with tight junctions located in the upper layers, etc. From the basal to granular layer, desmosomes increase in both number and size, along with an increasing gradient of extracellular calcium (Elias 2002, Menon 1985). Interestingly, cholesterol enriched microdomains known as lipid rafts, have been shown to be concentrated in the upper layers of the epidermis (Roelandt *et al.*, 2009). A significant portion of this dissertation investigates the significance of lipid rafts, or membrane rafts, in desmosomal adhesion, as well as their role in disease. A description of rafts, their functions and methods to study rafts will be introduced next, along with a discussion of how membrane rafts are integrated with the function of various cell junctions.

2.5 Membrane rafts

2.5.1 Membrane raft definition

Membrane rafts, also known as lipid rafts, membrane microdomains and detergent resistant membranes, are specialized regions or domains of the plasma membrane with distinct properties from the surrounding lipid bilayer. Here, these microdomains will be simply referred to as 'rafts'. Defined at the 2006 Keystone Symposium of Lipid Rafts and Cell Function, rafts are "small (10-200 nm), heterogeneous, highly dynamic, sterol- and sphingolipid-enriched domains that compartmentalize cellular processes" (Pike, 2006). The enrichment in cholesterol and sphingolipids results in a more ordered, packed and slightly thicker lipid bilayer relative to the surrounding plasma membrane (Figure 5A). Generally, there are two types of rafts, planar and caveolae. Planar rafts are not invaginated and are continuous with the plane of the membrane, and contain proteins such as flotillin. In contrast, caveolae are flask shaped invaginations in the plasma membrane containing the protein caveolin. Individual raft domains contain a small subset of select proteins and float freely within the membrane. However, rafts can cluster to form larger (> 450 nm), more stable domains that function as platforms to execute multiple cellular functions, such as signaling and endocytosis (Goswami *et al.*, 2008; Lajoie and Nabi, 2010; Simons and Sampaio, 2011).

2.5.2 Membrane raft function

Generally, rafts function as organizing hubs to facilitate a variety of cellular processes. By having an environment that is distinct from other areas of the plasma membrane, they are able to compartmentalize proteins and effector molecules for various processes, ranging from membrane protein trafficking to signal transduction to endocytosis (Lajoie and Nabi, 2010; Pike, 2006; Simons and Sampaio, 2011; Simons and Toomre, 2000). For example, rafts serve as spatial organizers to either promote interactions that favor signal transduction or prevent interactions by segregating otherwise-interacting molecules (Simons and Toomre, 2000). The ability of rafts to cluster is critical for their function. For signaling to occur, many small individual rafts must cluster together to form a larger platform where proteins necessary for signaling are brought together and can interact regardless of what happens in the surrounding non-raft domains. Thus, rafts cluster to concentrate or bring together interacting molecules to execute cell functions. Raft clustering has been shown to be cholesterol-dependent and can occur through a variety of ways, driven from either the extracellular face or the cytosolic face of the membrane, as well as intracellularly (Simons and Ehehalt, 2002). Antibodies, ligands or raft-lipid-binding proteins can drive clustering on the extracellular side of the membrane while scaffolding proteins such flotillins or caveolins drive clustering from the cytoplasmic side of the membrane. Clustering can also occur through protein oligomerization within the membrane (Simons and Ehehalt, 2002).

A functional role for rafts in immune receptor signaling has emerged from studies of hematopoietic cells. The IgE, T-cell and B-cell receptors have been shown to translocate to rafts upon crosslinking, leading to kinase activation and signaling (Field *et al.*, 1995; Horejsi, 2003; Janes *et al.*, 2000; Sedwick and Altman, 2002). Rafts also play a role in disease, including a variety of bacterial and viral infections. For example, the HIV envelope is enriched in raft components and rafts play a functional role in both virus entry and exit (Aloia *et al.*, 1988; Aloia *et al.*, 1993; van Wilgenburg *et al.*, 2014). Rafts have been shown to regulate the protein trafficking and processing that lead to the accumulation of amyloid- β -peptide plaques, the hallmark of Alzheimer disease (Simons and Ehehalt, 2002).

A variety of proteins, including EGFR, TGF β and GPI-linked proteins have been shown to undergo raft-mediated endocytosis, another important function of rafts (Hansen and Nichols, 2009; Lajoie and Nabi, 2010; Sharma et al., 2002). Raft-mediated endocytosis falls within the category of clathrin-independent endocytosis and is characterized by a variety of criteria. Generally, raft endocytosis is categorized into caveolae-mediated, noncaveolar dynamin-dependent and noncaveolar dynaminindependent endocytosis (Lajoie and Nabi, 2010). Caveolae are plasma membrane invaginations of 60-80 nm in diameter enriched in the membrane-associated protein caveolin. Caveolae formation is dependent of the ability of caveolin to oligomerize and bind cholesterol (Lajoie and Nabi, 2010; Nichols, 2003). Fission of caveolae requires dynamin, a protein that is also important in clathrin-mediated endocytosis. Dynamin has been shown to regulate the formation of raft-derived endoctyic carries independently of caveolin, such as for Cholera toxin internalization, with some studies implicating the raft protein flotillin-1 in this process (Lajoie and Nabi, 2010). Additionally, raft endocytosis can occur independently of both caveolin or dynamin (El-Sayed and Harashima, 2013; Lajoie and Nabi, 2010). Regulators of this form of endocytosis may include Cdc42, GRAF1, Arf proteins and Rac1(El-Sayed and Harashima, 2013). Importantly, all raftmediated endocytic pathways are sensitive to cholesterol depletion and are dependent on tyrosine kinase activity (Lajoie and Nabi, 2010). Multiple methods of cholesterol perturbation have been demonstrated to disrupt raft function, including endocytosis (Nichols, 2003; Nichols and Lippincott-Schwartz, 2001; Puri et al., 2001; Sharma et al., 2002).

2.5.3 Studying membrane rafts

A variety of biochemical, imaging and drug-based techniques have been employed to analyze membrane rafts (Connell and Smith, 2006; Damjanovich *et al.*, 2002; de Almeida et al., 2005; de Almeida et al., 2009; Shogomori and Brown, 2003; Xu et al., 2001; Zidovetzki and Levitan, 2007), and those applicable to this dissertation will be briefly discussed. Utilized most heavily is the biochemical raft fractionation technique to assay for raft association. We used the standard method in the field for preparing detergent resistant membranes (DRMs, a biochemical definition of lipid rafts) as described by Lingwood and Simons (Lingwood and Simons, 2007). Following detergent solubilization, cell lysates are subjected to sucrose gradient fractionation. Rafts and raftassociated proteins are Triton X-100 insoluble at 4°C and are relatively buoyant compared to non-raft membranes on a sucrose gradient following ultracentrifugation. Protein composition at different buoyant densities within the sucrose gradient fractions can be analyzed via western blot to identify proteins that co-fractionate together (Figure 5B). Flotillin-1 and caveolin-1 are commonly used as markers of raft fractions, while calnexin, an endoplasmic reticulum resident protein, is commonly used as a non-raft marker. It is important to note that this assay on its own is simply reflective of a protein's biochemical ability to fractionate with raft DRMs, and thus it is not necessarily direct evidence that a protein is raft associated in intact cells (Lingwood and Simons, 2007; Sharma *et al.*, 2002). Nonetheless, the buoyant properties of a protein on a sucrose gradient provides a powerful biochemical criterion for raft association under different biological circumstances, such as a change in cell-cell adhesive or migratory status.

Visualizing rafts by microscopy is technically challenging. Due to conventional light microscopy resolution limits and the variable and small size of rafts, sometimes 10-100 nm, it is often difficult or near impossible to visualize individual raft domains in living cells, though lipid ordered phases are readily observable in model membranes (Owen and Gaus, 2013; Simons and Toomre, 2000). Colocalization with different raft markers such as the GPI-anchored protein CD59 and caveolin-1 can be used to suggest raft association, although this approach does not provide definitive evidence that a particular protein is 'in a raft'. However, colocalization with a variety of markers for proteins that have an affinity for different raft sub-types can help identify the type of raft a protein of interest likely associates with. This type of information is not obtainable by the fractionation technique discussed above as it potentially isolates a heterogeneous population of rafts that exhibit the same buoyant density (Duggan *et al.*, 2008). Thus, proteins that fractionate together are not necessarily in the same raft domain in the living cell. For this reason, we utilized a combination of biochemical and high resolution optical approaches, such as structured-illumination microscopy, in the work reported in this thesis.

In addition to biochemical isolation and imaging techniques, rafts can be functionally perturbed by a variety of reagents (George and Wu, 2012; Zidovetzki and Levitan, 2007). Methyl-beta-cyclodextrin (mβCD) is widely used to disrupt raft function by depleting plasma membrane cholesterol (Simons and Toomre, 2000). Other raft altering reagents include those that bind cholesterol such as filipin and nystatin, as well as, those that inhibit cholesterol or sphingolipid synthesis such as the statin class of drugs (lovastatin, simvastatin, fluvastatin) and myriocin respectively (Hanada *et al.*, 2000; Hothersall *et al.*, 2006; Miyake *et al.*, 1995; Simons and Toomre, 2000; Zeki *et al.*, 2011). Both filipin and nystatin have been used in previous Kowalczyk lab studies (Delva *et al.*, 2008). More recently, we have utilized m β CD to perturb raft function, as reported here in Chapter 5. Tyrosine kinase signaling has also been shown to be important for raft-mediated functions such as endocytosis, and for this reason tyrosine kinase inhibitors have been implemented in a variety of studies for preventing endocytosis via raft domains (Damm *et al.*, 2005; Minshall *et al.*, 2000; Sharma *et al.*, 2004).

2.5.4 Rafts and cell junctions

In addition to the functions described above, rafts have been shown to play important roles in cell junction regulation. The neuromuscular junction (NMJ) is a specialized junction that connects the nervous and muscular systems with synaptic contact points and is critical for muscle contraction. The NMJ *in vivo* is enriched in GM1, a key component of rafts, and rafts have been demonstrated to be required for acetylcholine receptor clustering, which is necessary for NMJ formation and function (Cartaud *et al.*, 2011; Zhu *et al.*, 2006). Studies also suggest that raft microdomains organize cell-cell contacts by clustering and stabilizing N-cadherin in myoblasts for functional adhesion. N-cadherin was raft associated biochemically and raft-disruption perturbed junction assembly and dynamics (Causeret *et al.*, 2005). Localization of the Ncadherin-p120 catenin complex in rafts was required for N-cadherin-dependent activation of RhoA during the induction of myogenesis (Taulet *et al.*, 2009). Additionally, the tight junction (TJ) has been classified as a membrane microdomain. Major TJ proteins occludin and zonula occludin-1 were found to be raft associated. Importantly, TJ disassembly resulted in a displacement of TJ proteins from rafts. Furthermore, immunogold electron microscopy revealed occludin and caveolin-1 in close proximity (Nusrat *et al.*, 2000). Thus, emerging evidence suggests a raft requirement for junction organization and function, ranging from neuronal to muscle to epithelial junctions.

Growing evidence is revealing a role for rafts in desmosome regulation and function. Mature desmosomes are remarkably detergent insoluble structures, and this property has been useful in monitoring desmosome assembly status. For example, desmosome components partition into a Triton-soluble pool and a Triton-insoluble pool when whole cells are extracted with Triton X-100. The insoluble pool reflects proteins that are incorporated into the desmosomal complex associated with the intermediate filament cytoskeleton, and thus is referred to as the desmosomal pool, while the soluble pool reflects the non-desmosomal pool (Palka and Green, 1997). It is interesting that the desmosome has been studied classically using a similar solubility criteria as rafts, with the exception of 'floatation'. Intriguingly, a connection between desmosomes and rafts actually goes back to the 1970's, before the term 'lipid raft' was coined, and even before the concept of a membrane microdomain was appreciated. Initial studies isolating and biochemically characterizing desmosomes revealed that the lipid fraction of desmosomal membrane was enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipids (Drochmans *et al.*, 1978; Skerrow and Matoltsy, 1974).

More recently, desmosomal proteins Dsg2, Dsc2, PG and DP were confirmed to be raft associated biochemically by the standard raft fractionation protocol discussed above in multiple epithelial cell types. Furthermore, raft disruption was found to weaken cell adhesion (Brennan *et al.*, 2012; Nava *et al.*, 2007; Resnik *et al.*, 2011). As rafts can cluster to form more stable platforms for cellular functions, we reasoned that desmosomes might represent a sub-type of these raft-containing stable membraneordered assemblies. However, previous work in the Kowalczyk lab has demonstrated that Dsg3 is internalized via a raft-mediated pathway upon triggering desmosome disassembly and that this internalization can be prevented by inhibiting various signaling pathways (Delva *et al.*, 2008; Saito *et al.*, 2012a). Overall, the literature and our previous studies support a broader hypothesis in which rafts play a functional role in desmosome regulation, signaling and adhesion. Yet, the mechanisms by which desmosomal proteins associate with rafts and the significance of this association remain largely unknown. The functional significance of desmosomal raft association is investigated in Chapter 5 and future studies on the mechanisms regulating raft association will be discussed in Chapter 7.



Figure 1. Structure of the epidermis. The skin is divided into two major regions, the epidermis and the underlying dermis, which are separated by a basement membrane. The epidermis is mainly comprised of keratinocytes that are organized into four distinct layers: the basal layer, the spinous layer, the granular layer and the stratum corneum. The epidermis is replenished by basal cells that proliferate and migrate toward the outer layers while undergoing terminal differentiation. Desmosomes (red oval pairs) provide strong adhesion to the epidermis by mechanically anchoring neighboring cells to one another. Both desmosome size and number increase as the cells age and transit through the granular layer.



Figure 2. Desmosome ultrastructure and organization. A) Electron micrograph of a desmosome in cultured human keratinocytes. Scale bar, $0.5 \mu m$. Image by Dana K. Tucker. **B**) Desmosome schematic. The extracellular core region (ECR) comprises the extracellular space between two cells that are engaged in cell adhesion mediated by the extracellular domains of the desmosomal cadherins, desmoglein and desmocollin. The cytoplasmic tails of the cadherins are linked to plaque proteins plakoglobin and plakophilin of the armadillo protein family, along with the amino-terminus of plakin family member desmoplakin within the outer dense plaque (ODP). The carboxyl-terminus of desmoplakin binds to keratin filaments within the inner dense plaque (IDP).

A - Desmosomal cadherins



Figure 3. Domain organization of desmosomal proteins. A) Desmosomal cadherin domain structure. The desmogleins (1-4) and desmocollins (1-3) contain four extracellular cadherin (EC) repeat domains followed by extracellular anchor (EA), transmembrane (TM) and intracellular anchor (IA) domains. Following the IA, the desmogleins contain an intracellular cadherin-like sequence (ICS) domain which binds plakoglobin, as well as, an extended tail comprised of an intracellular proline-rich linker (IPL), variable repeat unit domains (RUD) and a desmoglein terminal domain (DTD). Desmocollins are alternatively spliced into an 'a' isoform containing an ICS domain and

a shorter 'b' isoform. **B**) Domain structure of armadillo family proteins. Plakoglobin (PG) contains 12 central *arm*-repeat domains (similar to β-catenin), while the plakophilins (PKP) (1-3) contain nine *arm*-repeats with an insert between repeats 5 and 6, introducing a bend in the overall structure. Both PG and PKP contain amino-terminal head and carboxyl-terminal tail domains that flank the central repeat domains. **C**) Desmoplakin domain structure. Desmoplakin (DP) consists of an amino-terminal globular plakin domain (head), a coiled-coil dimerization domain (rod) and a carboxyl-terminal tail that contains plakin repeats A-C and a glycine-serine-arginine (GSR) rich region. DP is alternatively spiced into a longer DPI isoform and a shorter DPII isoform.


Figure 4. Expression profile of desmosomal proteins in the epidermis. Dsg3, Dsg2, Dsc3 and Dsc2 are primarily expressed in the lower epidermal layers, while Dsg4, Dsc1 and Dsg1 are highly expressed in the upper layers of the epidermis. PKP1 is primarily expressed in the upper layers, PKP2 is found primarily in the lower layers and PKP3 is expressed throughout the epidermis. DP and PG are expressed in all epidermal layers. Dsg, desmoglein; Dsc, desmocollin; PKP, plakophilin, DP, desmoplakin; PG, plakoglobin.



Figure 5. Membrane rafts and their biochemical isolation. A) Depiction of a membrane raft microdomain. The raft domain is enriched in sphingolipids and cholesterol, resulting in a more ordered and slightly thicker lipid bilayer relative to the surrounding plasma membrane. Proteins that associate with rafts typically have a longer transmembrane (TM) domain than non-raft proteins and/or are lipid modified to facilitate raft targeting (not shown). **B)** Schematic for isolating detergent resistant membranes (raft fractionation). Cell lysates are extracted in Triton X-100 at 4°C and mixed with 56% sucrose for a final concentration of 40%. Volumes of 35% and 5% sucrose are then layered on top of the sample. The sample is spun at high speed until equilibrium. During centrifugation, rafts 'float' along with any associated proteins. Fractions are sequentially removed from the gradient and protein composition is assayed via western blot.

Chapter 3

Compromised desmosomal adhesion in disease

Section 3.2 & 3.3 adapted from:

Stahley S.N. and Kowalczyk A.P. "Desmosomes in acquired disease". Cell and Tissue Research. 2015. DOI: 10.1007/s00441-015-2155-2. *In press*.

The importance of desmosome function is evidenced by the numerous human diseases that result when desmosomal adhesion is compromised. Affecting nearly every tissue where desmosomal proteins are expressed, these disorders include inherited, autoimmune and infectious diseases (Table 1), as well as cancer (Table 3). The focus of this chapter will be on acquired desmosomal disorders, as the acquired disease pemphigus vulgaris is central to this dissertation.

3.1 Inherited disorders of the desmosome

Mutations in multiple genes encoding desmosomal proteins result in a variety of skin and heart disorders that typically present with either skin fragility and/or cardiomyopathy (Table 1). The first human desmosomal mutations were discovered in the gene encoding for the armadillo protein plakophilin 1 (PKP1) and result in the autosomal recessive disorder ectodermal dysplasia-skin fragility syndrome (McGrath et al., 1997). Mutations within the amino-terminus and multiple arm domains of PKP1 have since been found to cause the disorder which is characterized by a combination of skin fragility (erosions and blistering, keratoderma) and abnormalities in ectodermal development (nail dystrophy, growth delay) (McGrath and Mellerio, 2010). Another disorder that presents with epidermal thickening of the palms and soles, striate palmoplantar keratoderma, results from mutations in DSG1, DSC2 or DP (Amagai and Stanley, 2012). Mutations in DSC2 and DP also can result in woolly hair, a syndrome characterized by frizzy and wiry hair on the scalp, giving it a wool-like appearance. Hypotrichosis, a condition of abnormal hair patterns (sparse, fragile, hair-follicle defects) is caused by mutations in DSG4 or DSC3 (Kljuic et al., 2003). Frameshift mutations in

DP lead to lethal acantholytic epidermolysis bullosa, a devastating and fatal condition that presents with rapidly progressive and generalized epidermal blistering upon birth (McGrath *et al.*, 2010). Naxos disease and the Ecuadorian variant Carvajal syndrome are caused by carboxyl-terminal mutations in either DP or PG and are characterized by a combination of woolly hair, palmoplantar keratoderma and arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy (ARVC) (Carvajal-Huerta, 1998; Protonotarios and Tsatsopoulou, 2004). In ARVC, arrhythmias originate in the right ventricle and the muscle wall thins, leading to sudden cardiac arrest. Mutations in desmosomal genes accounts for 50-70% of ARVC cases, with PKP2 being the most commonly mutated desmosomal gene in ARVC (Brooke *et al.*, 2012). Mutations in DSG2, DSC2, PG and amino- or carboxy-terminal mutations in DP have also been reported in ARVC (Brooke *et al.*, 2012). Another form of cardiomyopathy, dilated cardiomyopathy (DC), can be caused by mutations in DSG2, DSC2 and DP and is characterized by an enlargement and weakening of the left ventricle, leading to impaired cardiac function (Towbin, 2014).

3.2 Desmosomes in acquired disease

Acquired desmosomal diseases fall into two main categories, epidermal autoimmune disorders and infections (Table 1). The roles of desmosomal genes in tumor biology will also be discussed in this section.

3.2.1 Pemphigus

Pemphigus, stemming from the Greek word *pemphix*, meaning blister, is a family of diseases characterized by circulating autoantibodies that target desmosomal proteins

and compromise cell-cell adhesion (Amagai, 2009, 2010; Kneisel and Hertl, 2011a). These relatively rare autoimmune diseases (1-16 new cases per million people per year) (Kneisel and Hertl, 2011a, b; Ruocco *et al.*, 2013) present clinically with mucosal erosions and/or epidermal blisters. The mean age of onset is 50-60 years old, although a younger age of onset is observed for endemic variants of pemphigus (Joly and Litrowski, 2011; Rocha-Alvarez et al., 2007). Unlike other bullous diseases that require complement fixation and inflammatory cascades (Gammon et al., 1980), pemphigus autoantibodies directed against the extracellular domains of desmosomal cadherins are necessary and sufficient to cause the loss of keratinocyte adhesion, a process termed acantholysis (Amagai, 2010). This assertion has been demonstrated definitively by three decades of research, in particular through an elegant series of passive transfer experiments using antibodies (IgG) purified from patients (Table 2). As discussed below, several subtypes of pemphigus are defined by the desmosomal proteins targeted and by the tissues affected. We refer readers to a pair of reviews by Kneisel and Hertl that provide excellent clinical descriptions and key diagnostic indicators for this family of diseases (Kneisel and Hertl, 2011a, b).

Pemphigus vulgaris. Pemphigus vulgaris (PV) is the most common form of pemphigus, accounting for about 70% of cases. Most cases are sporadic, with a few rare familial cases, as well as a higher incidence rate in Ashkenazi Jewish and Japanese populations (Joly and Litrowski, 2011; Rocha-Alvarez *et al.*, 2007). PV affects both men and women, and age of onset is typically between 40-60 years, although a few cases have been observed in children (Ariyawardana *et al.*, 2005; Kneisel and Hertl, 2011a). Treatment

with immunosuppressive agents decreases the otherwise high mortality rate of PV patients to 5-10%. PV is characterized clinically by painful mucosal lesions and histologically by an intraepidermal cleavage between the basal and spinous layers of the epidermis (Amagai, 2010). In the mucosal dominant form of PV, autoantibodies directed against Dsg3 result in blistering restricted to the oral mucosal, where Dsg3 is the predominant Dsg expressed. In these patients, the skin is uninvolved because Dsg1 is expressed sufficiently in the lower layers of the epidermis to compensate for the loss of Dsg3 function. When both Dsg1 and Dsg3 are targeted by autoantibodies, Dsg1 can no longer compensate in the basal layers of the epidermis and the patients develop skin blisters in addition to oral erosions (mucocutaneous form) (Amagai, 2010; Mahoney et al., 1999a; Mahoney et al., 1999b; Sharma et al., 2007). Dscs can be the primary targets in PV (Dmochowski et al., 1993; Hashimoto et al., 1995b; Mao et al., 2010; Rafei et al., 2011), although these cases are less common. Importantly, targeting of the extracellular domain of the desmosomal cadherins compromises adhesion and causes tissue fragility. The pathomechanisms by which these autoantibodies cause loss of adhesion are discussed in detail in Chapter 4.

Pemphigus foliaceus. Pemphigus foliaceus (PF) is characterized by superficial epidermal blisters without mucosal involvement. Intraepidermal blistering in PF results from autoantibodies directed against Dsg1, and thus blistering is restricted to the outer (granular) layer of the epidermis where Dsg1 is expressed. Most cases of PF are sporadic and account for 20-30% of pemphigus cases. However, endemic forms of PF (also known as fogo selvagem) occur in regions of Brazil, Columbia and Tunisa (Aoki *et al.*, 2011;

Joly and Litrowski, 2011). Brazilian endemic pemphigus foliaceus patients in particular also generate autoantibodies to Dsc1 and Dsc2 (Dmochowski *et al.*, 1993). Relative to PV, those diagnosed with PF typically have a better prognosis as the lesions are more superficial and do not involve mucous membranes. Importantly, autoantibodies directed against the extracellular domain of Dsg1 cause PF (Amagai *et al.*, 1995). Thus, PV and PF represent well characterized autoimmune disorders in which autoantibodies disrupt target antigen function (adhesion) and thereby cause disease.

Paraneoplastic pemphigus. First described in 1990 by Anhalt and colleagues (Anhalt et al., 1990), paraneoplastic pemphigus (PNP) is a rare variant of pemphigus that typically presents in patients diagnosed with lymphoproliferative disorders, primarily malignancies such as non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (Allen and Camisa, 2000; Yong and Tey, 2013). Age of onset is 45-70 years old, but children and adolescents can be afflicted. While less common than PV or PF, it is the most severe disease within the pemphigus family. PNP is characterized by refractory inflammation of the mouth and lips (Amagai, 2010) and extremely painful oral lesions, followed by the development of cutaneous lesions that can affect any body area. This includes the palms and/or soles, a feature that is unusual in other forms of pemphigus (Allen and Camisa, 2000). Conjunctival involvement is more common in PNP than with the other pemphigus variants. Also differing from the other forms of pemphigus, simple squamous epithelia can be involved, with 30-40% of patients developing pulmonary symptoms (Amagai, 2010). A recent study utilizing the PNP model mouse suggests that the fatal pulmonary symptoms in patients are most likely due to ectopic expression of Dsg3 and other

epidermal antigens (Hata *et al.*, 2013). Autoantibodies in PNP are directed against multiple desmosomal proteins, including Dsgs, Dscs, desmoplakin and plakophilins (Futei *et al.*, 2003; Gallo *et al.*, 2014; Hashimoto *et al.*, 1995a; Lambert *et al.*, 2010; Seishima *et al.*, 2004). Similar to other forms of pemphigus, blistering in this disease can be attributed to autoantibodies directed against Dsgs (Amagai *et al.*, 1998; Nishifuji *et al.*, 2007; Saleh *et al.*, 2012), particularly the Dsg3 EC2-3 domains (Saleh *et al.*, 2012). However, autoantibodies directed against the plakin family including envoplakin and periplakin are useful diagnostic markers that help to distinguish PNP from other forms of pemphigus (Amagai, 1999; Amagai *et al.*, 1998; Mahoney *et al.*, 1998; Poot *et al.*, 2013; Probst *et al.*, 2009). Importantly, histopathological studies have revealed keratinocyte necrosis with the presence of inflammatory cells into the epidermis, supporting the notion that cell-mediated immunity is an important component of PNP (Yong and Tey, 2013). PNP patient prognosis is poor as these individuals often develop sepsis and organ failure, contributing factors in mortality rates approaching 90% (Yong and Tey, 2013).

IgA pemphigus. IgA pemphigus is characterized by circulating IgA autoantibodies that target both desmosomal and non-desmosomal components of the keratinocyte cell surface. Histologically, acantholysis and extensive neutrophilic infiltration are observed within the upper layers or all layers of the epidermis (Tsuruta *et al.*, 2011). Two subtypes of IgA pemphigus have been characterized. In subcorneal pustular dermatosis, Dsc1 is the target antigen. In contrast, Dsgs 1 and 3 are targets in the intraepidermal neutrophilic dermatosis subtypes (Kneisel and Hertl, 2011b). Only about 60 cases have been reported

and the disease is considered to be less life-threatening than the other variants of pemphigus.

3.2.2 Bullous impetigo / Staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome

Bullous impetigo is an infectious skin disease caused by the release of exfoliative toxin (ET) by Staphylococcus aureus. ET is a serine protease that cleaves the extracellular domain of Dsg1 with high specificity. The protease does not cleave Dsg3 or related cadherin family members such as E cadherin, and does not appear to have any other substrates (Amagai et al., 2000). There are three types of ETs produced (ETA, ETB, and ETD), all specifically targeting Dsg1, with ETA being the most common. The result of Dsg1 cleavage by these ETs is an intraepidermal cleavage in the uppermost layers of the epidermis, strikingly similar to the granular layer blister caused by IgG targeting Dsg1 in PF. Primarily affecting children, bullous impetigo is very common and highly contagious. Another infectious skin disease, Staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome (SSSS), also known as Ritter disease, was first described in 1878 by Baron Gottfried Ritter von Rittershain and was soon acknowledged to be a more generalized and severe form of bullous impetigo (Mockenhaupt et al., 2005). SSSS commonly affects children under age 6, particularly neonates (Amagai, 2010). Adults with chronic renal insufficiency or immunosuppression are occasionally affected. In contrast to bullous impetigo, in which blisters form locally at the site of infection, SSSS presents with blisters at sites distant from the infection due to systemic circulation of the ET. Typically, both bullous impetigo and SSSS are effectively treated by topical or oral antibiotics to eliminate the underlying infection (Bernard, 2008; Hartman-Adams et al., 2014).

Additional treatment of pain as well as anti-septic measures are undertaken when treating SSSS. While mortality in neonates and children remains low, management of SSSS in adults often presents a challenge with a mortality rate over 60% (Patel, 2004).

3.2.3 Cancer

Recent work in cancer biology has revealed striking alterations in desmosomal protein expression patterns in various epithelial derived tumors. The majority of cancer cases are acquired, with only 5-10 percent of cancer cases being inherited (Anand et al., 2008). In order to become migratory and metastatic, cells must loosen, rearrange and dissociate their junctions, a process known as epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Birchmeier et al., 1996). Anchoring junctions are often down-regulated during tumorigenesis (Birchmeier et al., 1996; Birchmeier et al., 1995; Defamie et al., 2014). In fact, nearly all desmosomal components have been shown to be mis-regulated in various forms of cancer (Table 3). Nearly 90% of acantholytic squamous cell carcinomas display a reduction in at least one desmosomal protein, as assessed by immunofluorescence of tumor sections (O'Shea et al., 2014). Dsg2 expression is reduced in familial and gastric cancer (Biedermann et al., 2005; Yashiro et al., 2006), while Dsc2 (Hamidov et al., 2011) and Dsc3 (Oshiro et al., 2005) are reduced in pancreatic and breast cancers. The loss of Dsc3 is also a contributing factor in skin tumor development and progression in a mouse model (Chen et al., 2013). Oropharyngeal tumors have been shown to exhibit reduced expression of desmoplakin (Papagerakis et al., 2009), while plakophilin 1 is down-regulated in prostatic adenocarcinoma (Breuninger et al., 2010) and squamous cell carcinoma (Sobolik-Delmaire *et al.*, 2007); and plakophilins 2 and 3 are reduced in

gastric cancer (Demirag *et al.*, 2011). Finally, loss of the recently identified desmosomal protein Perp, a p53/p63 target gene, promotes carcinogenesis in both mouse and cell culture model systems (Beaudry *et al.*, 2010; Dusek *et al.*, 2012; Kong *et al.*, 2013). There are examples in which up-regulation occurs as well. Dsg2 overexpression has been documented in squamous cell carcinoma (Brennan and Mahoney, 2009; Kurzen *et al.*, 2003), melanoma (Schmitt *et al.*, 2007) and prostate cancer (Trojan *et al.*, 2005), while Dsg3 overexpression occurs in head and neck cancer (Chen *et al.*, 2007). Further, plakophilin 3 has been shown to be up regulated in prostatic adenocarcinoma (Breuninger *et al.*, 2010) and lung (Furukawa *et al.*, 2005) and breast cancer (Demirag *et al.*, 2012).

Mechanistic details are beginning to emerge regarding how desmosomal protein levels are altered in cancer. For example, the transcription factor Slug has been associated with reduced expression of Dsg3, Dsc2 and plakophilin 1 in oral squamous cell carcinomas (Katafiasz *et al.*, 2011). Slug has also been implicated in FGF-1-induced alterations in border localization of Dsg1/2 and desmoplakin in NBT-II bladder carcinoma cells (Savagner *et al.*, 1997; Thiery and Chopin, 1999). DNA methylation also plays a role in the reduced expression of Dsc1, Dsc2, Dsc3 and desmoplakin in lung cancer (Cui *et al.*, 2012a; Cui *et al.*, 2012b). Furthermore, the protease kallikrein has been linked to the reduced expression of Dsg1 and Dsg2 in pancreatic adenocarcinoma (Ramani *et al.*, 2008). Finally, EGFR signaling in cooperation with metalloproteasemediated ectodomain shedding, regulates Dsg2 endocytosis in the highly invasive SCC68 cell line (Klessner *et al.*, 2009). Overall, the majority of data suggest that desmosomes play tumor-suppressive roles similar to E-cadherin. However, these studies have only begun to uncover the influence of the desmosome in cancer and future studies are needed in order to understand how desmosomal components might be used as either prognostic markers or as targets for therapy.

Interestingly, some of the therapies derived from studying and treating pemphigus may be translatable to other disorders of desmosome disruption, including cancer. An intriguing example of this possibility is genistein, a soy isoflavone and tyrosine kinase inhibitor that prevents loss of desmosome adhesion in various models of pemphigus vulgaris (Delva et al., 2008; Marquina et al., 2008; Saito et al., 2012a). Genistein has also shown promise in cancer prevention and treatment, as it reverses promoter hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes (Mahmoud *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, several desmosomal genes have recently been linked to tumor suppressive activity (Chun and Hanahan, 2010; Dusek and Attardi, 2011), with the onset of cancer progression through methylation of desmosomal genes (Cui et al., 2012a; Cui et al., 2012b). Genistein has been shown to have anti-cancer effects through the inhibition of tyrosine kinases and the modulation of related cellular pathways (Mahmoud *et al.*, 2014; Nagaraju et al., 2013). It is interesting to speculate that perhaps one of the many ways in which genistein acts to impede cancer progression is by affecting desmosomal adhesion through pathways similar to its protective effects in pemphigus models.

3.2.4 Other desmosomal diseases

In addition to Dsg1 being a target in bullous impetigo, desmosomal components are now known to be targeted in a variety of infectious conditions. Dsg2 is a receptor for adenovirus serotypes (Ad) 3, 7, 11 and 14 that cause respiratory and urinary tract infections (Amagai and Stanley, 2012). Interaction between Dsg2 and Ad3 triggers EMT- like events that result in the opening of intercellular junctions (Wang *et al.*, 2011). Dsc 2/3 is targeted by *Giardia duodenalis*, a parasitic protozoan that disrupts the arrangement of tight, adherens and desmosomal junctions of intestinal cells (Maia-Brigagao *et al.*, 2012). Impaired desmosome formation and a reduction in the epithelial barrier is the result of desmoplakin and plakoglobin down-regulation by *Bacillus anthracis* lethal toxin in alveolar epithelial cells (Langer *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, infection by the enterovirus coxsackievirus B3 (CVB3) leads to cardiac failure by inducing miR-21 expression, which targets the deubiquitinating enzyme YOD1. This change leads to enhanced K48-linked ubiquitination and degradation of desmin, a critical intermediate filament that provides anchorage to the intercalated disc, which ultimately results in desmosome disruption (Ye *et al.*, 2014). Lastly, ultrastructural analysis has revealed smaller desmosomes in *Candida* infections of the oral mucosa, although the specific targets remain unknown (Nagai *et al.*, 1992).

A variety of other acquired conditions in which desmosomal components are targeted have also been described. Dsgs 1 and 3, the primary targets in pemphigus vulgaris, are also targets in pemphigus erythematosus, a condition with pathology that overlaps clinically and serologically with pemphigus foliaceus and lupus erythematosus (Oktarina *et al.*, 2012; Perez-Perez *et al.*, 2012). In this autoimmune disease, IgG deposition is mainly found in the granular layer of the epidermis, suggesting that Dsg1 is the primary pathogenic autoantigen (Amerian and Ahmed, 1985). Thus, the condition has recently been classified as a variant of pemphigus foliaceus (Steffen and Thomas, 2003). Additionally, antinuclear antibodies are also present in most patients with pemphigus erythematosus (Kneisel and Hertl, 2011a; Perez-Perez *et al.*, 2012; Steffen and Thomas,

2003). In patients with Grover's disease, an itchy acantholytic dermatosis, staining for Dsg1 and/or Dsg3 was shown to be decreased.. Though patients are positive for IgA or IgG autoantibodies, it remains unclear whether the autoantibodies cause the disease (Phillips et al., 2013). Autoantibodies against Dsc3 have been implicated in acquired palmoplantar keratoderma (Bolling et al., 2007), and autoantibodies against desmosomal components have also been reported in erythema multiforme (Foedinger *et al.*, 1995; Foedinger *et al.*, 1998; Foedinger *et al.*, 1996), a hypersensitivity reaction that is associated with infections or medications. The precise pathomechanism of this disease, and the related disorder Stevens-Johnson syndrome, are not known, but the presence of autoantibodies against desmoplakin is considered characteristic of these diseases. Lastly, reduced numbers of desmosomes have been reported in papular acantholytic dyskeratosis (de Almeida Junior *et al.*, 2001). Thus, a rather extensive number of epidermal disorders involve alterations in desmosome morphology and function, although additional research in this area is needed to clarify precisely how these changes might relate to clinical presentation of these disorders.

3.3 Future directions

The study of inherited and acquired diseases has revealed significant insight into both the critical role desmosomes play in epithelial biology and the fundamental cellular mechanisms that regulate desmosomal adhesion. Still, many pieces of the puzzle are missing. Little is known about what controls the tissue-specific and differentiationdependent expression of the desmosomal genes. Furthermore, identification of the downstream targets of desmosomal cadherin signaling is needed to shed light on the precise roles these cadherins play in tissue patterning and development. Though poorly understood, it is clear there is cross-talk between desmosomes and other junctions, including adherens and gap junctions. A better understanding of junctional communication during both normal tissue homeostasis and disease conditions will reveal how the dynamics of one junction affect the other. These insights will yield a deeper understanding of the basic cell biology of cell-cell contact and reveal new targets for disease treatments.

Desmosomes exhibit a high level of structural organization, as well as remarkable spatial and temporal control during assembly and disassembly. A combination of structural analyses including X-ray crystallography, NMR spectroscopy and cyroelectron tomography have all provided significant insight into the structure of desmosome components and their protein interactions (Al-Amoudi and Frangakis, 2008; Al-Jassar *et al.*, 2013; He *et al.*, 2003; Owen *et al.*, 2008; Stokes, 2007). While these techniques are generating an appreciation for the network of protein interactions within the desmosome, the entire macromolecular structure has yet to be visualized at high resolution. Even at low resolution, the entire desmosome has yet to be comprehensively analyzed in diseased states. Future studies using proteomics, advanced optical imaging, and atomic level structural approaches are needed to understand how desmosomes are organized, and how assembly and disassembly pathways regulate this critically important cell adhesion structure.

 Table 1: Desmosomal targets in disease

Protein	Tissue Distribution	Disease Type			
		Autoimmune	Infection	Inherited	
Dsg1	stratified epithelia	pemphigus foliaceus	SSSS	striate PPK	
		mc pemphigus vulgaris	bullous impetigo		
		paraneoplastic pemphigus			
		pemphigus erythematosus			
Dsg2	simple and stratified epithelia,	none known	ad 3,7,11 & 14	ARVC	
	myocardium		respiratory	DC	
			uninary tract		
Dsg3	stratified epithelia	md pemphigus vulgaris	none known	none known	
		mc pemphigus vulgaris			
		paraneoplastic pemphigus			
		pemphigus erythematosus			
		IgA pemphigus			
Dsg4	Outermost epithelia, hair follicle	mc pemphigus vulgaris	none known	hypotrichosis	
	epithelia				
Dsc1	stratified epithelia, hair follicle epithelia	IgA pemphigus	none known	none known	
		pemphigus vulgaris			
Dsc2	simple and stratified epithelia,	pemphigus vulgaris	giardiasis	striate PPK	
	myocardium	paraneoplastic pemphigus		wolly hair	
				ARVC	
Dsc3	stratified epithelia	pemphigus vulgaris	giardiasis	hypotrichosis	
		paraneoplastic pemphigus			
Desmoplakin	all desmosome-bearing epithelia	paraneoplastic pemphigus	BA-LT	striate PPk	
		erythema multiform		woolly hair	
		Stevens-Johnson syndrome		LAEB	
				Carvajal syndrome	
				Naxos disease	
				ARVC	
				DC	
Plakoglobin	all desmosome-bearing epithelia	mc pemphigus vulgaris	BA-LT	Naxos disease	
_		paraneoplastic pemphigus		ARVC	
Plakophilins	stratified epithelia	paraneoplastic pemphigus	none known	EDSF (PKP1)	
1-3		(PKP3)		ARVC (PKP2)	
Envoplakin	stratified epithelia, myocardium	paraneoplastic pemphigus	none known	none known	
Periplakin	stratified epithelia, myocardium	paraneoplastic pemphigus	none known	none known	

Abbreviations: mc, mucocutaneous; md, mucosal dominant; SSSS, staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome; ad, adenovirus serotypes; BA-LT, Bacillus anthracis lethal toxin; PPK, palmoplantar keratoderma; ARVC, arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy; DC, dilated cardiomyopathy; LAEB, lethal acantholytic epidermolysis bullosa; EDSF, ectodermal dysplasia-skin fragility

 Table 2: Anti-Dsg autoantibodies cause acantholysis in pemphigus

Finding	Reference
Patient autoantibody titer correlates with disease activity	(Sams and Jordon, 1971)
Purified patient autoantibodies cause blisters in human skin organ culture	(Schiltz and Michel, 1976)
Passive transfer of patient IgG induces blister formation in neonatal mice	(Anhalt et al., 1982)
IgG4 subclass of autoantibodies are pathogenic	(Rock et al., 1989)
PV IgG purified with Dsg EC domains causes suprabasal acantholysis in mice	(Amagai et al., 1992)
PV sera that is immunoabsorbed with EC domain of Dsg3 is no longer pathogenic	(Amagai et al., 1994)
PF sera that is immunoabsorbed with EC domain of Dsg1 is no longer pathogenic	(Amagai et al., 1995)

Protein	Cancer Type	↑↓ Regulated	Mechanism	References
Dsg1	SCC	down		(Harada <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Myklebust <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Ramani <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Wong <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
	pancreatic AC	down	protease kallikrein	(Ramani et al., 2008)
Dsg2	familial & gastric	down		(Biedermann <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Yashiro <i>et al.</i> , 2006)
	pancreatic AC	down	protease kallikrein	(Raman <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
	prostate, SCC	up		Kurzen <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Schmitt <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Trojan <i>et al.</i> , 2005)
Dsg3	SCC	down		(Harada <i>et al.</i> , 1996)
	oral SCC	down	Slug expression	(Katafiasz et al., 2011)
	head & neck	up		(Chen <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Chen <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Dsg4	none know	N/A	N/A	N/A
Dsc1	anal SCC	down		(Myklebust <i>et al.</i> , 2012)
	lung	down	DNA methylation	(Cui <i>et al.</i> , 2012b)
Dsc2	pancreatic ductal AC	down		(Hamidov <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
	oral SCC	down	Slug expression	(Katafiasz et al., 2011)
	lung	down	DNA methylation	(Cui <i>et al.</i> , 2012b)
Dsc3	lung	down	DNA methylation	(Cui <i>et al.</i> , 2012a; Cui <i>et al.</i> , 2012b)
Desmoplakin	lung	down	DNA methylation	(Yang <i>et al.</i> , 2012)
	SCC	abnormal		(Harada <i>et al.</i> , 1996)
Plakoglobin	oral SCC, prostate	down		(Franzen <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Katafiasz <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
	SCC	abnormal		(Harada <i>et al.</i> , 1996)
Plakophilin 1	prostate AC	down		(Breuninger et al., 2010)
	oral SCC	down	Slug expression	(Katafiasz <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
Plakophilin 2	gastric	down		(Demirag <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
Plakophilin 3	colorectal carcinoma	down		(Khapare <i>et al.</i> , 2012)
	lung, prostate AC, breast	up		(Breuninger <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Demirag <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Furukawa <i>et al.</i> , 2005)
Perp	SCC, mammary	down		(Beaudry <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Dusek <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Kong <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Periplakin	esophageal SCC	down	DNA methylation	(Otsubo <i>et al.</i> , 2015)

Table 3:	Desmosomal	targets in cancer
----------	------------	-------------------

Abbreviations: SCC - squamous cell carcinoma, AC - adenocarcinoma

Chapter 4

Pathomechanisms of pemphigus: altered desmosome dynamics

This chapter is adapted from:

Stahley S.N. and Kowalczyk A.P. "Desmosomes in acquired disease". Cell and Tissue Research. 2015. DOI: 10.1007/s00441-015-2155-2. *In press*.

While it is well-established that blistering is caused by autoantibodies directed against Dsgs (Section 3.2.1; Table 2), the precise pathomechanisms of the disease are not fully understood. Two general hypotheses for explaining pemphigus pathomechanisms have been considered (Getsios et al., 2010; Stanley and Amagai, 2006). First, the direct inhibition of Dsg adhesive interactions may result from autoantibodies sterically interfering with adhesion. Second, cellular responses such as Dsg3 endocytosis, decreased desmosome assembly and/or increased disassembly, activation of various cell signaling pathways, and keratinocyte apoptosis have been suggested to be pathogenic. It should be noted that these mechanisms are not necessarily mutually exclusive. This chapter discusses pemphigus pathomechanisms in detail and highlights how the study of pemphigus vulgaris in particular is revealing fundamental aspects of desmosome biology and desmosome dynamics. It is likely that some of the pathways targeted in pemphigus contribute to desmosome homeostasis mechanisms that are altered in other diseases. Thus, therapies developed to treat PV may also prove useful in other diseases characterized by altered desmosome function.

4.1 Steric hindrance

Dsgs, like other cadherins, are thought to engage in extracellular domain interactions that bridge two cells and mediate cell-cell adhesion. It has been hypothesized that pemphigus autoantibodies cause a loss of adhesion by physically interfering with Dsg adhesive function. In fact, once a cadherin-type molecule was discovered as the target, it was suggested that patient IgG directly disrupt adhesive interactions (Amagai *et al.*, 1991). There is now substantial evidence that pemphigus autoantibodies disrupt desmosomal adhesion by directly interfering with Dsg cis (same cell)- and trans (opposing cells)-interactions. Many of the blister-inducing autoantibodies found in patient sera recognize the amino-terminal Dsg domains that are thought to be responsible for engaging in these adhesive interactions. For example, PV patient IgG that was affinity purified using the first two cadherin repeats (EC1,EC2) of the Dsg3 extracellular domain induced intraepidermal blisters when injected into mice (Amagai et al., 1992) or human skin cultures (Bhol et al., 1995). Competition ELISA experiments revealed that nearly 70% of PF sera and nearly 80% of PV sera bound to the N-terminal 161 residues of Dsg1 and Dsg3, respectively. The authors further mapped the binding site of pathogenic IgG, defined as autoantibodies that were sufficient to induce acantholysis, to the putative adhesive interface based on structural models of classical cadherins (Sekiguchi et al., 2001). Additional epitope mapping studies have confirmed that regions within the EC1 and EC2 domains of Dsgs contain the dominant epitopes recognized by pathogenic autoantibodies from both PF (Chan et al., 2010) and PV (Ohyama et al., 2012). Recently, the putative cis binding interface of Dsg3 was found to represent a dominant epitope recognized by pathogenic autoantibodies in patients (Di Zenzo et al., 2012). Thus, pemphigus autoantibodies often target the Dsg3 domains that are believed to be most critical for extracellular adhesion, supporting the notion that steric hindrance mechanisms are a significant factor in the disruption of desmosomal adhesion in pemphigus patients.

Additional evidence supporting the idea that direct inhibition of adhesion contributes to PV pathogenesis comes from the isolation of single chain (scFv) monoclonal IgG cloned from pemphigus patients, and from monoclonal IgG isolated from an active pemphigus vulgaris mouse model (eg. AK19, AK23). In both instances, these highly characterized monoclonal reagents were found to target the Dsg3 EC1 domain and to be pathogenic in mouse models of disease (Payne *et al.*, 2005; Tsunoda *et al.*, 2003). These studies strongly suggest that pemphigus autoantibodies directly inhibit Dsg adhesive interactions. Indeed, both PV IgG and the mouse monoclonal AK23 IgG directly disrupted Dsg3-Dsg3 trans-interactions as assessed using atomic force microscopy (Heupel *et al.*, 2008), suggesting that at least some portion of IgG in patients acts by steric hindrance. It remains unknown if antibodies interfere with heterophilic adhesive interactions between Dsgs and Dscs. Further studies with atomic level resolution are needed to define the precise mechanism of desmosomal cadherin adhesion, and how PV IgG might disrupt adhesive interactions at the molecular level.

4.2 Beyond steric hindrance

As discussed above, steric hindrance of Dsg adhesion is an important factor in pemphigus pathophysiology. Additional mechanisms that likely contribute to pemphigus pathogenesis are discussed below.

4.2.1 IgG targeting the Dsg EC3-5 domains play a role in acantholysis

As discussed above, PV patient IgG directed against the N-terminal domains of Dsg3 are sufficient to cause loss of adhesion in various models of disease. However, adsorption of PV IgG to remove anti-EC1 domain IgG only partially abolished blister formation, indicating that autoantibodies against membrane proximal Dsg3 domains may also contribute to pathogenesis (Amagai *et al.*, 1992). Subsequent studies demonstrated that adsorption of patient sera against the entire EC domain of Dsg3 (PV sera) or Dsg1

(PF sera) was required to completely abolish pemphigus IgG activity (Amagai *et al.*, 1995; Amagai *et al.*, 1994; Langenhan *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, nearly 20 percent of patient auto-antibodies bind to regions of the Dsg3 extracellular domain other than the adhesive EC1 and EC2 domains (Sekiguchi *et al.*, 2001). Finally, a rare subset of pemphigus patients with active disease lack autoantibodies that target either EC1 and/or EC2 domains (Saito *et al.*, 2012a; Sekiguchi *et al.*, 2001). Collectively, these data indicate that PV IgG directed against the putative adhesive interfaces of the Dsgs are not required for disruption of desmosome function and blistering in patients. Thus, other considerations are required to understand how these antibodies compromise adhesion.

4.2.2 PV IgG cause alterations in the desmosomal plaque

A recent study using post-embedding immunogold-EM directly compared the Dsg3 -/- mouse to the active PV mouse model (Saito *et al.*, 2009). The PV clinical hallmark of suprabasal acantholysis was also observed in the Dsg3 -/- mouse, along with split desmosomes containing an intact desmosomal plaque (Koch *et al.*, 1997). These observations confirm the importance of Dsg3 in epidermal adhesion and are consistent with the idea that PV autoantibodies disrupt adhesion by directly interfering with adhesive function of Dsg3 (Koch *et al.*, 1997). However, in the PV mouse model, a distinct and measurable shift in the positioning of desmoplakin within the desmosomal plaque was observed. This is an interesting observation because simple disruption of Dsg3 trans-interactions would be predicted to cause desmosome splitting at the adhesive interface, but not necessarily alterations in desmosome organization. The authors speculated that the large shift in desmoplakin localization might be the result of a

signaling event or be mechanistically related to the keratin retraction that has been observed in cell culture models of PV (Bektas *et al.*, 2013; Calkins *et al.*, 2006; Tucker *et al.*, 2014). This study highlights that IgG-induced blistering is morphologically, and thus mechanistically, distinct from a simple Dsg3 loss of function.

4.2.3 IgG-induced Dsg3 clustering

Altered organization of Dsg3 is emerging as a hallmark feature of pemphigus pathogenesis (Ko and McNiff, 2014) and has been observed in pemphigus epidermis for many years (Iwatsuki et al., 1999). An analysis of pemphigus patient biopsies revealed that Dsg1, Dsg3 and plakoglobin are misorganized into a clustered pattern in PV patient epidermis compared to control biopsies (Oktarina et al., 2011). The authors further demonstrate that bivalent IgG was able to induce clustering, but that Fab fragments were not. Wier et al. also reported a clustered IgG and Dsg1 and/or 3 in PF and PV skin. Furthermore, desmosome size was reduced in PV patients with skin involvement and with autoantibodies against both Dsg1 and Dsg3 (van der Wier et al., 2014). The authors concluded that Dsg clustering was a marker for the cadherin that was being targeted, but that clustering was unlikely to be part of a pathogenic mechanism. This conclusion was based on the observation that Dsg3 clustering was observed in clinically unaffected epidermis, where desmosome size was also normal. However, desmosomes would not be functionally compromised in uninvolved skin, such as in a mucosal dominant PV patient lacking autoantibodies against Dsg1. While mucosal dominant PV patients have IgG to Dsg3, and therefore Dsg3 is clustered, Dsg1 is likely compensating for the clustering and loss of function of Dsg3. Thus, additional analysis of Dsg3 clustering in PV patients and in PV model systems is needed to further clarify the pathogenic role of Dsg3 clustering.

In vitro studies of Dsg3 distribution in cultured keratinocytes exposed to PV IgG represent a model system to understand how alterations in cell surface organization of desmosomal proteins might compromise desmosome function. Following PV IgG treatment, lateral aggregation of Dsg3 is followed by internalization, suggesting that clustering impairs desmosome dynamics and the stability of cell surface desmosomal cadherins (Sato et al., 2000). Work by Saito et al. directly compared the effects of the pathogenic monoclonal IgG AK23 to that of polyclonal IgG isolated from PV patient sera (Saito et al., 2012a). Upon exposure to AK23, Dsg3 and desmoplakin staining at cell borders was unchanged. In contrast, exposure to PV patient IgG dramatically altered desmosomal protein organization. Similarly, at the ultrastructural level, desmosomes were morphologically intact when exposed to AK23, but highly disorganized and smaller when exposed to PV IgG. However, both AK23 and PV IgG similarly compromised keratinocyte adhesion, suggesting that the monoclonal IgG and PV patient IgG were disrupting desmosomal adhesion by different mechanisms. Consistent with this hypothesis, loss of adhesion in response to PV IgG occurred in a p38MAPK-dependent manner, whereas AK23-induced loss of adhesion was independent of p38MAPK signaling.

The observation that patient IgG causes Dsg3 clustering and down-regulation does not exclude the possibility that some portion of PV patient IgG, which represents a polyclonal mixture in each patient, is disrupting adhesion by steric hindrance. In fact, this possibility is quite likely as several pathogenic monoclonal antibodies have been isolated from PV patients (Di Zenzo *et al.*, 2012; Heupel *et al.*, 2008; Payne *et al.*, 2005; Sharma *et al.*, 2007). Collectively, these studies suggest that pathogenic monoclonal IgG against Dsg3 disrupt adhesion primarily by steric hindrance, whereas polyclonal patient IgG disrupts adhesion by both steric hindrance and clustering, as well as other mechanisms downstream of IgG ligation of the cadherin. Additional mechanisms that may contribute to PV pathogenesis are discussed in subsequent sections.

4.2.4 Dsg endocytosis and down-regulation

A number of studies provide compelling evidence that Dsg endocytosis and down-regulation of surface pools of the cadherins occur in response to PV IgG binding (Calkins et al., 2006; Cirillo et al., 2007; Iwatsuki et al., 1999; Iwatsuki et al., 1989; Jolly et al., 2010; Kitajima, 2014; Mao et al., 2014; Mao et al., 2011; Patel et al., 1984; Sato et al., 2000; Schulze et al., 2012). After PV IgG treatment in cultured keratinocytes, PV IgG and Dsg3 are rapidly internalized (Aoyama and Kitajima, 1999; Calkins *et al.*, 2006; Delva et al., 2008; Jennings et al., 2011; Milner et al., 1989; Sato et al., 2000). Interestingly, plakoglobin, but not desomplakin or the plakophilins, appear to be associated with the majority of these internalized IgG/Dsg complexes (Calkins et al., 2006; Jennings et al., 2011). Subsequent to internalization, the PV IgG-Dsg3 complex was found to traffic to endosomal and lysosomal compartments (Calkins et al., 2006; Jennings et al., 2011), leading to a decrease in both cell surface and steady-state Dsg3 levels (Calkins et al., 2006; Jennings et al., 2011; Saito et al., 2012a; Yamamoto et al., 2007). The Triton-soluble or non-desmosomal pool of Dsg3 appears to be depleted as early as 30 minutes after exposure to PV IgG, while the triton-insoluble desmosomal pool

begins to decrease by 6 hours (Aoyama and Kitajima, 1999; Jennings *et al.*, 2011; Sato *et al.*, 2000; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2007). Work by Delva et al. revealed that PV IgG-induced endocytosis occurs through a clathrin-independent, lipid raft-mediated pathway (Delva *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, disruption of lipid rafts with cholesterol perturbing drugs prevented both the loss of Dsg3 cell surface levels and the loss of keratinocyte adhesion (Delva *et al.*, 2008; Stahley *et al.*, 2014). Ongoing studies in the Kowalczyk lab indicate that PV IgG causes Dsg3 clustering and colocalizes with the early endosomal marker EEA1 in PV patient biopsies (Stahley, *unpublished*, Figure 17). Collectively, these studies suggest that clustering and destabilization of cell surface pools of Dsg3 are characteristics of keratinocytes exposed to PV IgG *in vitro* and in patients, and that these alterations in Dsg3 localization may contribute to PV pathogenesis.

4.2.5 Cell signaling

A growing body of evidence has implicated other cellular responses in pemphigus pathogenesis, including several cell signaling pathways. EGFR, PKC, Src, p38MAPK, RhoA, c-myc, HSP27, AChR, TNF α and tyrosine kinase pathways have all been implicated in contributing to PV IgG-induced loss of adhesion (Berkowitz *et al.*, 2005; Berkowitz *et al.*, 2006; Chernyavsky *et al.*, 2007; Delva *et al.*, 2008; Getsios *et al.*, 2004b; Jolly *et al.*, 2010; Koga *et al.*, 2013; Nguyen *et al.*, 2000; Saito *et al.*, 2012a; Sanchez-Carpintero *et al.*, 2004; Sayar *et al.*, 2014; Seishima *et al.*, 1999; Spindler and Waschke, 2011; Waschke *et al.*, 2006; Williamson *et al.*, 2006). Specifically, inhibition of cell signaling pathways was found to prevent the loss of adhesion induced by PV IgG in several cell culture and mouse models of the disease (Berkowitz *et al.*, 2005;

Berkowitz et al., 2006; Delva et al., 2008; Saito et al., 2012a; Sanchez-Carpintero et al., 2004; Waschke et al., 2006; Williamson et al., 2006). Although various pathways have been implicated in PV pathogenesis, several labs have used both cell culture and mouse models to establish roles for EGFR and p38MAPK signaling in Dsg3 endocytosis and the loss of keratinocyte adhesion in response to PV IgG (Bektas et al., 2013; Berkowitz et al., 2005; Berkowitz et al., 2006; Jolly et al., 2010; Saito et al., 2012a; Sayar et al., 2014). EGFR is activated in response to the pathogenic IgG AK23, followed by an increase in c-myc levels (Schulze et al., 2012). Additionally, both heat shock protein 27 (HSP27) and p38MAPK were rapidly phosphorylated in response to PV IgG. p38MAPK inhibition prevented HSP27 phosphorylation and cytoskeletal reorganization in cultured keratinocytes (Berkowitz et al., 2005) and the loss of adhesion in a mouse model of PV (Berkowitz et al., 2006). Furthermore, increased phosphorylation of both p38MAPK and HSP27 were detected in PV patient skin (Berkowitz et al., 2008). Experiments in cultured keratinocytes revealed that EGFR activation is downstream of p38MAPK and that inhibition of EGFR prevented PV IgG-induced Dsg3 endoctyosis, keratin retraction and the loss of cell adhesion (Bektas et al., 2013). Though p38MAPK has been shown to be upstream of EGFR activation, EGFR inhibitors have also been shown to suppress p38MAPK activity (Li et al., 2014), suggesting interplay between EGFR and p38MAPK signaling in the context of PV pathogenesis.

A role for the actin cytoskeleton in regulating desmosome adhesion in the context of PV pathogenesis has also emerged. Actin disruption by latrunculin exacerbated the effects of PV IgG (Jennings *et al.*, 2011), whereas stabilization of the actin cytoskeleton by jasplakinolide blunted the effects of PV IgG (Gliem *et al.*, 2010). Consistent with

actin regulatory mechanisms modulating desmosomal responsiveness to PV IgG, several studies have implicated the GTPase RhoA, a key regulator of actin organization, in pemphigus. PV IgG-induced RhoA inactivation was found to be p38MAPK-dependent, and experimental activation of RhoA prevented PV IgG-induced loss of adhesion in both cultured cells and human skin. RhoA activation also prevented the loss of Dsg3 from the cytoskeleton-bound fraction typically observed upon PV IgG treatment (Waschke et al., 2006). Recently, adducin was shown to be rapidly phosphorylated at serine 726 in a PKC-dependent and p38MAPK-independent manner in response to PV IgG. Adducin is an actin-organizing protein that is a substrate for PKC and a target for RhoA. The protective effect of RhoA was dependent on the presence of adducin, as well as its phosphorylation (Rotzer *et al.*, 2014). PKC signaling has also been implicated in pemphigus and is activated by PV IgG binding. Activation of PKC causes desmosomes to become calcium-dependent and less adhesive (Osada et al., 1997; Wallis et al., 2000). Recently, DP has been demonstrated to be phosphorylated in a PKC-dependent manner shortly after PV IgG treatment in cultured keratinocytes (Dehner et al., 2014). Collectively, these studies suggest that mechanisms involving RhoA, the actin cytoskeleton, and PKC may be involved in keratinocyte responses to PV IgG ligation of Dsg3. It is interesting to speculate that various drugs (eg. RhoA activation) that protect against PV IgG-induced loss of adhesion may do so by strengthening other junctional complexes rather than acting directly on desmosomes. There is substantial evidence that the functional status of adherens junctions, which are actin associated, can influence desmosome assembly and disassembly (Getsios et al., 2004b; Gumbiner et al., 1988; Kitajima, 2013; Vasioukhin et al., 2000). It will be important to further understand this

crosstalk in the search for new therapeutics that may regulate overall cell-cell contact in the context of pemphigus and other disorders that are characterized by altered cell adhesion, such as cancer (see below).

4.2.6 Desmosome non-assembly vs. disassembly

A common theme that has arisen from studies of pemphigus pathomechanisms is that PV IgG destabilize the homeostasis of desmosome assembly and disassembly kinetics, presumably by disrupting cadherin dynamics (Kitajima, 2013, 2014). One hypothesis is that autoantibodies bind to and down-regulate non-desmosomal Dsg3, thereby upsetting the balance of Dsg3 exchange into and out of the desmosome (Sato et al., 2000). The effect of PV IgG on depletion of non-desmosomal pools of Dsg3 would result in the depletion of desmosomal Dsg3 due to constitutive exchange of Dsg3 out of desmosomes, thereby leading to desmosomes with weakened adhesive interactions. Support for this hypothesis is manifest in the observation that PV IgG depletes desmosomes of Dsg3 by approximately 80%, leading to a 40% reduction in adhesive strength in a dissociation assay (Yamamoto et al., 2007). Furthermore, immunoelectron microscopy time-course experiments of desmosome assembly suggest that PV IgG-Dsg3 complexes that form outside of the desmosome are excluded from entering the mature desmosome core (Aoyama and Kitajima, 1999; Sato et al., 2000). Overall, these studies support a model in which PV IgG bind to the assembly pool of Dsg3 and prevent these molecules from entering desmosomes, thereby leading to Dsg3 depleted desmosomes which are vulnerable to mechanical stress (Kitajima, 2013).

An alternative and complementary hypothesis is that PV IgG drive disassembly by increasing the exchange of Dsg3 out of mature desmosomes. During normal desmosome assembly, the desmosomal cadherin-plakoglobin complex is trafficked to the plasma membrane separately from the desmoplakin-plakophilin complex (Green *et al.*, 2010; Nekrasova and Green, 2013). Once at the surface, the cadherin and plaque complexes are thought to associate to drive desmosomal cadherin clustering and tight packing of desmosomal constituents. It is reasonable to speculate that the reverse process occurs during desmosome disassembly and turnover. Post-embedding immunoelectron microscopy revealed that the majority of IgG in the PV mouse model localized to desmosomes and was uniformly distributed along the entire length of desmosomes (Shimizu *et al.*, 2004). Additionally, IgG on the surface of keratinocytes was found to have a strong affinity for desmosomal structures in vivo (Iwatsuki et al., 1989). Furthermore, endocytosis of Dsg3-plakoglobin complexes occurs independently from desmoplakin dislocation from the desmosomal plaque in cell culture models of PV. These observations are consistent with the hypothesis that PV IgG target desmosomal pools of cadherin and trigger disassembly of Dsg complexes. Further support of a desmosome disassembly hypothesis comes from a study using AK23 isotypes. An experimentally constructed IgM isotype of AK23 was found at the edges of desmosomes and between desmosomes, presumably bound to non-desmosomal Dsg3, but was excluded from the desmosomal core where AK23 IgG is frequently located. Importantly, and unlike the IgG isotype, AK23 IgM was unable to induce blistering in mice, indicating that binding to the desmosomal core is necessary to confer pathogenicity (Tsunoda et al., 2011). These findings suggest that anti-Dsg3 IgG, and thus PV IgG, are only pathogenic when they

bind within the extracellular region of intact desmosomes, consistent with the hypothesis that autoantibodies are triggering disassembly of intact desmosomes. Additional experiments using advanced optical imaging approaches and time lapse are needed to sort out precisely how assembly and disassembly kinetics are impacted by PV IgG binding to Dsg3.

4.3 Model for PV pathomechanisms and therapeutic implications

As outlined above, pemphigus research over the past 20 years supports a multifactorial model for pathophysiological mechanisms that result in epidermal blistering, including steric hindrance, endocytosis and cell signaling (Figure 6). First, it is clear that anti-Dsg autoantibodies are both necessary and sufficient to disrupt adhesion and cause disease (Table 2). PV IgG bind to surface pools of Dsg3, causing clustering and disorganization of both desmosomal and non-desmosomal pools of the protein. A subset of the autoantibodies act directly to block Dsg3 adhesive interactions, perhaps by sterically hindering protein interactions, thus weakening cell adhesion. Clustering of surface Dsg3, along with unbinding of adhesive interactions, increases the rate of raftmediated internalization and degradation of desmosomal protein complexes. This depletion of surface Dsg3 further weakens cell-cell adhesion. The physical effects of the antibodies are integrated with IgG-induced alteration of several signaling pathways, including p38MAPK and other pathways outlined above. Disrupted signaling activity serves to feed forward the pathogenic response to the autoantibodies by further weakening adhesive interactions, enhancing endocytosis, and/or uncoupling cytoskeletal linkages.

The value of resolving the precise pathogenic mechanisms of pemphigus IgG is the promise of developing more targeted and safer therapies to effectively treat this class of disorders. Corticosteroids and immunosuppressive agents are broad-spectrum treatments that have a wide range of potential side-effects while also predisposing the patient to infections. In addition to more selective immunological suppression, agents that stabilize and/or enhance desmosome dynamics in favor of strong adhesion may represent an important addition to current therapeutic approaches. Tucker et al. recently demonstrated that increased expression of the plaque protein plakophilin 1 protected cultured keratinocytes from PV IgG-induced desmosome disruption and loss of adhesion (Tucker *et al.*, 2014). This work supports the idea that cytoplasmic molecular interactions within the plaque can be modulated to bolster desmosomal strength to prevent disease. Further, the authors provided evidence that plakophilin 1 expression prompted the transition of calcium-dependent desmosomes into calcium-independent, hyperadhesive desmosomes, a state typical of fully mature desmosomes in vivo. PKC inhibition has been shown to induce desmosome hyperadhesion (Wallis et al., 2000). Importantly, hyperadhesive desmosomes are resistant to the effects of PV serum, likely through mechanisms involving PKC inhibition (Cirillo et al., 2010). Similarly, expression of a desmoplakin point mutant (S2849G) that exhibits enhanced association with keratin filaments and causes desmosomes to become hyperadhesive (Hobbs and Green, 2012), was shown to ameliorate PV IgG-induced loss of cell adhesion (Dehner et al., 2014). Collectively, these studies suggest that reinforcing desmosomal adhesion through altered expression of desmosomal genes and/or exploiting the ability of the desmosome to

achieve hyperadhesion may be an effective strategy to prevent acantholysis in pemphigus.

An additional promising target for therapies is lipid rafts, for which a critical role in regulating desmosomal adhesion is emerging. Membrane rafts, microdomains enriched in sphingolipids and cholesterol, can cluster to form larger, ordered domains that function as platforms for various cellular processes including signaling, endocytosis and adhesion (Pike, 2006; Simons and Ehehalt, 2002; Simons and Sampaio, 2011). Recent studies have supported a role for raft association of desmosomal components in regulating adhesion. All desmosomal proteins have been shown to be raft-associated under normal cell culture conditions(Brennan et al., 2012; Nava et al., 2007; Resnik et al., 2011; Roberts et al., 2014; Stahley *et al.*, 2014). Functional rafts are also required for desmosome assembly and adhesion (Resnik et al., 2011; Stahley et al., 2014). Interestingly, PV IgG-induced Dsg3 endocytosis occurs through a lipid-raft mediated pathway (Delva et al., 2008). Further, raft perturbation through cholesterol depletion was shown to prevent entry of Dsg3 into PV IgG-induced endocytic structures termed "linear arrays" (Jennings et al., 2011) and the loss of keratinocyte adhesion, in addition to preventing proper assembly during a calcium switch assay (Stahley *et al.*, 2014). Collectively, these data indicate that raft disruption alters the ability of Dsg3 to traffic normally into and out of the desmosome during both assembly and disassembly, suggesting that raft-targeting drugs may be therapeutic in modulating Dsg3 dynamics to favor the formation of stable desmosomes. Rafts may also function as signaling hubs for desmosomal regulatory proteins such as EGFR, p38MAPK and Src, all of which have been found to associate with lipid rafts (Simons and Toomre, 2000). Whether these proteins signal from lipid rafts during PV

pathogenesis remains to be elucidated. Nonetheless, raft-perturbing agents have potential to be effective in modulating desmosome responsiveness to pemphigus IgG.


Figure 6. Model for PV pathomechanisms. Data support a multifactorial model for pathophysiological mechanisms resulting in epidermal blistering. PV IgG binding results in raft-mediated endocytosis of Dsg3, steric hindrance of the adhesive interface, as well as the involvement of cell signaling pathways which collectively contribute to the loss of adhesion and subsequent blister formation.

Chapter 5

Desmosome assembly and disassembly are membrane raft-dependent

This chapter is adapted from:

Stahley SN*, Saito M*, Faundez V, Koval M, Mattheyses AL and Kowalczyk AP.

(2014) Desmosome assembly and disassembly are membrane raft-dependent.

PLoS ONE 9(1): e87809. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0087809

* these authors contributed equally

5.1 Introduction

The desmosome is an intercellular junction that mediates strong adhesion and anchors the intermediate filament cytoskeleton to the plasma membrane at sites of cellcell contact (Delva et al., 2009; Getsios et al., 2004b; Saito et al., 2012b). Desmosomes are prominent in tissues that experience substantial mechanical stress, such as the skin and heart (Desai et al., 2009; Green and Simpson, 2007). Adhesive interactions in the desmosome are mediated by desmogleins and desmocollins, members of the cadherin superfamily of adhesion molecules (Saito et al., 2012b). Desmosomal plaque proteins, including plakoglobin and desmoplakin, tether the cytoplasmic tails of the desmosomal cadherins to the intermediate filament cytoskeleton. Plakophilins, a subgroup of the armadillo family, further cluster desmosomal cadherin complexes. This architectural arrangement integrates intercellular adhesive interactions and cytoskeletal elements, thereby mechanically coupling adjacent cells (Delva et al., 2009; Getsios et al., 2004b; Holthofer et al., 2007; Yin and Green, 2004). Importantly, the function of both the desmosomal cadherins and the plaque proteins is essential for establishing and maintaining strong cell-cell adhesion, as evidenced by the numerous genetic, autoimmune, and infectious diseases that result when desmosomal protein function is compromised (Amagai and Stanley, 2012; Kottke et al., 2006; Payne et al., 2004; Thomason et al., 2010; Waschke, 2008).

Although desmosomes mediate strong cell-cell adhesion, these structures are dynamic and exhibit tissue and differentiation specific changes in size and composition. The dynamics of desmosome assembly and disassembly must be precisely controlled to yield a junction both rigid enough to provide mechanical integrity to tissues, yet plastic enough to allow for remodeling during wound healing and development (Green *et al.*, 2010). Alterations in desmosome assembly and disassembly are thought to compromise desmosome function in diseases such as the autoimmune blistering disease pemphigus vulgaris (PV) (Getsios *et al.*, 2010; Green *et al.*, 2010; Kitajima, 2013). In PV, IgG autoantibodies target the extracellular domain of the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 3 (Dsg3), or both Dsg3 and Dsg1 (Amagai, 2010; Amagai *et al.*, 1991; Anhalt and Diaz, 2004; Getsios *et al.*, 2010; Payne *et al.*, 2004; Waschke, 2008). Histologically, the pemphigus family of diseases is characterized by the loss of adhesion, or acantholysis, between adjacent keratinocytes. Clinically, PV manifests as severe mucosal erosions as well as epidermal blisters (Kottke *et al.*, 2006; Waschke, 2008).

Recently, we and others have demonstrated that PV IgG aberrantly clusters cell surface Dsg3 (Oktarina *et al.*, 2011; Saito *et al.*, 2012a), leading to increased Dsg3 endocytosis and decreased steady state levels of Dsg3 at the plasma membrane (Calkins *et al.*, 2006; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2007), resulting in desmosome disassembly. PV IgGinduced internalization occurs via a membrane raft-mediated pathway (Delva *et al.*, 2008), indicating that Dsg3 raft association provides a means for desmosome regulation. Also known as lipid rafts or detergent resistant membranes (DRMs), membrane rafts (here, simply referred to as rafts) are highly ordered microdomains within the plasma membrane enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipids (Pike, 2006; Simons and Ehehalt, 2002). Individual raft domains contain a small subset of select proteins and float freely within the membrane, but can cluster to form larger, ordered domains that function as platforms for a variety of cellular processes, such as signaling, endocytosis and membrane organization (Simons and Ehehalt, 2002; Simons and Sampaio, 2011). Therefore, we speculated that rafts regulate the dynamics of desmosome assembly and disassembly, and thereby modulate normal keratinocyte adhesion, as well as keratinocyte responses to PV IgG. Indeed, several recent studies have demonstrated that desmosomal proteins, including Dsg2, Dsc2, plakoglobin and desmoplakin are raft associated (Brennan *et al.*, 2012; Nava *et al.*, 2007; Resnik *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, classical preparations of desmosomes isolated from bovine snout are enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipids, providing further evidence of a tight association of desmosomes with membrane raft components (Drochmans *et al.*, 1978; Skerrow and Matoltsy, 1974).

In the current study, we sought to determine if the PV antigen Dsg3 is also raft associated and if rafts play a functional role in regulating desmosomal adhesion. Using primary human keratinocytes, we demonstrate that Dsg3 is raft associated biochemically and colocalizes with raft markers as assessed by super resolution immunofluorescence microscopy. Disruption of membrane rafts via cholesterol depletion prevents desmosome assembly in response to increased extracellular calcium, thus establishing a role for rafts as critical regulators of desmosome formation. Interestingly, Dsg3 did not partition to rafts in cells lacking desmosomal proteins. Furthermore, in response to PV IgG, cell surface Dsg3 reorganizes into linear arrays, membrane projections that extend perpendicular from cell-cell borders. Super resolution immunofluorescence microscopy revealed that these linear arrays, which we have previously found to be active sites for Dsg3 endocytosis (Jennings *et al.*, 2011), are highly enriched in raft markers. Importantly, raft disruption prevents linear array formation, desmosome disassembly and the loss of cell adhesion in PV IgG treated cells. These results support a model in which membrane raft microdomains serve as a critical platform for the regulation of both desmosome assembly and disassembly.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Dsg3 and other desmosomal proteins are membrane raft associated

To assess desmosomal protein association with membrane rafts, detergent resistant membranes (DRMs) were isolated from primary human keratinocytes. Following extraction in cold Triton X-100 and ultracentrifugation, buoyant DRMs and associated proteins partition to a characteristic density (~25%) on a sucrose gradient (Lingwood and Simons, 2007). Western blot analysis confirmed Dsg3 raft association with DRMs (Figure 7, fractions 6 and 7) as identified by raft markers flotillin-1 and caveolin-1, and non-raft marker calnexin. Additionally, desmosomal proteins plakoglobin (PG) and plakophilin 2 (pkp-2) were found to be raft associated. Desmocollin 3 and desmoplakin also displayed partitioning to raft fractions (not shown). E-cadherin, a classical cadherin found in adherens junctions, failed to partition to rafts, demonstrating specificity for an enrichment of desmosomal components in rafts. Super resolution structured illumination microscopy (SIM) was used to determine if Dsg3 colocalized with raft markers at cell-cell borders. CD59, a GPI-anchored protein, and caveolin-1 (Cav-1) are proteins known to localize to membrane rafts and are commonly used as raft markers (Brennan et al., 2012; Hogue et al., 2011). Dsg3 was found to colocalize with both CD59 and caveolin-1, although to a much greater extent with CD59 (Figure 8), suggesting a potential specificity for Dsg3 in CD59 containing raft domains. In contrast, Dsg3 did not

colocalize with the non-raft marker clathrin. Together, these results suggest that raft association of desmosomal proteins is an integral aspect of desmosome regulation.

5.2.2 Desmosome assembly and adhesion are cholesterol dependent

To test if desmosome assembly was raft dependent, human keratinocytes were treated with methyl β -cyclodextrin (m β CD) during a low to high calcium switch to induce desmosome formation. Cholesterol depletion with m β CD is widely used as a method to disrupt membrane rafts (Lingwood and Simons, 2007; Simons and Toomre, 2000; Zidovetzki and Levitan, 2007). Many cell types, including keratinocytes (Bang et *al.*, 2005; Zidovetzki and Levitan, 2007), remain viable when treated with m β CD doses as high as 20 mM. However, at these doses we observed extensive cell rounding and shape changes (not shown) suggesting non-specific effects not directly attributable to cholesterol depletion. Additionally, high doses ($\geq 10 \text{ mM}$) of m β CD exposure lead to cholesterol depletion from both raft and non-raft regions of the membrane, whereas lower doses have been shown to preferentially remove cholesterol from raft membrane domains (Zidovetzki and Levitan, 2007). Therefore, we treated cells with 1 mM m β CD (Figure 9), which did not cause the cell shape changes observed with higher m β CD concentrations. Accumulation of both Dsg3 and DP at cell borders was reduced in cells treated with m β CD (Figure 9A), suggesting that m β CD treatment prevented desmosome assembly. In contrast, border localization of adherens junction protein p120 was largely unchanged with m β CD treatment. A monolayer fragmentation assay was performed to confirm that m β CD treatment weakened adhesive strength (Ishii and Amagai, 2013). Briefly, confluent keratinocyte monolayers were lifted off the culture dish with the enzyme

dispase and then subjected to mechanical stress via pipetting. In this assay, increased monolayer fragmentation is indicative of weakened adhesion. Relative to control, cells switched to high calcium in the presence of m β CD showed a significant increase in fragmentation (Figure 9B). Collectively, these findings indicate that raft disruption prevents desmosome assembly and weakens keratinocyte cell-cell adhesion strength.

To further test the effect of cholesterol depletion on the process of desmosome assembly, human keratinocytes were treated with varying concentrations of m β CD during a low to high calcium switch and then processed by sequential detergent extraction and western blot to distinguish between the non-desmosomal (Triton soluble) and desmosomal (Triton insoluble) pools of DP and Dsg3. The amounts of desmoplakin and Dsg3 in the insoluble or desmosomal pool are an indication of the relative assembly state of desmosomes. Treatment with m β CD caused a dose dependent shift of both desmoplakin and Dsg3 from the Triton insoluble to soluble pool (Figure 9C, D). These results further indicate that desmosome assembly and raft association are intimately coupled.

5.2.3 Dsg3 raft partioning in associated with desmosome assembly

A prediction derived from the results above is that only desmosomal Dsg3 is raft associated. To test this idea, raft association of Dsg3 was first compared between human keratinocytes cultured in low or high calcium medium. Keratinocytes cultured in low calcium medium do not form desmosomes as indicated by the cytoplasmic staining of both Dsg3 and desmoplakin (Figure 10A). However, once exposed to high calcium, keratinocytes readily form desmosomes as indicated by the concentrated border staining of Dsg3 and desmoplakin (Figure 10A). Interestingly, Dsg3 raft association increased significantly upon shifting cells from low to high calcium conditions (Figure 10B, C). Dsg3 raft association was further analyzed in cell types with varying abilities to form desmosomes. For these experiments, wild type Dsg3.GFP was expressed in normal human keratinocytes and A431 cells, an epidermoid carcinoma cell line that forms desmosomes, or in CHO (Chinese hamster ovary) and HMEC-1 (immortalized human microvascular endothelial cells) cells, both of which lack various desmosomal components and therefore do not form desmosomes. As expected, Dsg3.GFP partitioned to rafts similarly to endogenous Dsg3 in primary HKs and showed substantial partitioning to rafts in A431s (Figure 11A). However, Dsg3.GFP exhibited little or no raft association in CHOs and HMEC-1s (Figure 11B), indicating that Dsg3 preferentially targets to raft fractions in a cell-type specific manner.

5.2.4 PV IgG-induced desmosome disassembly is raft-dependent

Previous work from our laboratory has shown that Dsg3 endocytosis in response to PV IgG occurs via a raft-mediated pathway (Delva *et al.*, 2008). Recently, we have shown that PV IgG causes clustering and rearrangement of cell surface Dsg3 into endocytic linear structures that we have termed linear arrays. These structures extend perpendicularly from cell contacts and are sites for internalization of desmosomal components (Jennings *et al.*, 2011). Given that endoyctic vesicles bud from these arrays and that internalization is raft-mediated, we predicted that raft components were enriched in these structures. Following PV IgG treatment, SIM revealed that raft markers CD59 and caveolin-1 were enriched in linear arrays, and colocalized significantly with Dsg3 relative to the non-raft marker clathrin in cultured human keratinocytes (Figure 12A, C). Fluorescence intensity measurements of lines drawn perpendicularly through the linear arrays confirmed alignment of Dsg3 and raft markers (Figure 12B). To determine if raft-enriched linear arrays also occur in human epidermis, excised human skin was injected with PV IgG and then analyzed by SIM (Figure 12D). Dsg3, along with the raft marker CD59, was found in linear array structures remarkably similar to those observed *in vitro* (Figure 12A). These results confirm enrichment of raft components in linear arrays, suggesting that linear array formation and subsequent desmosome disassembly are raft-dependent.

To test the possibility that PV IgG-induced linear array formation and loss of adhesion are raft-dependent, human keratinocytes were cultured in high calcium media to first allow for desmosome assembly, and subsequently treated with NH or PV IgG either in the absence or presence of mβCD. PV IgG disrupted Dsg3 staining as indicated by extensive cell surface clustering and linear array formation (Figure 13A). These morphological changes were prevented by mβCD treatment, suggesting that PV IgGinduced desmosome disassembly was abrogated by cholesterol depletion. A fragmentation assay confirmed that desmosomes were functionally protected against PV IgG by mβCD (Figure 13B). These results indicate that desmosome disassembly and loss of cell-cell adhesion in response to PV IgG require functional raft domains.

5.3 Discussion

Significant advances have been made in characterizing desmosomes morphologically and biochemically (Kowalczyk and Rubenstein, 2007). A wide variety of human diseases have revealed critical functions of these adhesive junctions in the skin and heart (Kottke *et al.*, 2006; Lai-Cheong *et al.*, 2007; Thomason *et al.*, 2010). However, we lack a comprehensive understanding of how desmosome assembly and function are regulated. The results presented here provide insight into how cells spatially control the dynamics of desmosome assembly and how these dynamics are altered to facilitate desmosome disassembly in diseases such as PV. Here, we demonstrate that desmosomal proteins associate with membrane rafts biochemically and that Dsg3 colocalizes with raft markers at cell borders. Dsg3 raft association increased during calcium-mediated desmosome assembly, and raft disruption by cholesterol depletion prevented both desmosome assembly and PV IgG-induced desmosome disassembly. These results support a model in which membrane raft microdomains serve as a crucial platform for desmosome regulation.

Several junctional proteins have been shown to be raft associated, including the tight junction proteins occludin, ZO-1 and JAM-A (Dodelet-Devillers *et al.*, 2009; Nusrat *et al.*, 2000) and the adherens junction protein N-cadherin (Causeret *et al.*, 2005; Nakai and Kamiguchi, 2002). More recently, desmosomal proteins Dsg2, Dsc2, plakoglobin and desmoplakin also have been shown to be associated with membrane rafts (Brennan *et al.*, 2012; Morel *et al.*, 2008; Nava *et al.*, 2007; Resnik *et al.*, 2011). Here, we demonstrate for the first time that Dsg3 and other desmosomal proteins are raft associated in primary human keratinocytes (Figure 7). The association of desmosomal proteins with rafts in cell types ranging from colonic and kidney epithelia to keratinocytes and carcinoma cell lines suggests that lipid raft modulation of desmosome function is a fundamental feature of desmosome regulation. Super-resolution imaging revealed that Dsg3 colocalized with raft

markers CD59 and caveolin-1 at sites of cell-cell borders (Figure 8), suggesting that rafts play a role in mediating desmosome assembly at regions of cell contact.

Current models for desmosome assembly suggest that desmosomal cadherins are stabilized in response to cell-cell contact and cluster with plaque proteins to yield a highly ordered and compact structure (Desai et al., 2009). Our results showing that desmosome assembly is raft-dependent (Figure 9) supports a model in which the raft milieu allows for and facilitates the extensive clustering that yields a mature and tightly packed desmosome. Even with a m β CD dose 10-fold lower than previously reported to weaken desmosomal adhesion (Resnik et al., 2011), we found desmosome assembly and adhesion to be cholesterol dependent (Figure 9). Importantly, Dsg3 was unable to associate with rafts in both CHO and HMEC-1 cells (Figure 11), suggesting that desmosomal or other proteins absent in these cells are responsible for Dsg3 raft targeting. Although Dsg3 colocalizes extensively with CD59 (Figure 8), this protein does not appear sufficient for raft targeting of Dsg3 since HMEC-1 cells express this raft associating protein (Supplemental Figure 1). Collectively, these observations suggest that association of desmosomal proteins with raft domains plays an important role in desmosomal protein clustering and desmosome assembly. Raft dependent protein clustering has been demonstrated for both the immunological synapse and the neuromuscular junction (Balamuth et al., 2004; Bi and Altman, 2001; Pato et al., 2008; Vogt et al., 2002). Evidence suggests that nanoscale rafts coalesce into larger and more stable membrane-ordered assemblies (Lingwood and Simons, 2010; Simons and Sampaio, 2011). Desmosomes may represent a sub-type of these large raft-containing, stable membrane-ordered assemblies which result from the clustering of precursor pools

associated with smaller nanoscale raft subcomplexes. Consistent with this possibility, early studies revealed that the lipid content of desmosome cores is enriched in cholesterol and sphingolipids (Drochmans *et al.*, 1978; Skerrow and Matoltsy, 1974).

Our results investigating compromised adhesion in response to PV IgG also support a model in which raft-dependent clustering enables cadherin endocytosis and desmosome disassembly. We recently demonstrated that PV IgG cause extensive clustering of cell surface Dsg3, an effect that is attributed to the polyclonal nature of anti-Dsg3 IgG present in PV patients (Saito et al., 2012a). This combination of both loss of adhesion and clustering appears to drive Dsg3 endocytosis through a membrane raft pathway. Interestingly, polyclonal antibody-induced clustering of raft-localized proteins, such as placental alkaline phosphatase (PLAP), is cholesterol dependent (Harder et al., 1998). The results in Figure 13 showing PV IgG-induced desmosome disassembly and loss of adhesion are cholesterol dependent, along with our work showing PV IgG cause clustering of cell surface Dsg3, suggest this antibody-induced clustering is raft-mediated. In addition to clustering of Dsg3, we previously demonstrated that PV IgG cause rearrangement of desmosomal proteins into linear array structures that function as sites for endocytosis (Jennings et al., 2011). Consistent with our study showing that PV IgGinduced internalization occurs via a raft-mediated pathway (Delva et al., 2008), superresolution immunofluorescence imaging confirms that these linear array structures are enriched in raft markers (Figure 12). Furthermore, raft-enriched linear arrays were also present in excised normal human skin treated with PV IgG (Figure 12C). These findings suggest that drugs that alter raft dynamics may have therapeutic potential in treating PV.

The results presented here support a model (Figure 14) in which desmosomal protein association with ordered membrane raft domains is essential for clustering driven by cadherin ectodomain and plaque protein interactions during desmosome assembly, as well as for desmosomal cadherin clustering and endocytosis during disassembly in response to PV IgG. This model accounts for the somewhat counterintuitive notion that disruption of raft microdomains impacts both desmosome formation on the one hand, and desmosome disassembly in the context of PV on the other. In addition to functioning as platforms for desmosomal protein clustering during desmosome formation and disassembly, rafts may also function as signaling hubs for the recruitment of regulatory proteins that modulate desmosome formation and turnover. For example, desmosome disassembly in disease states such as PV has been linked to EGFR, p38MAPK and Src signaling (Chernyavsky et al., 2007; Getsios et al., 2010; Waschke, 2008), all of which have been found to be raft associated (Simons and Toomre, 2000). The ability of rafts to compartmentalize proteins at the membrane is a fundamental mechanism by which domains form platforms of specific composition for various cellular processes (Kabouridis, 2006; Lingwood and Simons, 2010; Simons and Sampaio, 2011). Thus, raft association is likely an efficient mechanism for compartmentalization of desmosomal components and their effectors (kinases, caspases, etc.) to precisely control desmosome assembly and disassembly dynamics. These findings further suggest that manipulation of raft dynamics may be a promising therapy to treat desmosomal diseases, such as pemphigus vulgaris and other disorders where desmosome function or signaling is compromised.

5.4 Materials and Methods

Ethics statement. Use of human IgG and skin was approved by the Institutional Review Boards at Emory University and the University of Pennsylvania. This study used existing or otherwise discarded, de-identified human samples obtained for clinical purposes during medical evaluation or skin surgery repair procedures. These studies were approved for human subjects research exemption (informed consent not required) by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Pennsylvania and the Institutional Review Board at Emory University according to the United States Health and Human Services Code of Federal Regulations 46.101(b)(4).

Cells and culture conditions. Human epidermal keratinocytes were isolated from neonatal foreskin as previously described (Calkins *et al.*, 2006) and cultured in KBM-Gold basal medium (Lonza, Walkersville, MD) with growth supplements (KGM-Gold Single-Quot Kit, Lonza). Keratinocytes, no later than passage 4, were switched to 550 μ M calcium 16-18 hours prior to experimental manipulation, unless other noted. For the experiments in Figure 9B and Figure 13B, keratinocytes were grown in 50 μ M calcium to prevent desmosome assembly for 16-18 hours and then switched to 550 μ M calcium for the indicated times. Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells were cultured in F12 media (ATCC, Manassas, VA). HMEC-1s were cultured in 0.1% gelatin-coated flasks in EBM-2 media (Lonza) with growth supplements (EGM-2 MV SingleQuots, Lonza). Where indicated, cells were infected 24-48 hours prior to experimentation with adenovirus for expression of Dsg3.GFP, as previously described (Jennings *et al.*, 2011). Antibodies and reagents. Antibodies used were as follows: mouse anti-Dsg3 antibodies AK15 and AK23 (Tsunoda et al., 2003) were kind gifts from Dr. Masayuki Amagai (Keio University, Tokyo); mouse anti-Dsg3 antibody 5G11 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA); mouse anti-plakophilin 2 antibody (Biodesign, Saco, Maine); rabbit anti-calnexin antibody (Enzo Life Sciences, Farmingdale, NY); mouse anti-CD59-FITC conjugated antibody (Millipore, Billerica, MA; Invitrogen); rabbit anti-desmoplakin antibody NW6 was a kind gift from Dr. Kathleen Green (Northwestern University); rabbit anti-gamma catenin antibody (plakoglobin, H-80, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA); mouse anti-E-cadherin antibody, mouse anti-flotillin-1, rabbit anti-caveolin-1, and mouse anticlathrin antibodies (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA). Secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluors were purchased from Invitrogen while horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies were purchased from BioRad (Hercules, CA). Normal human (NH) IgG was purchased from Bethyl Labs (Montgomery, TX). PV sera were kind gifts from Dr. M. Amagai, Dr. John Stanly (University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA) and Dr. Robert Swerlick (Emory University, Atlanta, GA). IgG was purified from PV sera using Melon Gel IgG Purification Resins and Kits (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL) according to the manufacturer's protocol. methyl- β -cyclodextrin (m β CD) was purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). 10 mM m β CD working stock was prepared by dissolving 15mg in 1mL pre-warmed keratinocyte culture medium. The solution was rotated for 30min and subsequently sterile filtered $(0.22\mu m)$ prior to use.

Isolation of detergent resistant membranes. Detergent resistant membranes were isolated as described previously (Lingwood and Simons, 2007). Briefly, cells were cultured in 25

cm² flasks (two per gradient) and washed with PBS⁺. Cells were collected by scraping in TNE buffer supplemented with protease inhibitors (Roche Diagnostic GmbH) followed by centrifugation at 0.4 rcf at 4°C for 5 min (5415R, Eppendorf). Cells were resuspended in TNE buffer and homogenized using a 25-guage needle. TNE buffer with detergent was added to lysate for a 1% Triton-X 100 final concentration followed by incubation on ice for 30 min. 400 μ L was mixed with 800 μ L 56% sucrose and placed at the bottom of a centrifuge tube. 1.9 mL volumes of 35% and 5% sucrose were layered on top of the sample. Following an 18 hour centrifugation at 4°C (44,000 rpm, SW55 rotor, Beckman Optima LE-80K Ultracentrifuge), 420 μ L fractions (1-11, remaining volume combined to make up fraction 12) were removed from top to bottom of the gradient and stored at -20°C until processed for western blot analysis. Flotillin-1 and calnexin were used as raft and non-raft markers respectively. Sucrose concentrations across gradients were measured using a AR200 Digital Refractometer (Leica).

Differential detergent extraction. Keratinocytes were cultured until confluent in 4-well tissue culture plates. Cells were extracted sequentially in Triton buffer (1% Triton X-100, 10 mM Tris, pH 7.5, 140 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 2 mM EGTA, with protease inhibitor) followed by extraction with urea-SDS buffer (1% SDS, 8 M Urea, 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 5 mM EDTA, 2 mM EGTA) as described previously (Calkins *et al.*, 2006) and then processed for western blot analysis.

Western blot analysis. Samples were mixed 1:1 with Laemmli sample buffer containing β -mercaptoethanol and heated to 95°C for 5 min. Proteins were resolved by 7.5% SDS-

PAGE and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane according to standard protocols. Dsg3 was detected using an anti-Dsg3 antibody mixture (AK15 and 5G11). HRPconjugated secondary antibodies were detected using enhanced chemiluminescence (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK).

Immunofluorescence. Human keratinocytes were cultured to 70% confluence on glass coverslips and then fixed on ice in either methanol for 2 min or 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min followed by 0.2% Triton X-100 for 7 min. Primary antibodies described above were detected with Alexa Fluor-conjugated secondary antibodies. Wide field fluorescence microscopy was performed using a DMRXA2 microscope (Leica, Wetzler, Germany) equipped with a 63x/1.32 NA oil immersion objective and narrow band pass filters. Images were acquired with an ORCA digital camera (Hamamatsu Photonics, Bridgewater, NJ) and processed using Simple PCI software (Hamamatsu Corporation, Sewickley, PA). Super-resolution microscopy was performed using a Nikon N-SIM system on an Eclipse Ti-E microscope system equipped with a 100x/1.49 NA oil immersion objective, 488- and 561-nm solid-state lasers in 3D structured illumination microscopy mode. Images were captured using an EM charge-coupled device camera (DU-897, Andor Technology) and reconstructed using NIS-Elements software with the N-SIM module (version 3.22, Nikon). Colocalization analysis was performed by obtaining Mander's coefficient using ImageJ plugin JACoP (Bolte and Cordelieres, 2006).

Dispase-based fragmentation assay. Keratinocytes were cultured until confluent in 4well tissue culture plates and processed as previously described (Saito *et al.*, 2012a). Keratinocytes were switched to 50 μ M calcium, to ensure no desmosome assembly, 16-18 hours prior to a second switch 550 μ M calcium for 3 hours to assemble desmosomes. Where indicated, PV IgG (100 μ g/mL) was added for another 3 hours at 37°C. Cells were then incubated with 1 U/mL dispase (Roche) for 30-45 min or until keratinocyte sheets were lifted from the culture dish. Cell sheets were rinsed with PBS⁺ and subjected to mechanical stress via pipetting. Cells were then fixed in paraformaldehyde, stained with methylene blue, and fragments counted using a dissecting microscope.

Human skin explant injections. Normal human skin explants were cultured as previously described (Saito *et al.*, 2012a). PV IgG (160-400 μ g) was injected intradermally in the presence of 0.8 μ g ETA for 16 hours. Skin sections were processed for structured illumination immunofluorescence using a mouse anti-human CD59-FITC antibody and goat anti-human Alexa Fluor 555 secondary antibody.

Statistics. Statistical analysis of fluorescence colocalization measurements in Figure 8 was performed using Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance on ranks with multiple comparisons performed by Dunn's method with a significance level of 0.05. Statistical analysis of fluorescence colocalization measurements in Figure 12 and the dispase-based fragmentation assay in Figure 13 were performed using Shapiro-Wilk one-way analysis of variance on ranks with multiple comparisons performed by Holm-Sidak method with a significance level of 0.05. Statistical analysis of the dispase-based fragmentation assay in Figure 13 were performed using Shapiro-Wilk one-way analysis of variance on ranks with multiple comparisons performed by Holm-Sidak method with a significance level of 0.05. Statistical analysis of the dispase-based fragmentation assay in

Figure 9 and raft association in Figure 10 were performed using a *t*-test assuming unequal variances with a significance level of 0.05.



Figure 7. Dsg3 and other desmosomal proteins are membrane raft associated.

Primary human keratinocytes were grown to confluence and switched to high calcium media for 16-18 hrs. Following detergent extraction (1% Triton X-100) and ultracentrifugation on a 5-40% sucrose gradient, 12 fractions were sequentially removed from the gradient and processed via western blot. Dsg3 partitions to the buoyant raft fractions (DRMs, detergent resistant membranes) as indicated by the positive controls flotillin-1 and caveolin-1, and negative control calnexin. Desmosomal components plakoglobin (PG) and plakophilin 2 (pkp-2) were also found to be raft associated. E-cadherin, a classical cadherin of adherens junctions, is not enriched in membrane rafts.



Figure 8. Dsg3 colocalizes with raft markers at cell-cell borders. A) After switching human keratinocytes to high calcium media for 16-18 hrs, surface Dsg3 was labeled live for 10 min with Alexa Fluor 555-conjugated AK15 mAb (top 2 rows) or PV IgG. Dsg3 colocalization with raft markers CD59 (a GPI-anchored protein) and caveolin-1 were compared to colocalization with clathrin, a non-raft membrane component using SIM. Dsg3 colocalized substantially with CD59, moderately with caveolin-1 and very weakly with clathrin. B) Quantification of Dsg3 colocalization. Mander's coefficient was used to define the ratio of red fluorescence (Dsg3) found within green (CD59, caveolin-1 or clathrin). Means \pm SEM (n = 20-37 border regions); *p < 0.05. Scale bar in A, 5 µm.



Figure 9. Desmosome assembly and adhesion are cholesterol dependent. A) Human keratinocytes were treated with 1 mM mBCD (methyl-B-cyclodextrin) during a 3 hr switch from 50 μ M to 550 μ M calcium. Dsg3 was detected by labeling cells live with AK15 mAb during the last 15 min of the calcium switch. Under control conditions (no m β CD), Dsg3 and DP are recruited to cell borders. Border staining of both Dsg3 and DP is dramatically reduced in cells treated with $m\beta CD$, while border staining of adherens junction protein p120 remained similar to control. **B**) Dispase-based fragmentation assay after keratinocytes were switched from a 50 μ M to 550 μ M calcium either in the absence or presence of 1mM m β CD. Cells switched in the presence of m β CD showed a significant increase in the amount of fragmentation relative to control (no m β CD). Means \pm SEM (*n* = 8 monolayers per group); *p < 0.05. C) Keratinocytes treated with varying concentrations of m β CD during a 6hr switch from 50 μ M to 550 μ M were processed by sequential detergent extraction with 1% Triton X-100 and western blot to distinguish between the non-desmosomal and desmosomal pools of Dsg3 and DP. m β CD treatment caused a dose dependent shift of both Dsg3 and DP from Triton insoluble (desmosomal) to soluble (non-desmosomal) pool. D) Quantification of Dsg3 and DP solubility changes in response to increasing m β CD concentrations. Scale bar in A, 10 μ m.



Figure 10. Dsg3 raft association increases upon calcium addition. A) Dsg3 and DP (desmoplakin) remain cytoplasmic when human keratinocytes are cultured in low (50 μ M) calcium media. Protein staining increases at regions of cell contact when keratinocytes are cultured in high (550 μ M) calcium media and desmosomes assemble. Dsg3 was detected with AK23 mAb post fixation. **B**) Confluent keratinocytes cultured in 50 μ M or 550 μ M calcium media 16-18 hrs prior to solubilization with 1% Triton X-100 and membrane raft fractionation. Western blots were probed for Dsg3 and the raft marker flotillin-1. Dsg3 raft partitioning increases significantly upon shifting cells from low to high calcium conditions. **C**) Quantification of relative Dsg3 levels normalized to total Dsg3 across all fractions. Means ± SEM (*n* = 3); *p < 0.05. Scale bar in A, 10 μ m.





In human keratinocytes (HKs) cultured in high calcium media for 16-18 hrs and A431 cells, GFP-tagged Dsg3 (top arrow) partitions to rafts similar to endogenous Dsg3. **B**) Dsg3.GFP was expressed in CHO (Chinese hamster ovary) cells and HMEC-1s (immortalized human microvasular endothelial cells), cell types that do not form desmosomes. Dsg3.GFP did not partition to the raft containing fractions in either CHOs or HMEC-1s.



Figure 12. PV IgG causes redistribution of Dsg3 into raft-containing linear arrays. A-C) Dsg3 colocalization with various membrane markers was analyzed using structured illumination microscopy (SIM) in human keratinocytes cultured in high calcium for 16-18 hrs and then treated with PV IgG for 3 hrs. CD59 was detected with FITC conjugated antibody by live labeling for 10 min prior to fixing. Dsg3 was detected with Alexa Fluor 555 conjugated AK15 mAb by live labeling for 10 min prior to fixing for the top two rows. For clathrin colocalization Dsg3 was monitored using PV IgG and secondary antibody detection of human IgG. In response to PV IgG, Dsg3 enters endocytic linear structures (previously termed 'linear arrays') that emanate perpendicular from cell-cell borders and extend toward the cell center (Jennings et al., 2011). A) Raft markers CD59 and caveolin-1 were enriched in linear arrays and colocalizaed significantly with Dsg3 relative to the non-raft marker clathrin. B) Fluorescence intensity measurements of lines drawn perpendicularly through linear arrays show alignment of Dsg3 (bottom line) and raft marker (top line) fluorescence. C) Quantification of Dsg3 colocalization in linear arrays as indicated by Mander's coefficient (ratio of red in green). Means \pm SEM (n = 27-36 arrays per group); p < 0.05. **D**) SIM was also used to view Dsg3 colocalization with CD59 in linear arrays in excised normal human epidermis injected with PV IgG. Basal keratinocytes are shown. D, dermis. Scale bar in A and D, 5 µm.



Figure 13. Cholesterol depletion prevents PV IgG-induced Dsg3 redistribution and weakened adhesion. A) Human keratinocytes with assembled desmosomes were treated with NH or PV IgG for 3 hrs either in the absence or presence of 1 mM m β CD. Dsg3 was detected by live labeling with AK15 for 30 min on ice. Keratinocytes treated with PV IgG exhibit disrupted Dsg3 staining (surface clustering and linear array formation). m β CD treatment prevented both Dsg3 clustering and linear array formation in response to PV IgG. B) m β CD treatment protected desmosomes against PV IgG-induced fragmentation. Means ± SEM (*n* = 4-8 monolayers per group); *p < 0.05. Scale bar in A, 10 μ m.



Figure 14. Model for membrane rafts as platforms for desmosome regulation. Desmosomal protein targeting to membrane rafts is required for the extensive clustering driven by cadherin ectodomain and plaque protein interactions during assembly that yields a mature and tightly packed desmosome. When adhesion is compromised (i.e. in response to PV IgG), clustering in a raft facilitates desmosomal cadherin endocytosis. PG, plakoglobin; pkp, plakophilin; DP, desmoplakin.



Supplemental Figure 1. CD59 is expressed on the surface of HMEC-1 cells. HMEC-1s were unlabeled (no antibody control) or labeled live with FITC-conjugated CD59 for 10 min at 37°C. The cells were then fixed in methanol and imaged. Labeling demonstrated that HMEC-1 cells express CD59. Negative control showed a lack of background fluorescence.

Chapter 6

Super-resolution microscopy reveals altered desmosomal protein organization in pemphigus vulgaris patients

This chapter is adapted from:

Stahley SN, Warren MF, Feldman RJ, Swerlick RA, Mattheyses AL and Kowalczyk AP. 2015. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. *Submitted*.

6.1 Introduction

The desmosome is a robust anchoring junction responsible for strong adhesion between neighboring cells (Berika and Garrod, 2014; Kowalczyk and Green, 2013). Desmosomes are present in all epithelia, but are especially prominent in the skin and the heart (Berika and Garrod, 2014; Desai et al., 2009). Because these tissues experience a high degree of mechanical stress, desmosome dysfunction leads to skin and heart defects that are often characterized by tissue fragility (Al-Jassar et al., 2013; Cirillo, 2014; Kottke et al., 2006; Thomason et al., 2010). The desmosome is comprised of desmosomal cadherins, which engage in extracellular adhesive interactions, and cytoplasmic plaque proteins, including plakoglobin, plakophilin and desmoplakin (Kowalczyk and Green, 2013). Desmogelin (Dsg) and desmocollin are transmembrane proteins of the cadherin superfamily that mediate calcium-dependent adhesive interactions between cells. The armadillo family protein plakoglobin links the cytoplasmic tail of the cadherins to desmoplakin, an intermediate filament binding protein and member of the plakin family of cytolinkers. Plakophilin, also an armadillo protein, facilitates lateral interactions between desmosomal cadherin complexes and further strengthens the plaque (Desai et al., 2009; Kowalczyk and Green, 2013). This architectural arrangement of desmosomal proteins couples extracellular adhesive interactions mediated by the desmosomal cadherins to the intermediate filament cytoskeleton, thereby building an integrated adhesive and cytoskeletal network that extends throughout a tissue (Kowalczyk and Green, 2013).

Desmosome assembly and disassembly dynamics must be precisely controlled to allow for both strong adhesion and tissue integrity, but also for plasticity during processes such as wound healing and development (Nekrasova and Green, 2013). Likewise, alterations in desmosome dynamics are thought to contribute to desmosome disruption and loss of adhesion in disease states, including the autoimmune blistering disease pemphigus vulgaris (PV) (Kitajima, 2013, 2014). Pemphigus is a family of potentially fatal bullous diseases caused by autoantibodies (IgG) directed against the extracellular domain of desmosomal cadherins (Amagai, 2009, 2010). Patients with PV produce autoantibodies that target Dsg3, or both Dsg3 and Dsg1 (Amagai, 2009). PV IgG binding to the desmosomal cadherins results in the loss of keratinocyte adhesion, or acantholysis, between the basal and spinous layers of the epidermis (Amagai, 2010). Clinically, the disease presents as painful mucosal erosions and epidermal blisters (Kneisel and Hertl, 2011a). Although it has been established that anti-Dsg3 antibodies are sufficient to cause disease, the precise pathomechanisms by which PV autoantibodies cause loss of adhesion and blister formation are not fully understood (Stahley and Kowalczyk, 2015).

Much of what we know about PV pathomechanisms comes from *in vitro* work in which cultured keratinocytes are exposed to PV IgG. Previous work by our group and others using cell culture models has revealed that PV IgG cause cell surface Dsg3 to become aberrantly clustered, leading to increased endocytosis and decreased steady state levels of Dsg3 (Calkins *et al.*, 2006; Iwatsuki *et al.*, 1999; Iwatsuki *et al.*, 1989; Jolly *et al.*, 2010; Mao *et al.*, 2014; Mao *et al.*, 2011; Patel *et al.*, 1984; Saito *et al.*, 2012a; Sato *et al.*, 2000). In response to PV IgG, Dsg3 and other desmosomal components arrange into streaks, or linear arrays, which extend perpendicularly from cell-cell borders (Jennings *et al.*, 2011). These structures appear to be associated with lipid raft mediated endocytosis of the Dsg3-PV IgG complex (Delva *et al.*, 2008; Stahley *et al.*, 2014).

Furthermore, multiple signaling pathways, including tyrosine kinases and p38MAPKdependent pathways, have been implicated in PV pathogenesis (Berkowitz et al., 2005; Berkowitz et al., 2006; Chernyavsky et al., 2007; Delva et al., 2008; Getsios et al., 2004b; Jolly et al., 2010; Koga et al., 2013; Nguyen et al., 2000; Saito et al., 2012a; Sanchez-Carpintero et al., 2004; Sayar et al., 2014; Seishima et al., 1999; Spindler and Waschke, 2011; Waschke et al., 2006; Williamson et al., 2006). Finally, there is substantial evidence suggesting that steric hindrance of Dsg3 mediated adhesion causes keratinocyte acantholysis. The majority of autoantibodies isolated from PV patients are directed against the amino terminal domain of Dsg3, a region of cadherins known to mediate adhesion (Amagai et al., 1992; Di Zenzo et al., 2012; Sekiguchi et al., 2001). Further, monoclonal Dsg3 antibodies that target the adhesive interface cause loss of adhesion in cultured keratinocytes and blistering in mouse models of disease (Payne et al., 2005; Tsunoda et al., 2003). Thus, a large number of studies suggest that multiple mechanisms, perhaps acting synergistically, contribute to PV pathogenesis. However, previous studies have not systematically and directly compared the effects of PV IgG on desmosomal protein organization and function in cell culture models to alterations that occur in PV patient skin.

A significant gap in our understanding of PV pathomechanisms in patients is due to the difficulty in assessing the organization and localization of the various desmosomal proteins in multiple patients at high levels of spatial resolution. While ultrastructural approaches such as electron microscopy provide high resolution, this approach is limited by difficult sample preparation, small sample size, and the challenges associated with quantitatively assessing the colocalization of various desmosomal proteins with other cellular antigens. In contrast, optical microscopy approaches such as wide-field and confocal immunofluorescence allow for high throughput of samples, but suffer from a lack of spatial resolution sufficient to discern how desmosome structure is altered in disease states such as PV.

Here, we take advantage of recent advances in optical imaging approaches that bridge the resolution gap between electron microscopy and standard immunofluorescence imaging. Using structured illumination microscopy (SIM), a form of super-resolution optical imaging (Galbraith and Galbraith, 2011), we assessed how desmosomes are altered in the skin of PV patients. Further, we directly compared the changes in desmosomes that we observed in patient skin with the alterations in desmosomal protein organization that PV IgG cause in vitro. Our results indicate that desmosomal protein clustering and Dsg endocytosis occur in patient skin, and that these changes are associated with reduced desmosome size and with splitting of the desmosome at the Dsg adhesive interface. We further demonstrate that desmosome splitting can be replicated in cultured keratinocytes by exposing PV IgG treated cells to mechanical stress. These findings reveal new insights into the changes in desmosomal protein organization, trafficking and function that occur in PV patient tissue, and serve to validate the use of purified PV IgG and cultured keratinocytes as an invaluable model system to understand PV pathomechanisms.

6.2 Results and discussion

6.2.1 PV IgG causes desmosomal protein clustering in patient tissue and in cultured keratinocytes
Desmosomal protein organization in the basal layer of the epidermis of normal human (NH) and PV patient tissue was analyzed using structured-illumination microscopy (SIM). PV patients with severe clinical blistering and high Dsg3 ELISA scores (>100) were selected for analysis. Both mucosal dominant and muccocutaneous PV variants were analyzed, as well as lip and skin biopsy sites (Supplemental Table 1).

Biopsies from normal human epidermis were negative for hIgG deposition (Figure 15a). SIM imaging revealed uniform organization of Dsg3, desmoplakin and Ecadherin along cell borders (Figure 15a, top panel). In contrast, PV patient skin exhibited hIgG deposition and disrupted Dsg3 and desmoplakin organization. Importantly, Ecadherin staining remained largely unaltered (Figure 15a, bottom panel). Alterations in junctional protein organization were quantified using a clustering index derived from measurements of the distance between peak fluorescence intensity along cell borders ((Saito et al., 2012a) and Methods). Average Dsg3 and desmoplakin clustering was found to be increased significantly in PV patients (Figure 15b). Clustering scores from individual patients are displayed in Supplemental Figure 2. Altered organization of desmosomal proteins was also observed in lip biopsies from PV patients (Supplemental Figure 3). In addition to Dsg3 and desmoplakin, the desmosomal plaque protein plakoglobin also displayed altered organization in PV patient lip mucosa and epidermis (Supplemental Figure 4). Lastly, we verified that the IgG from each patient analyzed in Figure 15 caused similar alterations in Dsg3 organization in vitro. Samples of IgG from each patient were added to cultured keratinocytes and Dsg3 clustering was assessed. Similar to patient tissue, Dsg3 was also clustered by the IgG from all six PV patients

tested (Figure 15c). Collectively, these results demonstrate that clustering of desmosomal proteins is a hallmark feature of both PV IgG treated cells and patient tissue.

6.2.2 PV IgG associates with lipid raft enriched linear array structures in vivo and is trafficked to endosomes

Dsg3 and other desmosomal proteins have been found to enter linearly organized membranes, or linear arrays, extending perpendicularly from cell-cell borders in both cultured cells and in human epidermal explants exposed to PV IgG (Jennings *et al.*, 2011; Stahley *et al.*, 2014). These linear arrays in cell culture models are enriched in lipid raft markers (Stahley et al., 2014) and are thought to be sites for desmosome disassembly and endocytosis (Jennings et al., 2011). Using SIM analysis of PV patient tissue, we observed that desmoplakin, plakoglobin and the lipid raft marker CD59 colocalized with hIgG in linear array-like structures in PV patient tissue (Figure 16). Similar to cultured cells, adherens junction markers such as E-cadherin (Figure 16) were not detected in linear arrays. To examine further if the Dsg-PV IgG complex colocalizes with lipid raft markers in vivo, PV patient issue was immunostained for hIgG and multiple lipid raft markers. Patient IgG (hIgG) colocalized with raft markers CD59 and caveolin-1 both at cell borders and in vesicular-like puncta (Figure 17a). A number of studies using cell culture models of PV have found that the PV IgG-Dsg complex is internalized from the plasma membrane, resulting in degradation of Dsg3 and reduced plasma membrane levels of the adhesive protein (Calkins et al., 2006; Cirillo et al., 2007; Delva et al., 2008; Jolly et al., 2010; Kitajima, 2014; Mao et al., 2014; Mao et al., 2011; Saito et al., 2012a; Sato et al., 2000; Schulze *et al.*, 2012). To determine if human PV IgG is internalized to endocytic

compartments in patient tissue, biopsy sections were stained for hIgG and the early endosomal marker EEA-1. Nearly every cell, particularly near sites of blister formation, displayed multiple puncta at or near the cell periphery containing hIgG and EEA1 (Figure 17b). Interestingly, steady state Dsg3 levels were decreased in PV patient tissue compared to normal human control tissue (Figure 17c, Supplemental Figure 5), further suggesting that PV IgG induces Dsg3 endocytosis and degradation in patient tissue.

6.2.3 Desmosomes are smaller and split in PV patients

Ultrastructural studies of desmosome morphology in PV patient skin and mouse models of disease have suggested that desmosomes either split at the adhesive interface or are reduced in size in tissues exposed to pathogenic IgG (Shimizu *et al.*, 2004; van der Wier *et al.*, 2014). Here, we utilized SIM imaging to assess desmosome morphology in patient skin, and to directly compare these changes to cultured keratinocytes exposed to patient IgG. We took advantage of previous immune-gold EM studies defining the position of various desmosomal proteins (North *et al.*, 1999) and the sub-diffraction limit resolution of SIM in order to identify bona fide desmosomes in tissues and cells using immunofluorescence localization. Using this approach, antibodies directed against the carboxyl terminal domain of desmoplakin result in a "rail-road track" pattern of fluorescence that defines the localization of the desmosomal plaque, whereas antibodies against the Dsg extracellular domain identify the adhesive core (Supplemental Figure 6).

This pattern of desmoplakin rail-road track staining was used to identify and measure desmosome size in human tissue. Desmosomes in NH samples averaged 0.43 microns in size, while desmosomes in PV patients were significantly smaller, averaging 0.35 microns (Figure 18a,c). This observation is consistent with recent electron microscopy studies of PV patients (van der Wier et al., 2014) and analysis of desmosomes in cultured keratinocytes treated with PV IgG (Saito et al., 2012a; Tucker et al., 2014). Interestingly, SIM microscopy and dual label immunofluorescence for both desmoplakin and hIgG revealed two types of fluorescence staining patterns (Figure 18b). When desmoplakin railroad track staining was intact, we often observed hIgG deposited in the desmosome core (red) and bracketed by desmoplakin staining on opposing keratinocyte membranes (green). A few instances of desmoplakin railroad track staining devoid of hIgG deposition in the desmosomal core were also observed, possibly indicating Dsg-depleted desmosomes (Supplemental figure 7). In addition, we observed numerous split desmosomes in which hIgG (red) was adjacent to only one "rail" of desmoplakin staining (green) (Figure 18b, asterisks), indicating desmosome splitting. The presence of split desmosomes in patients and mouse models of PV has been attributed to pathogenic antibodies physically interfering with, or sterically hindering, desmosomal cadherin adhesive interactions. If steric hindrance were the sole mechanism for loss of adhesion, we would predict that desmosomes would be split but remain otherwise unchanged morphologically. Interestingly, the majority of split desmosomes in PV patient tissue were also found to be smaller than intact desmosomes in NH tissue (Figure 18c). The observation that desmosomes are smaller and split supports a pathomechanism model for PV that includes altered desmosome assembly or disassembly dynamics, in addition to steric hindrance.

6.2.4 Mechanical stress causes desmosome splitting

Our analysis of patient tissue using SIM revealed striking similarities in desmosomal protein organization and trafficking in cultured keratinocyte models and PV patient skin. However, split desmosomes have not been reported in cell culture models of disease. We reasoned that desmosomes do not split in culture because the cells, unlike patient tissue, are not exposed to mechanical stress. To test the hypothesis that mechanical stress causes desmosome splitting, cultured keratinocyte monolayers were subjected to a dispase cell fragmentation assay (Ishii et al., 2005) and then processed for immunofluorescence analysis by SIM. Similar to normal human tissue, the keratinocyte cell sheet exposed to NH IgG remained adhesive and numerous intact desmosomes were observed (Figure 19). As expected, keratinocytes exposed to PV IgG dissociated upon exposure to mechanical stress. SIM analysis of the free edge of the fragmented cell sheet exposed to PV IgG revealed extensive desmosome splitting (Figure 19) that was strikingly similar to that observed at the blister edge in PV patient biopsies (Figure 18b). These results indicate that the application of mechanical force causes desmosomes that are weakened by PV IgG to split at the adhesive interface.

6.2.5 Conclusions and implications

In this study, sub-diffraction limit optical microscopy and immunofluorescence imaging revealed changes in desmosomal protein distribution and trafficking that occur in PV patient epidermis. We compared these changes in patient tissue to those that occur in cultured keratinocytes exposed to PV IgG. In both cases, desmosomal proteins become clustered, enter lipid raft-enriched linear arrays, and are internalized to endosomes. These changes are accompanied by a reduction in steady state Dsg3 levels, as well as a reduction in desmosome size. High resolution imaging also revealed examples of individual desmosomes in patient tissue that were depleted of desmogleins. It is likely that these changes, along with the ability of PV IgG to sterically interfere with desmosomal cadherin adhesion, compromise desmosome function, resulting in mechanical failure upon exposure to mechanical stress. Indeed, desmosome splitting could be recapitulated *in vitro* by exposing PV IgG treated keratinocytes to physical forces. These results support a multifactorial model in which PV IgG weaken cell adhesion by altering desmosomal protein distribution, by perturbing the dynamics of desmosome assembly and/or disassembly, and by sterically interfering with adhesion (Kitajima, 2013, 2014; Stahley and Kowalczyk, 2015). Lastly, this study provides a foundation for using advanced optical imaging techniques to investigate alterations in epidermal adhesion structures in a variety of epidermal diseases, and for the development of new optical imaging-based diagnostic metrics for pemphigus and related disorders.

6.3 Materials and methods

Antibodies. The following antibodies were used in this study: mouse anti-Dsg3 antibody AK15 (Tsunoda 2003) was a kind gift from Dr. Masayuki Amagai (Keio University, Tokyo); rabbit anti-desmoplakin antibody NW6 was a kind gift from Dr. Kathleen Green (Northwestern University); mouse anti-desmoplakin I/II antibody (Fitzgerald, Acton, MA); rabbit anti-γ-catenin (plakoglobin, H-80) and rabbit anti-p120 antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA); mouse anti-E-cadherin and rabbit anti-caveolin-1 antibodies (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA); mouse anti-CD59-FITC conjugated antibody (Millipore, Billerica, MA; Invitrogen); rabbit anti-early endosomal antigen-1 antibody (EEA1) (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). Secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluors were purchased from Invitrogen. PV sera used in Figure 19 was a generous gift from Dr. M. Amagai. PV patient sera used in all other Figures was obtained from patients seen at Emory University, Department of Dermatology. IgG was purified from PV sera according to the manufacturer's protocol using Melon Gel IgG Purification Resins and Kits (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL).

Human Skin Biopsy Processing. Perilesional biopsies from patients seen at the Emory Clinic Dermatology Department were collected and stored at -80°C. 5 µm sections from the biopsies were mounted onto glass slides and processed for immunostaining as described below.

Cells and Culture Conditions. Primary human keratinocytes (HKs, passage 2 or 4) were isolated as previously described (Calkins *et al.*, 2006)and cultured in KBM-Gold basal medium (100 μ M calcium) supplemented with KGM-Gold Single-Quot Kit (Lonza, Walkersville, MD). For Figure 15c, HKs were cultured to 70% confluence on glass coverslips and switched to 550 μ M calcium 16-18 hrs to induce junction assembly. HKs were exposed to NH IgG or IgG from PV patients for 6 hrs at 37°C, processed for wide-field immunofluorescence and then analyzed for clustering as described below. For dispase assay in Figure 19, HKs were cultured to 100% confluence in 4-well tissue culture plates and switched to 50 μ M calcium for 3 hrs to allow for junction assembly. HKs

were exposed to NH or PV IgG (100 μ g/mL) for 3hrs at 37°C and processed for a dispase fragmentation assay followed by N-SIM, as described below.

Immunofluorescence. Patient tissue slices were allowed to come to room temperature and immunostained with primary and secondary antibodies for 1 hr each at room temperature with triple PBS⁺ washes between antibody incubations. HKs in Figure 15 were fixed in methanol and processed for immunfluorescence. Primary antibodies described above were detected with Alexa Fluor-conjugated secondary antibodies. Widefield fluorescence microscopy was performed as previously described (Stahley *et al.*, 2014). Super-resolution microscopy was performed using a Nikon N-SIM system on an Eclipse Ti-E microscope system. The N-SIM system was equipped with a 100x/1.49 NA oil immersion objective and 488- and 561-nm solid-state lasers in 3D structured illumination microscopy mode. Images were captured with an EM charge-coupled device camera (DU-897, Andor Technology) and reconstructed using NIS-Elements software with the N-SIM module (version 3.22, Nikon).

Clustering analysis. Protein clustering was measured as previously described (Saito *et al.*, 2012a). Briefly, lines were drawn along cell borders to measure fluorescence intensity using ImageJ Fiji software (NIH, Bethesda, MD). MATLAB was used to count peaks which were defined by a slope of zero. Increased distance between peaks indicates increased clustering. The clustering index was calculated by dividing the ratio of peaks per given distance by one.

Dispase-based fragmentation assay with immunofluorescenc. Following PV IgG treatment, cells were subjected to a dispase fragmentation assay as previously described (Saito *et al.*, 2012a). In parallel, cell sheets/fragments were fixed in paraformaldehyde, permeablized in Triton X-100 and incubated with primary and secondary antibodies in the tissue culture wells. Gentle washes with PBS⁺ were carried out between Triton and antibody incubations. Cell sheets/fragments were then mounted in ProLong Gold (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) and then imaged by N-SIM.

Statistics. Statistical analysis was performed using a *t*-test assuming unequal variances with a significance level of 0.05 and comparing the PV group to NH.



Figure 15. PV IgG causes desmosomal protein clustering in patient tissue and in cultured keratinocytes. a) Top panel: Normal human (NH) epidermal tissue is negative for IgG (hIgG) deposition and junctional proteins desmoglein 3 (Dsg3), desmoplakin (DP) and E-cadherin (Ecad) are uniformly distributed along cell borders. Bottom panel: PV patient epidermis is positive for hIgG deposition and border localization of Dsg3 and DP is highly disorganized and clustered. Ecad staining is largely unaltered. D, dermis. Solid line, epidermis-dermis interface. Images oriented dermis down. Scale bar, 5 µm. b) Quantification of protein clustering. Means \pm SEM; *p < 0.05 (Dsg3 – 0.0003, DP – 0.0227, Ecad – 0.0046). c) Quantification of average Dsg3 clustering using patient sera (P1-6) added to cultured keratinocytes. Means \pm SEM, *p<0.05.



Figure 16. PV IgG associates with linear arrays. PV patient IgG (hIgG) is found in

linear array structures (yellow arrows) and colocalizes with raft marker CD59,

desmoplakin (DP) and plakoglobin (PG) in biopsies from PV patient tissue. E-cadherin

(Ecad) does not colocalize with hIgG in linear arrays. Images oriented with cell-cell

borders vertical. Scale bar, 1 µm.



Figure 17. PV patient IgG colocalizes with lipid raft and endosomal markers. a) Colocalization of PV patient IgG (hIgG) with lipid raft markers CD59 (top panel) and caveolin-1 (bottom panel). Colocalization is observed both at cell borders and in vesicular-like structures (asterisks). Scale bar, 5 μ m. b) PV IgG (hIgG) colocalizes with early endosomal marker EEA1. Zooms highlight vesicular colocalization. Scale bar, 2 μ m. c) Quantification of Dsg3 protein levels relative to p120 in normal and PV patient tissue. Means ± SEM; *p < 0.05.



Figure 18. Desmosomes in PV patients are smaller and split. Normal human (NH) and PV patient biopsies stained for desmoplakin (green) and hIgG (red) were imaged by SIM. Supplemental Figure 6 details the staining scheme. Desmosomes appear as regions of parallel desmoplakin staining along cell borders, referred to as 'rail-road' tracks, which were used to identify and measure desmosome size. **a**) Desmoplakin staining. Arrows (oriented toward intercellular space) highlight smaller desmosomes. Scale bar, 0.5 μ m. **b**) Many split (or half) desmosomes with IgG staining (asterisks) are observed adjacent to the blister space. Arrowheads, small but intact desmosomes. Scale bar, 0.5 μ m. **c**) Quantification of desmosome size. Means ± SEM; * p < 0.05 comparing PV-whole or PV-split to NH.



Figure 19. Mechanical stress causes desmosome splitting in cultured keratinocytes exposed to PV IgG. Keratinocyte monolayers exposed to either normal human (NH) or PV IgG were subjected to mechanical stress by repeated pipetting and then processed for structured illumination microscopy. The keratinocyte sheet exposed to NH IgG display intact desmosomes at cell borders indicated by the green-red-green 'rail-road' track staining pattern (zoom, top panel). The free edge of the fragmented sheet exposed to PV IgG exhibits multiple split desmosomes (zoom, bottom panel) indicated by only a green-red staining. Scale bar, $0.5 \mu m$.

Biopsy	Patient	ELISA Score	
Site	ID#	α-Dsg1	α-Dsg3
skin	P1	128	178
	P2	217	146
	P3	18	166
lip	P4	176	196
	P5	36	164
	P6	0	114

Supplemental Table 1. PV patient ELISA scores.



Supplemental Figure 2. Clustering analysis of individual samples used in figure 15.

a-c) Quantification of Dsg3 (**a**), desmoplakin (DP) (**b**) and E-cadherin (Ecad) (**c**) clustering *in vivo*. **d**) Quantification of Dsg3 clustering in cultured keratinocytes exposed to either NH IgG or IgG from PV patients (P) 1-6.



Supplemental Figure 3. Altered desmosomal protein organization in PV patient lip tissue. Top panel: Control (non-PV) mucosal tissue is negative for IgG (hIgG) deposition and junctional proteins desmoglein 3 (Dsg3) and desmoplakin (DP) uniformly distributed along cell borders. Bottom panel: PV patient mucosa is positive for hIgG deposition and border localization of Dsg3 and DP is highly disorganized and clustered. D, dermis. Solid line, dermis interface. B, blister space. Dashed line, blister floor or roof. Images oriented dermis down. Scale bar, 5 μm.



Supplemental Figure 4. Altered plakoglobin organization in PV patient tissue. Top panel: Control (NH, skin and non-PV, lip) tissue displays uniform border localization of plakoglobin. Bottom panel: Disrupted and clustered plakoglobin staining in PV patient tissue. D, dermis. Solid line, dermis interface. B, blister space. Images are oriented dermis down. Scale bar, 5 μm.



Supplemental Figure 5. Dsg3 levels are decreased in PV patient tissue. Dsg3 levels were analyzed via widefield microscopy and normalized to adherens junction protein p120 (Figure 17c). Total Dsg3 levels were slightly decreased in PV patient tissue, particularly in basal cell keratinocytes. D, dermis. Solid line, epidermis-dermis interface. Scale bar, 20 μm.



Supplemental Figure 6. Viewing desmosome 'rail-road' tracks via SIM. a)

Simplified desmosome schematic depicting staining with N-terminal Dsg3 antibody (hIgG if in patient tissue) and a C-terminal desmoplakin (DP) antibody. **b**) SIM is able to resolve the distance from plaque to plaque and thus desmosomes appear as regions of parallel desmoplakin staining along a cell border (1) or a sandwich of DP-Dsg3-DP staining (2). Split desmosomes appear as regions of green-red staining (3). **c**) *In vivo* examples of desmosome staining depicted in (B).



Supplemental Figure 7. Dsg-depleted desmosomes in PV patient tissue. Patient tissue stained for desmoplakin (DP) and hIgG (red). Arrows highlight desmosome railroad tracks lacking hIgG staining. Scale bar, 1 μm.

Chapter 7

Summary and future directions

The overall goal of this dissertation was to investigate the significance of desmosomal raft association and to define the desmosomal alterations in patients with the skin blistering disease pemphigus vulgaris (PV). Previously, PV IgG-induced Dsg3 endocytosis was found to occur via a raft-mediated pathway, yet PV pathomechanisms in vivo remained largely unknown. Specifically, the work presented in this dissertation sought to achieve the following objectives: 1) to determine if Dsg3 and other desmosomal proteins are raft associated biochemically, 2) to analyze the role of raft microdomains in regulating desmosome assembly and PV IgG-induced disassembly and 3) to define the desmosomal alterations in PV patients. Using biochemical and superresolution imaging approaches, the dynamics of desmosome assembly and disassembly were determined to be raft-dependent. These dynamics were found to be disrupted in PV patients, leading to the loss of adhesion through altered desmosomal protein organization. The studies presented in this dissertation have advanced our understanding of desmosome dynamics in adhesion and disease, but have also raised additional questions for future investigation that will be discussed next.

What regulates Dsg3 raft association?

The study in chapter 5 demonstrated that Dsg3, along with other desmosomal proteins, targets to raft microdomains biochemically (Figure 7) and that Dsg3 colocalized with raft markers CD59 and caveolin-1 by super-resolution microscopy (Figure 8). Further, desmosome assembly and disassembly required functional raft domains (Figures 9 and 13). It remains to be elucidated how Dsg3 targets to rafts. Dsg3 raft targeting could be regulated by at least three mechanisms: post-translational lipid modifications, the transmembrane domain or by protein-protein interactions with other raftophilic desmosomal proteins, or even a combination of these mechanisms.

Palmitovlation is considered to be the primary mechanism by which transmembrane proteins target to rafts and as the only reversible post-translational lipid modification, it has been suggested to regulate dynamic raft targeting (Aicart-Ramos et al., 2011; Levental et al., 2010b; Simons and Sampaio, 2011). Palmitoylation typically occurs on one or more membrane-proximal cysteine residues (Levental et al., 2010a). Interestingly, Dsg3 along with all the other desmosomal cadherins, contains highly conserved cysteine residues immediately adjacent to the transmembrane domain (not shown). These residues have recently been confirmed to be palmitolayted (Lewis, Wahl and Kowalczyk, *unpublished*). Surprisingly, current studies in the lab indicate that Dsg3 lacking these residues required for palmitoylation still partitioned to rafts (not shown). These results are consistent with other studies indicating that palmitoylation is not always sufficient for raft-targeting (Simons and Toomre, 2000). Ongoing studies in the lab are focused on the possible role of the Dsg3 transmembrane domain in raft targeting. The desmosomal cadherins contain an extended transmembrane domain, a typical feature of raft transmembrane domains (McIntosh et al., 2003; Vidal and McIntosh, 2005). Preliminary experiments do suggest the Dsg3 transmembrane domain is critical for raft affinity. Yet, this does not preclude a role for Dsg3 palymitoylation. It is likely that both the transmembrane domain and palmitoylation contribute to raft association. Future studies will investigate the contribution of palmitoylation in regulating Dsg3 mobility and/or stability. Based on the work presented in Chapter 5 demonstrating that Dsg3 raft association directly correlated with desmosomal assembly and functional adhesion, Dsg3

defective in either raft targeting or altered raft dynamics would be predicted to negatively impact desmosomal adhesion.

Dsg3 failed to partition to rafts in CHO cells or HMEC-1s (Figure 11), suggesting that other proteins also play a role in Dsg3 raft targeting. Neither of these cell types assemble desmosomes and lack expression of multiple desmosomal proteins. This experiment is consistent with the observation that there is a strong correlation between desmosome assembly and Dsg3 raft association (Figures 9-11). Epithelial cells lacking E-cadherin (A431Ds) do not form adherens junctions and also do not form desmosomes (Kim *et al.*, 2000; Lewis *et al.*, 1997). Surprisingly, preliminary data indicates that Dsg3 still partitions to rafts in A431Ds, even though desmosomes do not assemble (not shown). These cells express all the desmosomal proteins suggesting that other desmosomal proteins interacting domains will prove useful in identifying Dsg3 binding partners that mediate Dsg3 raft association. Both loss of function experiments using A431D cells, as well as gain of function experiments using CHO cells or HMEC-1s will help determine the desmosomal proteins responsible for Dsg3 raft association.

Are there distinct raft-mediated pathways that mediate Dsg3 endocytosis?

Studies have shown that within the umbrella of raft endocytosis, proteins can be targeted to different endocytic pathways (El-Sayed and Harashima, 2013; Hansen and Nichols, 2009; Lajoie and Nabi, 2010). For example, the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) has been shown to undergo both dynamin-dependent and –independent raft endocytosis under different cellular conditions (Lajoie and Nabi, 2010). There is

evidence to suggest that Dsg3 raft endocytosis might occur via different mechanisms, as well. Biochemically, desmosomal proteins have been classified to either partition to a 'desmosomal' or 'non-desmosomal' pool (Palka and Green, 1997). Are non-desmosomal and desmosomal Dsg3-interalization regulated by distinct mechanisms? Previous work from the lab convincingly demonstrated that PV IgG-induced Dsg3 endocytosis was caveolin- and dynamin-independent (Delva *et al.*, 2008). However, these studies were performed with relatively short time periods of PV IgG treatment, ranging from 1-2 hrs. During this period of time, the desmosomal pool of Dsg3 is largely unaffected and only the non-desmosomal pool of Dsg3 is internalized (Jennings *et al.*, 2011). Overexpression of the plaque protein PKP1 results in extremely robust desmosomes (larger and hyperadhesive) that are resistant to PV IgG-induced loss of adhesion (Tucker *et al.*, 2014). PKP1 expression however, does not prevent Dsg3 endocytosis of the non-desmosomal pool (Tucker and Kowalczyk, *unpublished*) suggesting that these pools of Dsg3 are regulated by different mechanisms, yet share raft commonality.

Over longer periods of time, the desmosomal pool of protein is affected and eventually down-regulated. A time course study analyzing keratinocyte responses following PV IgG treatment revealed distinguishable phases of PV IgG-induced desmosomal alterations. A prominent feature in the 2-6 hr PV IgG treatment window is that desmosomal components rearrange into linear arrays, dynamic structures that form at cell borders and extend perpendicularly toward the cell center. Additionally, time lapse microscopy revealed that endocytic vesicles bud off linear array tips. Linear arrays contain all the desmosomal components, including obligate desmosomal protein desmoplakin, suggesting that these structures likely represent turnover of the desmosomal pool of Dsg3 (Jennings *et al.*, 2011). One prediction would be that linear arrays should not form in cells in which Dsg3 targets to rafts but does not form desmosomes (such as A431Ds, not shown) following PV IgG treatment, though Dsg3 should still undergo raft endocytosis.

Internalization of desmosomal Dsg3 via linear arrays might require different regulatory mechanisms than the rapid non-desmosomal internalization does. Work presented in Chapter 5 indicated that linear arrays are enriched in raft components by super-resolution SIM (Figure 12) and that their formation was raft-dependent (Figure 13). It remains unknown whether desmosomal Dsg3 endoctyosis via PV IgG-induced linear arrays would also be perturbed by inhibiting dynamin and caveolin function. By SIM, caveolin-1 was heavily enriched in these structures and caveolin-1 puncta were observed at the tip of nearly every array (Figure 12, additional data not shown), possibly indicating a role for caveolae in endocytic budding from array tips. Interestingly, p38MAPK inhibition protects against PV (Berkowitz et al., 2006; Saito et al., 2012a) but linear arrays still form to some extent (not shown). Vesicle budding at array tips appeared to be perturbed, while broader signaling inhibition with a pan tyrosine kinase inhibitor prevented all morphological Dsg3 changes (Dsg3 clustering and linear array formation) (not shown). These results suggest that Dsg3 raft endocytosis of the non-desmosomal pool that is caveolin- and dynamin-independent, but that internalization of desmosomal pools of Dsg3 via linear arrays is caveolin- and p38MAPK-dependent. Future studies are needed to test this possibility.

What morphological features of PV correlate with disease severity?

The work presented in Chapter 6, for the first time, directly compared the morphological observations in PV patients to the desmosomal alterations that have been characterized *in vitro*. This study has validated use of the *in vitro* cell culture model system and will prove invaluable to future PV studies. Precise disease pathomechanisms that have been confirmed to occur in patients can now be investigated in detail using the in vitro model system. An important future direction will be determining if the morphological criteria used to evaluate patient tissue can also be used to generate a clinical readout that quantifies disease severity, such as the clustering index used to measure desmosomal protein clustering in Figure 15. Clinically, patients are characterized by their pemphigus disease area index (PDAI) score (Daniel et al., 2012; Rosenbach et al., 2009), a standardized and quantitative measure of disease activity, and their Dsg1/3 antibody titer or ELISA scores. Generally, PDAI scores are positively correlated with ELISA scores (not shown), i.e. patients with high antibody titers present with more severe blistering. However, there are exceptions to this generality (Patsatsi et al., 2014), and ELISA scores do not provide a functional readout for IgG pathogenicity, which is likely to vary between patients. In contrast, desmosomal protein clustering in patient tissue presumably reflects pathogenic activity of patient IgG.

The clustering index needs to be validated by comparing clustering both in a patient's biopsy and *in vitro*, to their clinical PDAI and ELISA scores. We predict that patients with high PDAI and high ELISA scores will correspondingly display a high degree of Dsg3 clustering. Clustering of obligate desmosomal protein desmoplakin (DP) should also be evaluated. If clustering of either Dsg3 or DP proves to be an accurate index of disease severity, it could potentially be used by physicians to determine how

aggressively a particular patient should be treated. Might linear arrays also be indicative of disease severity? The fact that linear arrays have now been observed in cultured keratinocytes (Figures 12, 13, (Jennings *et al.*, 2011), in human skin explants (Figure 12) and in PV patient biopsies (Figure 16) strongly supports a pathogenic role for linear arrays in PV, and thus they might also be indicative of disease severity. As discussed above for Dsg3 endocytosis, the degree of clustering and the degree of linear array formation (turnover of the desmosomal pool) could be different and thus indicate differences in the pathogenicity of a patient's IgG. Standardized clustering and linear array indices could prove valuable for treatment as well as therapy development for PV.

Concluding remarks

The research in this dissertation has made important contributions to the field of desmosome biology by revealing that raft microdomains modulate the dynamics of desmosome assembly and disassembly, and that these dynamics are altered in pemphigus vulgaris. Studies aimed at defining the raft- and desmosome-targeting mechanisms of the desmosomal proteins, as well as, their spatial organization will uncover key regulatory mechanisms of desmosome biology. Further, the super-resolution analysis of PV patient tissue in combination with cell culture experiments has identified hallmark features of the disease that occur both in patients and in cultured keratinocytes. Future studies utilizing the cell culture model system will help to define the precise cellular mechanisms that regulate the desmosomal alterations observed *in vivo*. These types of studies will allow for the development of optimal therapies for pemphigus and related disorders of the desmosome, further advancing the field of desmosome biology.

References

Aicart-Ramos C, Valero RA, Rodriguez-Crespo I (2011) Protein palmitoylation and subcellular trafficking. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1808:2981-94.

Al-Amoudi A, Frangakis AS (2008) Structural studies on desmosomes. *Biochemical Society transactions* 36:181-7.

Al-Jassar C, Bikker H, Overduin M, Chidgey M (2013) Mechanistic basis of desmosome-targeted diseases. *Journal of molecular biology* 425:4006-22.

Allen CM, Camisa C (2000) Paraneoplastic pemphigus: a review of the literature. *Oral diseases* 6:208-14.

Aloia RC, Jensen FC, Curtain CC, Mobley PW, Gordon LM (1988) Lipid composition and fluidity of the human immunodeficiency virus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 85:900-4.

Aloia RC, Tian H, Jensen FC (1993) Lipid composition and fluidity of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope and host cell plasma membranes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 90:5181-5.

Amagai M (1999) Autoimmunity against desmosomal cadherins in pemphigus. *Journal of dermatological science* 20:92-102.

Amagai M (2009) The molecular logic of pemphigus and impetigo: the desmoglein story. *Veterinary dermatology* 20:308-12.

Amagai M (2010) Autoimmune and infectious skin diseases that target desmogleins. *Proceedings* of the Japan Academy Series B, Physical and biological sciences 86:524-37.

Amagai M, Hashimoto T, Green KJ, Shimizu N, Nishikawa T (1995) Antigen-specific immunoadsorption of pathogenic autoantibodies in pemphigus foliaceus. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 104:895-901.

Amagai M, Hashimoto T, Shimizu N, Nishikawa T (1994) Absorption of pathogenic autoantibodies by the extracellular domain of pemphigus vulgaris antigen (Dsg3) produced by baculovirus. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 94:59-67.

Amagai M, Karpati S, Prussick R, Klaus-Kovtun V, Stanley JR (1992) Autoantibodies against the amino-terminal cadherin-like binding domain of pemphigus vulgaris antigen are pathogenic. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 90:919-26.

Amagai M, Klaus-Kovtun V, Stanley JR (1991) Autoantibodies against a novel epithelial cadherin in pemphigus vulgaris, a disease of cell adhesion. *Cell* 67:869-77.

Amagai M, Matsuyoshi N, Wang ZH, Andl C, Stanley JR (2000) Toxin in bullous impetigo and staphylococcal scalded-skin syndrome targets desmoglein 1. *Nature medicine* 6:1275-7.

Amagai M, Nishikawa T, Nousari HC, Anhalt GJ, Hashimoto T (1998) Antibodies against desmoglein 3 (pemphigus vulgaris antigen) are present in sera from patients with paraneoplastic

pemphigus and cause acantholysis in vivo in neonatal mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 102:775-82.

Amagai M, Stanley JR (2012) Desmoglein as a target in skin disease and beyond. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 132:776-84.

Amerian ML, Ahmed AR (1985) Pemphigus erythematosus. Senear-Usher syndrome. International journal of dermatology 24:16-25.

Anand P, Kunnumakkara AB, Sundaram C, Harikumar KB, Tharakan ST, Lai OS, Sung B, Aggarwal BB (2008) Cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes. *Pharmaceutical research* 25:2097-116.

Anhalt GJ, Diaz LA (2004) Pemphigus vulgaris--a model for cutaneous autoimmunity. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 51:S20-1.

Anhalt GJ, Kim SC, Stanley JR, Korman NJ, Jabs DA, Kory M, Izumi H, Ratrie H, 3rd, Mutasim D, Ariss-Abdo L, et al. (1990) Paraneoplastic pemphigus. An autoimmune mucocutaneous disease associated with neoplasia. *The New England journal of medicine* 323:1729-35.

Anhalt GJ, Labib RS, Voorhees JJ, Beals TF, Diaz LA (1982) Induction of pemphigus in neonatal mice by passive transfer of IgG from patients with the disease. *The New England journal of medicine* 306:1189-96.

Aoki V, Sousa JX, Jr., Diaz LA, Cooperative Group on Fogo Selvagem R (2011) Pathogenesis of endemic pemphigus foliaceus. *Dermatologic clinics* 29:413-8, viii.

Aoyama Y, Kitajima Y (1999) Pemphigus vulgaris-IgG causes a rapid depletion of desmoglein 3 (Dsg3) from the Triton X-100 soluble pools, leading to the formation of Dsg3-depleted desmosomes in a human squamous carcinoma cell line, DJM-1 cells. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 112:67-71.

Ariyawardana A, Tilakaratne WM, Dissanayake M, Vitanaarachchi N, Basnayake LK, Sitheeque MA, Ranasinghe AW (2005) Oral pemphigus vulgaris in children and adolescents: a review of the literature and a case report. *International journal of paediatric dentistry / the British Paedodontic Society [and] the International Association of Dentistry for Children* 15:287-93.

Balamuth F, Brogdon JL, Bottomly K (2004) CD4 raft association and signaling regulate molecular clustering at the immunological synapse site. *Journal of immunology* 172:5887-92.

Bang B, Gniadecki R, Gajkowska B (2005) Disruption of lipid rafts causes apoptotic cell death in HaCaT keratinocytes. *Experimental dermatology* 14:266-72.

Bass-Zubek AE, Godsel LM, Delmar M, Green KJ (2009) Plakophilins: multifunctional scaffolds for adhesion and signaling. *Current opinion in cell biology* 21:708-16.

Beaudry VG, Jiang D, Dusek RL, Park EJ, Knezevich S, Ridd K, Vogel H, Bastian BC, Attardi LD (2010) Loss of the p53/p63 regulated desmosomal protein Perp promotes tumorigenesis. *PLoS genetics* 6:e1001168.

Bektas M, Jolly PS, Berkowitz P, Amagai M, Rubenstein DS (2013) A pathophysiologic role for epidermal growth factor receptor in pemphigus acantholysis. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 288:9447-56.

Berika M, Garrod D (2014) Desmosomal adhesion in vivo. *Cell communication & adhesion* 21:65-75.

Berkowitz P, Diaz LA, Hall RP, Rubenstein DS (2008) Induction of p38MAPK and HSP27 phosphorylation in pemphigus patient skin. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 128:738-40.

Berkowitz P, Hu P, Liu Z, Diaz LA, Enghild JJ, Chua MP, Rubenstein DS (2005) Desmosome signaling. Inhibition of p38MAPK prevents pemphigus vulgaris IgG-induced cytoskeleton reorganization. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 280:23778-84.

Berkowitz P, Hu P, Warren S, Liu Z, Diaz LA, Rubenstein DS (2006) p38MAPK inhibition prevents disease in pemphigus vulgaris mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103:12855-60.

Bernard P (2008) Management of common bacterial infections of the skin. *Current opinion in infectious diseases* 21:122-8.

Bhol K, Natarajan K, Nagarwalla N, Mohimen A, Aoki V, Ahmed AR (1995) Correlation of peptide specificity and IgG subclass with pathogenic and nonpathogenic autoantibodies in pemphigus vulgaris: a model for autoimmunity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 92:5239-43.

Bi K, Altman A (2001) Membrane lipid microdomains and the role of PKCtheta in T cell activation. *Seminars in immunology* 13:139-46.

Biedermann K, Vogelsang H, Becker I, Plaschke S, Siewert JR, Hofler H, Keller G (2005) Desmoglein 2 is expressed abnormally rather than mutated in familial and sporadic gastric cancer. *The Journal of pathology* 207:199-206.

Birchmeier C, Birchmeier W, Brand-Saberi B (1996) Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in cancer progression. *Acta anatomica* 156:217-26.

Birchmeier W, Hulsken J, Behrens J (1995) Adherens junction proteins in tumour progression. *Cancer surveys* 24:129-40.

Bizzozero G (1864) Delle cellule cigliate del reticolo malpighiano dell'epidermide. *Annali universali di medicina* 190:110-8.

Bolling MC, Mekkes JR, Goldschmidt WF, van Noesel CJ, Jonkman MF, Pas HH (2007) Acquired palmoplantar keratoderma and immunobullous disease associated with antibodies to desmocollin 3. *The British journal of dermatology* 157:168-73.

Bolte S, Cordelieres FP (2006) A guided tour into subcellular colocalization analysis in light microscopy. *Journal of microscopy* 224:213-32.

Bornslaeger EA, Corcoran CM, Stappenbeck TS, Green KJ (1996) Breaking the connection: displacement of the desmosomal plaque protein desmoplakin from cell-cell interfaces disrupts
anchorage of intermediate filament bundles and alters intercellular junction assembly. *The Journal of cell biology* 134:985-1001.

Bornslaeger EA, Godsel LM, Corcoran CM, Park JK, Hatzfeld M, Kowalczyk AP, Green KJ (2001) Plakophilin 1 interferes with plakoglobin binding to desmoplakin, yet together with plakoglobin promotes clustering of desmosomal plaque complexes at cell-cell borders. *Journal of cell science* 114:727-38.

Bouameur JE, Favre B, Borradori L (2014) Plakins, a versatile family of cytolinkers: roles in skin integrity and in human diseases. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 134:885-94.

Brennan D, Hu Y, Joubeh S, Choi YW, Whitaker-Menezes D, O'Brien T, Uitto J, Rodeck U, Mahoney MG (2007) Suprabasal Dsg2 expression in transgenic mouse skin confers a hyperproliferative and apoptosis-resistant phenotype to keratinocytes. *Journal of cell science* 120:758-71.

Brennan D, Mahoney MG (2009) Increased expression of Dsg2 in malignant skin carcinomas: A tissue-microarray based study. *Cell adhesion & migration* 3:148-54.

Brennan D, Peltonen S, Dowling A, Medhat W, Green KJ, Wahl JK, 3rd, Del Galdo F, Mahoney MG (2012) A role for caveolin-1 in desmoglein binding and desmosome dynamics. *Oncogene* 31:1636-48.

Breuninger S, Reidenbach S, Sauer CG, Strobel P, Pfitzenmaier J, Trojan L, Hofmann I (2010) Desmosomal plakophilins in the prostate and prostatic adenocarcinomas: implications for diagnosis and tumor progression. *The American journal of pathology* 176:2509-19. Brooke MA, Nitoiu D, Kelsell DP (2012) Cell-cell connectivity: desmosomes and disease. *The Journal of pathology* 226:158-71.

Calkins CC, Setzer SV (2007) Spotting desmosomes: the first 100 years. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 127:E2-3.

Calkins CC, Setzer SV, Jennings JM, Summers S, Tsunoda K, Amagai M, Kowalczyk AP (2006) Desmoglein endocytosis and desmosome disassembly are coordinated responses to pemphigus autoantibodies. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 281:7623-34.

Cartaud A, Stetzkowski-Marden F, Maoui A, Cartaud J (2011) Agrin triggers the clustering of raft-associated acetylcholine receptors through actin cytoskeleton reorganization. *Biology of the cell / under the auspices of the European Cell Biology Organization* 103:287-301.

Carvajal-Huerta L (1998) Epidermolytic palmoplantar keratoderma with woolly hair and dilated cardiomyopathy. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 39:418-21.

Causeret M, Taulet N, Comunale F, Favard C, Gauthier-Rouviere C (2005) N-cadherin association with lipid rafts regulates its dynamic assembly at cell-cell junctions in C2C12 myoblasts. *Molecular biology of the cell* 16:2168-80.

Chan PT, Ohyama B, Nishifuji K, Yoshida K, Ishii K, Hashimoto T, Amagai M (2010) Immune response towards the amino-terminus of desmoglein 1 prevails across different activity stages in nonendemic pemphigus foliaceus. *The British journal of dermatology* 162:1242-50.

Chen X, Bonne S, Hatzfeld M, van Roy F, Green KJ (2002) Protein binding and functional characterization of plakophilin 2. Evidence for its diverse roles in desmosomes and beta -catenin signaling. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 277:10512-22.

Chen YJ, Chang JT, Lee L, Wang HM, Liao CT, Chiu CC, Chen PJ, Cheng AJ (2007) DSG3 is overexpressed in head neck cancer and is a potential molecular target for inhibition of oncogenesis. *Oncogene* 26:467-76.

Chen YJ, Lee LY, Chao YK, Chang JT, Lu YC, Li HF, Chiu CC, Li YC, Li YL, Chiou JF, Cheng AJ (2013) DSG3 facilitates cancer cell growth and invasion through the DSG3-plakoglobin-TCF/LEF-Myc/cyclin D1/MMP signaling pathway. *PloS one* 8:e64088.

Cheng X, Mihindukulasuriya K, Den Z, Kowalczyk AP, Calkins CC, Ishiko A, Shimizu A, Koch PJ (2004) Assessment of splice variant-specific functions of desmocollin 1 in the skin. *Molecular and cellular biology* 24:154-63.

Chernyavsky AI, Arredondo J, Kitajima Y, Sato-Nagai M, Grando SA (2007) Desmoglein versus non-desmoglein signaling in pemphigus acantholysis: characterization of novel signaling pathways downstream of pemphigus vulgaris antigens. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 282:13804-12.

Chitaev NA, Leube RE, Troyanovsky RB, Eshkind LG, Franke WW, Troyanovsky SM (1996) The binding of plakoglobin to desmosomal cadherins: patterns of binding sites and topogenic potential. *The Journal of cell biology* 133:359-69. Choi HJ, Gross JC, Pokutta S, Weis WI (2009) Interactions of plakoglobin and beta-catenin with desmosomal cadherins: basis of selective exclusion of alpha- and beta-catenin from desmosomes. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 284:31776-88.

Choi HJ, Park-Snyder S, Pascoe LT, Green KJ, Weis WI (2002) Structures of two intermediate filament-binding fragments of desmoplakin reveal a unique repeat motif structure. *Nature structural biology* 9:612-20.

Chun MG, Hanahan D (2010) Genetic deletion of the desmosomal component desmoplakin promotes tumor microinvasion in a mouse model of pancreatic neuroendocrine carcinogenesis. *PLoS genetics* 6:e1001120.

Cirillo N (2014) 150th anniversary series: desmosomes in physiology and disease. *Cell communication & adhesion* 21:85-8.

Cirillo N, Gombos F, Lanza A (2007) Changes in desmoglein 1 expression and subcellular localization in cultured keratinocytes subjected to anti-desmoglein 1 pemphigus autoimmunity. *Journal of cellular physiology* 210:411-6.

Cirillo N, Lanza A, Prime SS (2010) Induction of hyper-adhesion attenuates autoimmune-induced keratinocyte cell-cell detachment and processing of adhesion molecules via mechanisms that involve PKC. *Experimental cell research* 316:580-92.

Collins JE, Legan PK, Kenny TP, MacGarvie J, Holton JL, Garrod DR (1991) Cloning and sequence analysis of desmosomal glycoproteins 2 and 3 (desmocollins): cadherin-like

desmosomal adhesion molecules with heterogeneous cytoplasmic domains. *The Journal of cell biology* 113:381-91.

Connell SD, Smith DA (2006) The atomic force microscope as a tool for studying phase separation in lipid membranes. *Molecular membrane biology* 23:17-28.

Cui T, Chen Y, Yang L, Knosel T, Huber O, Pacyna-Gengelbach M, Petersen I (2012a) The p53 target gene desmocollin 3 acts as a novel tumor suppressor through inhibiting EGFR/ERK pathway in human lung cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 33:2326-33.

Cui T, Chen Y, Yang L, Mireskandari M, Knosel T, Zhang Q, Kohler LH, Kunze A, Presselt N, Petersen I (2012b) Diagnostic and prognostic impact of desmocollins in human lung cancer. *Journal of clinical pathology* 65:1100-6.

Damjanovich S, Vamosi G, Bodnar A, Bene L (2002) New trends in studying structure and function of biological membranes. *Acta physiologica Hungarica* 89:415-25.

Damm EM, Pelkmans L, Kartenbeck J, Mezzacasa A, Kurzchalia T, Helenius A (2005) Clathrinand caveolin-1-independent endocytosis: entry of simian virus 40 into cells devoid of caveolae. *The Journal of cell biology* 168:477-88.

Daniel BS, Hertl M, Werth VP, Eming R, Murrell DF (2012) Severity score indexes for blistering diseases. *Clinics in dermatology* 30:108-13.

de Almeida Junior HL, Wolter M, Castro LA, Rocha NE (2001) [Papular acantholytic dyskeratosis]. *Der Hautarzt; Zeitschrift fur Dermatologie, Venerologie, und verwandte Gebiete* 52:1101-3.

de Almeida RF, Loura LM, Fedorov A, Prieto M (2005) Lipid rafts have different sizes depending on membrane composition: a time-resolved fluorescence resonance energy transfer study. *Journal of molecular biology* 346:1109-20.

de Almeida RF, Loura LM, Prieto M (2009) Membrane lipid domains and rafts: current applications of fluorescence lifetime spectroscopy and imaging. *Chemistry and physics of lipids* 157:61-77.

Defamie N, Chepied A, Mesnil M (2014) Connexins, gap junctions and tissue invasion. *FEBS letters* 588:1331-8.

Dehner C, Rotzer V, Waschke J, Spindler V (2014) A desmoplakin point mutation with enhanced keratin association ameliorates pemphigus vulgaris autoantibody-mediated loss of cell cohesion. *The American journal of pathology* 184:2528-36.

Delva E, Jennings JM, Calkins CC, Kottke MD, Faundez V, Kowalczyk AP (2008) Pemphigus vulgaris IgG-induced desmoglein-3 endocytosis and desmosomal disassembly are mediated by a clathrin- and dynamin-independent mechanism. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 283:18303-13.

Delva E, Tucker DK, Kowalczyk AP (2009) The desmosome. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 1:a002543. Demirag GG, Sullu Y, Gurgenyatagi D, Okumus NO, Yucel I (2011) Expression of plakophilins (PKP1, PKP2, and PKP3) in gastric cancers. *Diagnostic pathology* 6:1.

Demirag GG, Sullu Y, Yucel I (2012) Expression of Plakophilins (PKP1, PKP2, and PKP3) in breast cancers. *Medical oncology* 29:1518-22.

Desai BV, Harmon RM, Green KJ (2009) Desmosomes at a glance. *Journal of cell science* 122:4401-7.

Di Zenzo G, Di Lullo G, Corti D, Calabresi V, Sinistro A, Vanzetta F, Didona B, Cianchini G, Hertl M, Eming R, Amagai M, Ohyama B, Hashimoto T, Sloostra J, Sallusto F, Zambruno G, Lanzavecchia A (2012) Pemphigus autoantibodies generated through somatic mutations target the desmoglein-3 cis-interface. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 122:3781-90.

Dmochowski M, Hashimoto T, Garrod DR, Nishikawa T (1993) Desmocollins I and II are recognized by certain sera from patients with various types of pemphigus, particularly Brazilian pemphigus foliaceus. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 100:380-4.

Dodelet-Devillers A, Cayrol R, van Horssen J, Haqqani AS, de Vries HE, Engelhardt B, Greenwood J, Prat A (2009) Functions of lipid raft membrane microdomains at the blood-brain barrier. *Journal of molecular medicine* 87:765-74.

Drochmans P, Freudenstein C, Wanson JC, Laurent L, Keenan TW, Stadler J, Leloup R, Franke WW (1978) Structure and biochemical composition of desmosomes and tonofilaments isolated from calf muzzle epidermis. *The Journal of cell biology* 79:427-43.

Duggan J, Jamal G, Tilley M, Davis B, McKenzie G, Vere K, Somekh MG, O'Shea P, Harris H (2008) Functional imaging of microdomains in cell membranes. *European biophysics journal : EBJ* 37:1279-89.

Dusek RL, Attardi LD (2011) Desmosomes: new perpetrators in tumour suppression. *Nature reviews Cancer* 11:317-23.

Dusek RL, Bascom JL, Vogel H, Baron S, Borowsky AD, Bissell MJ, Attardi LD (2012) Deficiency of the p53/p63 target Perp alters mammary gland homeostasis and promotes cancer. *Breast cancer research : BCR* 14:R65.

El-Sayed A, Harashima H (2013) Endocytosis of gene delivery vectors: from clathrin-dependent to lipid raft-mediated endocytosis. *Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy* 21:1118-30.

Fairley JA, Scott GA, Jensen KD, Goldsmith LA, Diaz LA (1991) Characterization of keratocalmin, a calmodulin-binding protein from human epidermis. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 88:315-22.

Farquhar MG, Palade GE (1963) Junctional complexes in various epithelia. *The Journal of cell biology* 17:375-412.

Ferone G, Mollo MR, Missero C (2015) Epidermal cell junctions and their regulation by p63 in health and disease. *Cell and tissue research*.

Field KA, Holowka D, Baird B (1995) Fc epsilon RI-mediated recruitment of p53/56lyn to detergent-resistant membrane domains accompanies cellular signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 92:9201-5.

Fischer-Keso R, Breuninger S, Hofmann S, Henn M, Rohrig T, Strobel P, Stoecklin G, Hofmann I (2014) Plakophilins 1 and 3 bind to FXR1 and thereby influence the mRNA stability of desmosomal proteins. *Molecular and cellular biology* 34:4244-56.

Foedinger D, Anhalt GJ, Boecskoer B, Elbe A, Wolff K, Rappersberger K (1995) Autoantibodies to desmoplakin I and II in patients with erythema multiforme. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 181:169-79.

Foedinger D, Elbe-Burger A, Sterniczky B, Lackner M, Horvat R, Wolff K, Rappersberger K (1998) Erythema multiforme associated human autoantibodies against desmoplakin I and II: biochemical characterization and passive transfer studies into newborn mice. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 111:503-10.

Foedinger D, Sterniczky B, Elbe A, Anhalt G, Wolff K, Rappersberger K (1996) Autoantibodies against desmoplakin I and II define a subset of patients with erythema multiforme major. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 106:1012-6.

Franzen CA, Todorovic V, Desai BV, Mirzoeva S, Yang XJ, Green KJ, Pelling JC (2012) The desmosomal armadillo protein plakoglobin regulates prostate cancer cell adhesion and motility through vitronectin-dependent Src signaling. *PloS one* 7:e42132.

Furukawa C, Daigo Y, Ishikawa N, Kato T, Ito T, Tsuchiya E, Sone S, Nakamura Y (2005) Plakophilin 3 oncogene as prognostic marker and therapeutic target for lung cancer. *Cancer research* 65:7102-10.

Futei Y, Amagai M, Hashimoto T, Nishikawa T (2003) Conformational epitope mapping and IgG subclass distribution of desmoglein 3 in paraneoplastic pemphigus. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 49:1023-8.

Galbraith CG, Galbraith JA (2011) Super-resolution microscopy at a glance. *Journal of cell science* 124:1607-11.

Gallicano GI, Kouklis P, Bauer C, Yin M, Vasioukhin V, Degenstein L, Fuchs E (1998) Desmoplakin is required early in development for assembly of desmosomes and cytoskeletal linkage. *The Journal of cell biology* 143:2009-22.

Gallo E, Garcia-Martin P, Fraga J, Teye K, Koga H, Hashimoto T, Garcia-Diez A (2014) Paraneoplastic pemphigus with eosinophilic spongiosis and autoantibodies against desmocollins 2 and 3. *Clinical and experimental dermatology* 39:323-6.

Gammon WR, Lewis DM, Carlo JR, Sams WM, Jr., Wheeler CE, Jr. (1980) Pemphigoid antibody mediated attachment of peripheral blood leukocytes at the dermal-epidermal junction of human skin. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 75:334-9.

George KS, Wu S (2012) Lipid raft: A floating island of death or survival. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology* 259:311-9.

Getsios S, Amargo EV, Dusek RL, Ishii K, Sheu L, Godsel LM, Green KJ (2004a) Coordinated expression of desmoglein 1 and desmocollin 1 regulates intercellular adhesion. *Differentiation; research in biological diversity* 72:419-33.

Getsios S, Huen AC, Green KJ (2004b) Working out the strength and flexibility of desmosomes. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 5:271-81.

Getsios S, Waschke J, Borradori L, Hertl M, Muller EJ (2010) From cell signaling to novel therapeutic concepts: international pemphigus meeting on advances in pemphigus research and therapy. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 130:1764-8.

Gliem M, Heupel WM, Spindler V, Harms GS, Waschke J (2010) Actin reorganization contributes to loss of cell adhesion in pemphigus vulgaris. *American journal of physiology Cell physiology* 299:C606-13.

Goswami D, Gowrishankar K, Bilgrami S, Ghosh S, Raghupathy R, Chadda R, Vishwakarma R, Rao M, Mayor S (2008) Nanoclusters of GPI-anchored proteins are formed by cortical actindriven activity. *Cell* 135:1085-97.

Green KJ, Getsios S, Troyanovsky S, Godsel LM (2010) Intercellular junction assembly, dynamics, and homeostasis. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 2:a000125.

Green KJ, Guy SG, Cserhalmi-Friedman PB, McLean WH, Christiano AM, Wagner RM (1999) Analysis of the desmoplakin gene reveals striking conservation with other members of the plakin family of cytolinkers. *Experimental dermatology* 8:462-70. Green KJ, Simpson CL (2007) Desmosomes: new perspectives on a classic. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 127:2499-515.

Green KJ, Stappenbeck TS, Parry DA, Virata ML (1992) Structure of desmoplakin and its association with intermediate filaments. *The Journal of dermatology* 19:765-9.

Groot KR, Sevilla LM, Nishi K, DiColandrea T, Watt FM (2004) Kazrin, a novel periplakininteracting protein associated with desmosomes and the keratinocyte plasma membrane. *The Journal of cell biology* 166:653-9.

Gumbiner B, Stevenson B, Grimaldi A (1988) The role of the cell adhesion molecule uvomorulin in the formation and maintenance of the epithelial junctional complex. *The Journal of cell biology* 107:1575-87.

Hamidov Z, Altendorf-Hofmann A, Chen Y, Settmacher U, Petersen I, Knosel T (2011) Reduced expression of desmocollin 2 is an independent prognostic biomarker for shorter patients survival in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Journal of clinical pathology* 64:990-4.

Hanada K, Nishijima M, Fujita T, Kobayashi S (2000) Specificity of inhibitors of serine palmitoyltransferase (SPT), a key enzyme in sphingolipid biosynthesis, in intact cells. A novel evaluation system using an SPT-defective mammalian cell mutant. *Biochemical pharmacology* 59:1211-6.

Hansen CG, Nichols BJ (2009) Molecular mechanisms of clathrin-independent endocytosis. *Journal of cell science* 122:1713-21. Harada H, Iwatsuki K, Ohtsuka M, Han GW, Kaneko F (1996) Abnormal desmoglein expression by squamous cell carcinoma cells. *Acta dermato-venereologica* 76:417-20.

Harder T, Scheiffele P, Verkade P, Simons K (1998) Lipid domain structure of the plasma
membrane revealed by patching of membrane components. *The Journal of cell biology* 141:92942.

Hardman MJ, Liu K, Avilion AA, Merritt A, Brennan K, Garrod DR, Byrne C (2005) Desmosomal cadherin misexpression alters beta-catenin stability and epidermal differentiation. *Molecular and cellular biology* 25:969-78.

Hartman-Adams H, Banvard C, Juckett G (2014) Impetigo: diagnosis and treatment. *American family physician* 90:229-35.

Hashimoto T, Amagai M, Watanabe K, Chorzelski TP, Bhogal BS, Black MM, Stevens HP, Boorsma DM, Korman NJ, Gamou S, et al. (1995a) Characterization of paraneoplastic pemphigus autoantigens by immunoblot analysis. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 104:829-34.

Hashimoto T, Amagai M, Watanabe K, Dmochowski M, Chidgey MA, Yue KK, Garrod DR, Nishikawa T (1995b) A case of pemphigus vulgaris showing reactivity with pemphigus antigens (Dsg1 and Dsg3) and desmocollins. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 104:541-4.

Hata T, Nishimoto S, Nagao K, Takahashi H, Yoshida K, Ohyama M, Yamada T, Asano K, Amagai M (2013) Ectopic expression of epidermal antigens renders the lung a target organ in paraneoplastic pemphigus. *Journal of immunology* 191:83-90. Hatzfeld M (2007) Plakophilins: Multifunctional proteins or just regulators of desmosomal adhesion? *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1773:69-77.

Hatzfeld M, Haffner C, Schulze K, Vinzens U (2000) The function of plakophilin 1 in desmosome assembly and actin filament organization. *The Journal of cell biology* 149:209-22.

He W, Cowin P, Stokes DL (2003) Untangling desmosomal knots with electron tomography. *Science* 302:109-13.

Heupel WM, Zillikens D, Drenckhahn D, Waschke J (2008) Pemphigus vulgaris IgG directly inhibit desmoglein 3-mediated transinteraction. *Journal of immunology* 181:1825-34.

Hobbs RP, Green KJ (2012) Desmoplakin regulates desmosome hyperadhesion. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 132:482-5.

Hogue IB, Grover JR, Soheilian F, Nagashima K, Ono A (2011) Gag induces the coalescence of clustered lipid rafts and tetraspanin-enriched microdomains at HIV-1 assembly sites on the plasma membrane. *Journal of virology* 85:9749-66.

Holthofer B, Windoffer R, Troyanovsky S, Leube RE (2007) Structure and function of desmosomes. *International review of cytology* 264:65-163.

Horejsi V (2003) The roles of membrane microdomains (rafts) in T cell activation. *Immunological reviews* 191:148-64. Hothersall E, McSharry C, Thomson NC (2006) Potential therapeutic role for statins in respiratory disease. *Thorax* 61:729-34.

Ihrie RA, Attardi LD (2005) A new Perp in the lineup: linking p63 and desmosomal adhesion. *Cell cycle* 4:873-6.

Ihrie RA, Marques MR, Nguyen BT, Horner JS, Papazoglu C, Bronson RT, Mills AA, Attardi LD (2005) Perp is a p63-regulated gene essential for epithelial integrity. *Cell* 120:843-56.

Ishida-Yamamoto A, Igawa S (2014) Genetic skin diseases related to desmosomes and corneodesmosomes. *Journal of dermatological science* 74:99-105.

Ishii K, Amagai M (2013) In vitro pathogenicity assay for anti-desmoglein autoantibodies in pemphigus. *Methods in molecular biology* 961:219-25.

Ishii K, Harada R, Matsuo I, Shirakata Y, Hashimoto K, Amagai M (2005) In vitro keratinocyte dissociation assay for evaluation of the pathogenicity of anti-desmoglein 3 IgG autoantibodies in pemphigus vulgaris. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 124:939-46.

Iwatsuki K, Han GW, Fukuti R, Ohtsuka M, Kikuchi S, Akiba H, Kaneko F (1999) Internalization of constitutive desmogleins with the subsequent induction of desmoglein 2 in pemphigus lesions. *The British journal of dermatology* 140:35-43.

Iwatsuki K, Takigawa M, Imaizumi S, Yamada M (1989) In vivo binding site of pemphigus vulgaris antibodies and their fate during acantholysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 20:578-82.

Janes PW, Ley SC, Magee AI, Kabouridis PS (2000) The role of lipid rafts in T cell antigen receptor (TCR) signalling. *Seminars in immunology* 12:23-34.

Jennings JM, Tucker DK, Kottke MD, Saito M, Delva E, Hanakawa Y, Amagai M, Kowalczyk AP (2011) Desmosome disassembly in response to pemphigus vulgaris IgG occurs in distinct phases and can be reversed by expression of exogenous Dsg3. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 131:706-18.

Jolly PS, Berkowitz P, Bektas M, Lee HE, Chua M, Diaz LA, Rubenstein DS (2010) p38MAPK signaling and desmoglein-3 internalization are linked events in pemphigus acantholysis. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 285:8936-41.

Joly P, Litrowski N (2011) Pemphigus group (vulgaris, vegetans, foliaceus, herpetiformis, brasiliensis). *Clinics in dermatology* 29:432-6.

Jonca N, Guerrin M, Hadjiolova K, Caubet C, Gallinaro H, Simon M, Serre G (2002) Corneodesmosin, a component of epidermal corneocyte desmosomes, displays homophilic adhesive properties. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 277:5024-9.

Jonca N, Leclerc EA, Caubet C, Simon M, Guerrin M, Serre G (2011) Corneodesmosomes and corneodesmosin: from the stratum corneum cohesion to the pathophysiology of genodermatoses. *European journal of dermatology : EJD* 21 Suppl 2:35-42.

Jones JC, Goldman RD (1985) Intermediate filaments and the initiation of desmosome assembly. *The Journal of cell biology* 101:506-17.

Kabouridis PS (2006) Lipid rafts in T cell receptor signalling. *Molecular membrane biology* 23:49-57.

Kalinin AE, Idler WW, Marekov LN, McPhie P, Bowers B, Steinert PM, Steven AC (2004) Coassembly of envoplakin and periplakin into oligomers and Ca(2+)-dependent vesicle binding: implications for cornified cell envelope formation in stratified squamous epithelia. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 279:22773-80.

Kami K, Chidgey M, Dafforn T, Overduin M (2009) The desmoglein-specific cytoplasmic region is intrinsically disordered in solution and interacts with multiple desmosomal protein partners. *Journal of molecular biology* 386:531-43.

Katafiasz D, Smith LM, Wahl JK, 3rd (2011) Slug (SNAI2) expression in oral SCC cells results in altered cell-cell adhesion and increased motility. *Cell adhesion & migration* 5:315-22.

Kelly DE (1966) Fine structure of desmosomes. , hemidesmosomes, and an adepidermal globular layer in developing newt epidermis. *The Journal of cell biology* 28:51-72.

Khapare N, Kundu ST, Sehgal L, Sawant M, Priya R, Gosavi P, Gupta N, Alam H, Karkhanis M, Naik N, Vaidya MM, Dalal SN (2012) Plakophilin3 loss leads to an increase in PRL3 levels promoting K8 dephosphorylation, which is required for transformation and metastasis. *PloS one* 7:e38561.

Kim JB, Islam S, Kim YJ, Prudoff RS, Sass KM, Wheelock MJ, Johnson KR (2000) N-Cadherin extracellular repeat 4 mediates epithelial to mesenchymal transition and increased motility. *The Journal of cell biology* 151:1193-206.

Kitajima Y (2013) New insights into desmosome regulation and pemphigus blistering as a desmosome-remodeling disease. *The Kaohsiung journal of medical sciences* 29:1-13.

Kitajima Y (2014) 150(th) anniversary series: Desmosomes and autoimmune disease, perspective of dynamic desmosome remodeling and its impairments in pemphigus. *Cell communication & adhesion* 21:269-80.

Klessner JL, Desai BV, Amargo EV, Getsios S, Green KJ (2009) EGFR and ADAMs cooperate to regulate shedding and endocytic trafficking of the desmosomal cadherin desmoglein 2. *Molecular biology of the cell* 20:328-37.

Kljuic A, Bauer RC, Christiano AM (2004) Genomic organization of mouse desmocollin genes reveals evolutionary conservation. *DNA sequence : the journal of DNA sequencing and mapping* 15:148-52.

Kljuic A, Bazzi H, Sundberg JP, Martinez-Mir A, O'Shaughnessy R, Mahoney MG, Levy M, Montagutelli X, Ahmad W, Aita VM, Gordon D, Uitto J, Whiting D, Ott J, Fischer S, Gilliam TC, Jahoda CA, Morris RJ, Panteleyev AA, Nguyen VT, Christiano AM (2003) Desmoglein 4 in hair follicle differentiation and epidermal adhesion: evidence from inherited hypotrichosis and acquired pemphigus vulgaris. *Cell* 113:249-60. Klymkowsky MW (1999) Plakophilin, armadillo repeats, and nuclear localization. *Microscopy research and technique* 45:43-54.

Kneisel A, Hertl M (2011a) Autoimmune bullous skin diseases. Part 1: Clinical manifestations. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft = Journal of the German Society of Dermatology : JDDG 9:844-56; quiz 57.

Kneisel A, Hertl M (2011b) Autoimmune bullous skin diseases. Part 2: diagnosis and therapy. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft = Journal of the German Society of Dermatology : JDDG 9:927-47.

Ko CJ, McNiff JM (2014) Punctate pemphigus: an underreported direct immunofluorescence pattern. *Journal of cutaneous pathology* 41:293-6.

Kobielak A, Boddupally K (2014) Junctions and inflammation in the skin. *Cell communication & adhesion* 21:141-7.

Koch PJ, Mahoney MG, Ishikawa H, Pulkkinen L, Uitto J, Shultz L, Murphy GF, Whitaker-Menezes D, Stanley JR (1997) Targeted disruption of the pemphigus vulgaris antigen (desmoglein 3) gene in mice causes loss of keratinocyte cell adhesion with a phenotype similar to pemphigus vulgaris. *The Journal of cell biology* 137:1091-102.

Koga H, Tsuruta D, Ohyama B, Ishii N, Hamada T, Ohata C, Furumura M, Hashimoto T (2013) Desmoglein 3, its pathogenecity and a possibility for therapeutic target in pemphigus vulgaris. *Expert opinion on therapeutic targets* 17:293-306. Kong CS, Cao H, Kwok S, Nguyen CM, Jordan RC, Beaudry VG, Attardi LD, Le QT (2013) Loss of the p53/p63 target PERP is an early event in oral carcinogenesis and correlates with higher rate of local relapse. *Oral surgery, oral medicine, oral pathology and oral radiology* 115:95-103.

Kottke MD, Delva E, Kowalczyk AP (2006) The desmosome: cell science lessons from human diseases. *Journal of cell science* 119:797-806.

Kowalczyk AP, Borgwardt JE, Green KJ (1996) Analysis of desmosomal cadherin-adhesive function and stoichiometry of desmosomal cadherin-plakoglobin complexes. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 107:293-300.

Kowalczyk AP, Bornslaeger EA, Borgwardt JE, Palka HL, Dhaliwal AS, Corcoran CM, Denning MF, Green KJ (1997) The amino-terminal domain of desmoplakin binds to plakoglobin and clusters desmosomal cadherin-plakoglobin complexes. *The Journal of cell biology* 139:773-84.

Kowalczyk AP, Green KJ (2013) Structure, function, and regulation of desmosomes. *Progress in molecular biology and translational science* 116:95-118.

Kowalczyk AP, Hatzfeld M, Bornslaeger EA, Kopp DS, Borgwardt JE, Corcoran CM, Settler A, Green KJ (1999) The head domain of plakophilin-1 binds to desmoplakin and enhances its recruitment to desmosomes. Implications for cutaneous disease. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 274:18145-8.

Kowalczyk AP, Rubenstein DS (2007) Milestones in investigative dermatology: the desmosome. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 127:E1. Kurzen H, Munzing I, Hartschuh W (2003) Expression of desmosomal proteins in squamous cell carcinomas of the skin. *Journal of cutaneous pathology* 30:621-30.

Lai-Cheong JE, Arita K, McGrath JA (2007) Genetic diseases of junctions. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 127:2713-25.

Lajoie P, Nabi IR (2010) Lipid rafts, caveolae, and their endocytosis. *International review of cell and molecular biology* 282:135-63.

Lambert J, Bracke S, van Roy F, Pas HH, Bonne S, De Schepper S (2010) Serum plakophilin-3 autoreactivity in paraneoplastic pemphigus. *The British journal of dermatology* 163:630-2.

Langenhan J, Dworschak J, Saschenbrecker S, Komorowski L, Schlumberger W, Stocker W, Westermann J, Recke A, Zillikens D, Schmidt E, Probst C (2014) Specific immunoadsorption of pathogenic autoantibodies in pemphigus requires the entire ectodomains of desmogleins. *Experimental dermatology* 23:253-9.

Langer M, Duggan ES, Booth JL, Patel VI, Zander RA, Silasi-Mansat R, Ramani V, Veres TZ, Prenzler F, Sewald K, Williams DM, Coggeshall KM, Awasthi S, Lupu F, Burian D, Ballard JD, Braun A, Metcalf JP (2012) Bacillus anthracis lethal toxin reduces human alveolar epithelial barrier function. *Infection and immunity* 80:4374-87.

Levental I, Grzybek M, Simons K (2010a) Greasing their way: lipid modifications determine protein association with membrane rafts. *Biochemistry* 49:6305-16.

Levental I, Lingwood D, Grzybek M, Coskun U, Simons K (2010b) Palmitoylation regulates raft affinity for the majority of integral raft proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107:22050-4.

Lewis JE, Wahl JK, 3rd, Sass KM, Jensen PJ, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ (1997) Cross-talk between adherens junctions and desmosomes depends on plakoglobin. *The Journal of cell biology* 136:919-34.

Li X, Ishii N, Ohata C, Furumura M, Hashimoto T (2014) Signalling pathways in pemphigus vulgaris. *Experimental dermatology* 23:155-6.

Lingwood D, Simons K (2007) Detergent resistance as a tool in membrane research. *Nature protocols* 2:2159-65.

Lingwood D, Simons K (2010) Lipid rafts as a membrane-organizing principle. *Science* 327:46-50.

Mahmoud AM, Yang W, Bosland MC (2014) Soy isoflavones and prostate cancer: a review of molecular mechanisms. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology* 140:116-32.

Mahoney MG, Aho S, Uitto J, Stanley JR (1998) The members of the plakin family of proteins recognized by paraneoplastic pemphigus antibodies include periplakin. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 111:308-13.

Mahoney MG, Wang Z, Rothenberger K, Koch PJ, Amagai M, Stanley JR (1999a) Explanations for the clinical and microscopic localization of lesions in pemphigus foliaceus and vulgaris. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 103:461-8.

Mahoney MG, Wang ZH, Stanley JR (1999b) Pemphigus vulgaris and pemphigus foliaceus antibodies are pathogenic in plasminogen activator knockout mice. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 113:22-5.

Maia-Brigagao C, Morgado-Diaz JA, De Souza W (2012) Giardia disrupts the arrangement of tight, adherens and desmosomal junction proteins of intestinal cells. *Parasitology international* 61:280-7.

Mao X, Li H, Sano Y, Gaestel M, Mo Park J, Payne AS (2014) MAPKAP kinase 2 (MK2)dependent and -independent models of blister formation in pemphigus vulgaris. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 134:68-76.

Mao X, Nagler AR, Farber SA, Choi EJ, Jackson LH, Leiferman KM, Ishii N, Hashimoto T, Amagai M, Zone JJ, Payne AS (2010) Autoimmunity to desmocollin 3 in pemphigus vulgaris. *The American journal of pathology* 177:2724-30.

Mao X, Sano Y, Park JM, Payne AS (2011) p38 MAPK activation is downstream of the loss of intercellular adhesion in pemphigus vulgaris. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 286:1283-91.

Marcozzi C, Burdett ID, Buxton RS, Magee AI (1998) Coexpression of both types of desmosomal cadherin and plakoglobin confers strong intercellular adhesion. *Journal of cell science* 111 (Pt 4):495-509.

Marquina M, Espana A, Fernandez-Galar M, Lopez-Zabalza MJ (2008) The role of nitric oxide synthases in pemphigus vulgaris in a mouse model. *The British journal of dermatology* 159:68-76.

Mazzarello P, Calligaro AL, Calligaro A (2001) Giulio Bizzozero: a pioneer of cell biology. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 2:776-81.

McGrath JA, Bolling MC, Jonkman MF (2010) Lethal acantholytic epidermolysis bullosa. *Dermatologic clinics* 28:131-5.

McGrath JA, McMillan JR, Shemanko CS, Runswick SK, Leigh IM, Lane EB, Garrod DR, Eady RA (1997) Mutations in the plakophilin 1 gene result in ectodermal dysplasia/skin fragility syndrome. *Nature genetics* 17:240-4.

McGrath JA, Mellerio JE (2010) Ectodermal dysplasia-skin fragility syndrome. *Dermatologic clinics* 28:125-9.

McIntosh TJ, Vidal A, Simon SA (2003) Sorting of lipids and transmembrane peptides between detergent-soluble bilayers and detergent-resistant rafts. *Biophysical journal* 85:1656-66.

Merritt AJ, Berika MY, Zhai W, Kirk SE, Ji B, Hardman MJ, Garrod DR (2002) Suprabasal desmoglein 3 expression in the epidermis of transgenic mice results in hyperproliferation and abnormal differentiation. *Molecular and cellular biology* 22:5846-58.

Milner Y, Sagi E, Timberg R, Michel B, Me'te'zeau P, Goldberg M (1989) Binding modes of IgG from pemphigus autoimmune sera onto guinea pig keratinocytes and the fate of bound IgGs. *Journal of cellular physiology* 139:441-54.

Minshall RD, Tiruppathi C, Vogel SM, Niles WD, Gilchrist A, Hamm HE, Malik AB (2000) Endothelial cell-surface gp60 activates vesicle formation and trafficking via G(i)-coupled Src kinase signaling pathway. *The Journal of cell biology* 150:1057-70.

Miyake Y, Kozutsumi Y, Nakamura S, Fujita T, Kawasaki T (1995) Serine palmitoyltransferase is the primary target of a sphingosine-like immunosuppressant, ISP-1/myriocin. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 211:396-403.

Mockenhaupt M, Idzko M, Grosber M, Schopf E, Norgauer J (2005) Epidemiology of staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome in Germany. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 124:700-3.

Morel E, Fouquet S, Strup-Perrot C, Pichol Thievend C, Petit C, Loew D, Faussat AM, Yvernault L, Pincon-Raymond M, Chambaz J, Rousset M, Thenet S, Clair C (2008) The cellular prion protein PrP(c) is involved in the proliferation of epithelial cells and in the distribution of junction-associated proteins. *PloS one* 3:e3000.

Myklebust MP, Fluge O, Immervoll H, Skarstein A, Balteskard L, Bruland O, Dahl O (2012) Expression of DSG1 and DSC1 are prognostic markers in anal carcinoma patients. *British journal of cancer* 106:756-62. Nagai Y, Takeshita N, Saku T (1992) Histopathologic and ultrastructural studies of oral mucosa with Candida infection. *Journal of oral pathology & medicine : official publication of the International Association of Oral Pathologists and the American Academy of Oral Pathology* 21:171-5.

Nagaraju GP, Zafar SF, El-Rayes BF (2013) Pleiotropic effects of genistein in metabolic, inflammatory, and malignant diseases. *Nutrition reviews* 71:562-72.

Nakai Y, Kamiguchi H (2002) Migration of nerve growth cones requires detergent-resistant membranes in a spatially defined and substrate-dependent manner. *The Journal of cell biology* 159:1097-108.

Nava P, Laukoetter MG, Hopkins AM, Laur O, Gerner-Smidt K, Green KJ, Parkos CA, Nusrat A (2007) Desmoglein-2: a novel regulator of apoptosis in the intestinal epithelium. *Molecular biology of the cell* 18:4565-78.

Nekrasova O, Green KJ (2013) Desmosome assembly and dynamics. *Trends in cell biology* 23:537-46.

Nguyen VT, Ndoye A, Grando SA (2000) Novel human alpha9 acetylcholine receptor regulating keratinocyte adhesion is targeted by Pemphigus vulgaris autoimmunity. *The American journal of pathology* 157:1377-91.

Nichols B (2003) Caveosomes and endocytosis of lipid rafts. Journal of cell science 116:4707-14.

Nichols BJ, Lippincott-Schwartz J (2001) Endocytosis without clathrin coats. *Trends in cell biology* 11:406-12.

Nishifuji K, Olivry T, Ishii K, Iwasaki T, Amagai M (2007) IgG autoantibodies directed against desmoglein 3 cause dissociation of keratinocytes in canine pemphigus vulgaris and paraneoplastic pemphigus. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology* 117:209-21.

North AJ, Bardsley WG, Hyam J, Bornslaeger EA, Cordingley HC, Trinnaman B, Hatzfeld M, Green KJ, Magee AI, Garrod DR (1999) Molecular map of the desmosomal plaque. *Journal of cell science* 112 (Pt 23):4325-36.

Nusrat A, Parkos CA, Verkade P, Foley CS, Liang TW, Innis-Whitehouse W, Eastburn KK, Madara JL (2000) Tight junctions are membrane microdomains. *Journal of cell science* 113 (Pt 10):1771-81.

O'Shea C, Fitzpatrick JE, Koch PJ (2014) Desmosomal defects in acantholytic squamous cell carcinomas. *Journal of cutaneous pathology* 41:873-9.

Odland GF (1958) The fine structure of the interrelationship of cells in the human epidermis. *The Journal of biophysical and biochemical cytology* 4:529-38.

Ohyama B, Nishifuji K, Chan PT, Kawaguchi A, Yamashita T, Ishii N, Hamada T, Dainichi T, Koga H, Tsuruta D, Amagai M, Hashimoto T (2012) Epitope spreading is rarely found in pemphigus vulgaris by large-scale longitudinal study using desmoglein 2-based swapped molecules. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 132:1158-68.

Oktarina DA, Poot AM, Kramer D, Diercks GF, Jonkman MF, Pas HH (2012) The IgG "lupusband" deposition pattern of pemphigus erythematosus: association with the desmoglein 1 ectodomain as revealed by 3 cases. *Archives of dermatology* 148:1173-8.

Oktarina DA, van der Wier G, Diercks GF, Jonkman MF, Pas HH (2011) IgG-induced clustering of desmogleins 1 and 3 in skin of patients with pemphigus fits with the desmoglein nonassembly depletion hypothesis. *The British journal of dermatology* 165:552-62.

Osada K, Seishima M, Kitajima Y (1997) Pemphigus IgG activates and translocates protein kinase C from the cytosol to the particulate/cytoskeleton fractions in human keratinocytes. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 108:482-7.

Oshiro MM, Kim CJ, Wozniak RJ, Junk DJ, Munoz-Rodriguez JL, Burr JA, Fitzgerald M, Pawar SC, Cress AE, Domann FE, Futscher BW (2005) Epigenetic silencing of DSC3 is a common event in human breast cancer. *Breast cancer research : BCR* 7:R669-80.

Otsubo T, Hagiwara T, Tamura-Nakano M, Sezaki T, Miyake O, Hinohara C, Shimizu T, Yamada K, Dohi T, Kawamura YI (2015) Aberrant DNA hypermethylation reduces the expression of the desmosome-related molecule periplakin in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer medicine*.

Overton J (1962) Desmosome development in normal and reassociating cells in the early chick blastoderm. *Developmental biology* 4:532-48.

Owen DM, Gaus K (2013) Imaging lipid domains in cell membranes: the advent of superresolution fluorescence microscopy. *Frontiers in plant science* 4:503. Owen GR, Acehan D, Derr KD, Rice WJ, Stokes DL (2008) Cryoelectron tomography of isolated desmosomes. *Biochemical Society transactions* 36:173-9.

Palka HL, Green KJ (1997) Roles of plakoglobin end domains in desmosome assembly. *Journal of cell science* 110 (Pt 19):2359-71.

Papagerakis S, Shabana AH, Pollock BH, Papagerakis P, Depondt J, Berdal A (2009) Altered desmoplakin expression at transcriptional and protein levels provides prognostic information in human oropharyngeal cancer. *Human pathology* 40:1320-9.

Patel GK (2004) Treatment of staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome. *Expert review of antiinfective therapy* 2:575-87.

Patel HP, Diaz LA, Anhalt GJ, Labib RS, Takahashi Y (1984) Demonstration of pemphigus antibodies on the cell surface of murine epidermal cell monolayers and their internalization. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 83:409-15.

Pato C, Stetzkowski-Marden F, Gaus K, Recouvreur M, Cartaud A, Cartaud J (2008) Role of lipid rafts in agrin-elicited acetylcholine receptor clustering. *Chemico-biological interactions* 175:64-7.

Patsatsi A, Kyriakou A, Giannakou A, Pavlitou-Tsiontsi A, Lambropoulos A, Sotiriadis D (2014)
Clinical significance of anti-desmoglein-1 and -3 circulating autoantibodies in Pemphigus
Patients Measured by Area Index and Intensity Score. *Acta dermato-venereologica* 94:203-6.

Payne AS, Hanakawa Y, Amagai M, Stanley JR (2004) Desmosomes and disease: pemphigus and bullous impetigo. *Current opinion in cell biology* 16:536-43.

Payne AS, Ishii K, Kacir S, Lin C, Li H, Hanakawa Y, Tsunoda K, Amagai M, Stanley JR, Siegel DL (2005) Genetic and functional characterization of human pemphigus vulgaris monoclonal autoantibodies isolated by phage display. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 115:888-99.

Peifer M, McCrea PD, Green KJ, Wieschaus E, Gumbiner BM (1992) The vertebrate adhesive junction proteins beta-catenin and plakoglobin and the Drosophila segment polarity gene armadillo form a multigene family with similar properties. *The Journal of cell biology* 118:681-91.

Perez-Perez ME, Avalos-Diaz E, Herrera-Esparza R (2012) Autoantibodies in senear-usher syndrome: cross-reactivity or multiple autoimmunity? *Autoimmune diseases* 2012:296214.

Phillips C, Kalantari-Dehaghi M, Marchenko S, Chernyavsky AI, Galitovskiy V, Gindi V, Chun S, Paslin D, Grando SA (2013) Is Grover's disease an autoimmune dermatosis? *Experimental dermatology* 22:781-4.

Pike LJ (2006) Rafts defined: a report on the Keystone Symposium on Lipid Rafts and Cell Function. *Journal of lipid research* 47:1597-8.

Poot AM, Diercks GF, Kramer D, Schepens I, Klunder G, Hashimoto T, Borradori L, Jonkman MF, Pas HH (2013) Laboratory diagnosis of paraneoplastic pemphigus. *The British journal of dermatology* 169:1016-24.

Probst C, Schlumberger W, Stocker W, Recke A, Schmidt E, Hashimoto T, Zhu XJ, Zillikens D, Komorowski L (2009) Development of ELISA for the specific determination of autoantibodies against envoplakin and periplakin in paraneoplastic pemphigus. *Clinica chimica acta; international journal of clinical chemistry* 410:13-8.

Protonotarios N, Tsatsopoulou A (2004) Naxos disease and Carvajal syndrome: cardiocutaneous disorders that highlight the pathogenesis and broaden the spectrum of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovascular pathology : the official journal of the Society for Cardiovascular Pathology* 13:185-94.

Puri V, Watanabe R, Singh RD, Dominguez M, Brown JC, Wheatley CL, Marks DL, Pagano RE (2001) Clathrin-dependent and -independent internalization of plasma membrane sphingolipids initiates two Golgi targeting pathways. *The Journal of cell biology* 154:535-47.

Rafei D, Muller R, Ishii N, Llamazares M, Hashimoto T, Hertl M, Eming R (2011) IgG autoantibodies against desmocollin 3 in pemphigus sera induce loss of keratinocyte adhesion. *The American journal of pathology* 178:718-23.

Ramani VC, Hennings L, Haun RS (2008) Desmoglein 2 is a substrate of kallikrein 7 in pancreatic cancer. *BMC cancer* 8:373.

Resnik N, Sepcic K, Plemenitas A, Windoffer R, Leube R, Veranic P (2011) Desmosome assembly and cell-cell adhesion are membrane raft-dependent processes. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 286:1499-507.

Roberts BJ, Johnson KE, McGuinn KP, Saowapa J, Svoboda RA, Mahoney MG, Johnson KR, Wahl JK, 3rd (2014) Palmitoylation of plakophilin is required for desmosome assembly. *Journal of cell science* 127:3782-93.

Rocha-Alvarez R, Ortega-Loayza AG, Friedman H, Campbell I, Aoki V, Rivitti EA, Dasher D, Li N, Diaz LA, Cooperative Group on Fogo Selvagem R (2007) Endemic pemphigus vulgaris. *Archives of dermatology* 143:895-9.

Rock B, Martins CR, Theofilopoulos AN, Balderas RS, Anhalt GJ, Labib RS, Futamura S, Rivitti EA, Diaz LA (1989) The pathogenic effect of IgG4 autoantibodies in endemic pemphigus foliaceus (fogo selvagem). *The New England journal of medicine* 320:1463-9.

Roelandt T, Giddelo C, Heughebaert C, Denecker G, Hupe M, Crumrine D, Kusuma A, Haftek M, Roseeuw D, Declercq W, Feingold KR, Elias PM, Hachem JP (2009) The "caveolae brake hypothesis" and the epidermal barrier. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 129:927-36.

Rosenbach M, Murrell DF, Bystryn JC, Dulay S, Dick S, Fakharzadeh S, Hall R, Korman NJ, Lin J, Okawa J, Pandya AG, Payne AS, Rose M, Rubenstein D, Woodley D, Vittorio C, Werth BB, Williams EA, Taylor L, Troxel AB, Werth VP (2009) Reliability and convergent validity of two outcome instruments for pemphigus. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 129:2404-10.

Rotzer V, Breit A, Waschke J, Spindler V (2014) Adducin is required for desmosomal cohesion in keratinocytes. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 289:14925-40.

Ruhrberg C, Hajibagheri MA, Parry DA, Watt FM (1997) Periplakin, a novel component of cornified envelopes and desmosomes that belongs to the plakin family and forms complexes with envoplakin. *The Journal of cell biology* 139:1835-49.

Runswick SK, O'Hare MJ, Jones L, Streuli CH, Garrod DR (2001) Desmosomal adhesion regulates epithelial morphogenesis and cell positioning. *Nature cell biology* 3:823-30.

Ruocco V, Ruocco E, Lo Schiavo A, Brunetti G, Guerrera LP, Wolf R (2013) Pemphigus: etiology, pathogenesis, and inducing or triggering factors: facts and controversies. *Clinics in dermatology* 31:374-81.

Saito H, Shimizu A, Tsunoda K, Amagai M, Ishiko A (2009) Subcellular localization of desmosomal components is different between desmoglein3 knockout mice and pemphigus vulgaris model mice. *Journal of dermatological science* 55:108-15.

Saito M, Stahley SN, Caughman CY, Mao X, Tucker DK, Payne AS, Amagai M, Kowalczyk AP (2012a) Signaling dependent and independent mechanisms in pemphigus vulgaris blister formation. *PloS one* 7:e50696.

Saito M, Tucker DK, Kohlhorst D, Niessen CM, Kowalczyk AP (2012b) Classical and desmosomal cadherins at a glance. *Journal of cell science* 125:2547-52.

Saleh MA, Ishii K, Yamagami J, Shirakata Y, Hashimoto K, Amagai M (2012) Pathogenic antidesmoglein 3 mAbs cloned from a paraneoplastic pemphigus patient by phage display. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 132:1141-8. Sams WM, Jr., Jordon RE (1971) Correlation of pemphigoid and pemphigus antibody titres with activity of disease. *The British journal of dermatology* 84:7-13.

Sanchez-Carpintero I, Espana A, Pelacho B, Lopez Moratalla N, Rubenstein DS, Diaz LA, Lopez-Zabalza MJ (2004) In vivo blockade of pemphigus vulgaris acantholysis by inhibition of intracellular signal transduction cascades. *The British journal of dermatology* 151:565-70.

Sato M, Aoyama Y, Kitajima Y (2000) Assembly pathway of desmoglein 3 to desmosomes and its perturbation by pemphigus vulgaris-IgG in cultured keratinocytes, as revealed by time-lapsed labeling immunoelectron microscopy. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology* 80:1583-92.

Savagner P, Yamada KM, Thiery JP (1997) The zinc-finger protein slug causes desmosome dissociation, an initial and necessary step for growth factor-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *The Journal of cell biology* 137:1403-19.

Sayar BS, Ruegg S, Schmidt E, Sibilia M, Siffert M, Suter MM, Galichet A, Muller EJ (2014) EGFR inhibitors erlotinib and lapatinib ameliorate epidermal blistering in pemphigus vulgaris in a non-linear, V-shaped relationship. *Experimental dermatology* 23:33-8.

Schiltz JR, Michel B (1976) Production of epidermal acantholysis in normal human skin in vitro by the IgG fraction from pemphigus serum. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 67:254-60.

Schmitt CJ, Franke WW, Goerdt S, Falkowska-Hansen B, Rickelt S, Peitsch WK (2007) Homoand heterotypic cell contacts in malignant melanoma cells and desmoglein 2 as a novel solitary surface glycoprotein. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 127:2191-206. Schulze K, Galichet A, Sayar BS, Scothern A, Howald D, Zymann H, Siffert M, Zenhausern D, Bolli R, Koch PJ, Garrod D, Suter MM, Muller EJ (2012) An adult passive transfer mouse model to study desmoglein 3 signaling in pemphigus vulgaris. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 132:346-55.

Sedwick CE, Altman A (2002) Ordered just so: lipid rafts and lymphocyte function. *Science's STKE : signal transduction knowledge environment* 2002:re2.

Seishima M, Iwasaki-Bessho Y, Itoh Y, Nozawa Y, Amagai M, Kitajima Y (1999) Phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C, but not phospholipase D, is involved in pemphigus IgG-induced signal transduction. *Archives of dermatological research* 291:606-13.

Seishima M, Oda M, Oyama Z, Yoshimura T, Yamazaki F, Aoki T, Nei M, Hashimoto T (2004) Antibody titers to desmogleins 1 and 3 in a patient with paraneoplastic pemphigus associated with follicular dendritic cell sarcoma. *Archives of dermatology* 140:1500-3.

Sekiguchi M, Futei Y, Fujii Y, Iwasaki T, Nishikawa T, Amagai M (2001) Dominant autoimmune epitopes recognized by pemphigus antibodies map to the N-terminal adhesive region of desmogleins. *Journal of immunology* 167:5439-48.

Sevilla LM, Nachat R, Groot KR, Klement JF, Uitto J, Djian P, Maatta A, Watt FM (2007) Mice deficient in involucrin, envoplakin, and periplakin have a defective epidermal barrier. *The Journal of cell biology* 179:1599-612.

Sevilla LM, Nachat R, Groot KR, Watt FM (2008) Kazrin regulates keratinocyte cytoskeletal networks, intercellular junctions and differentiation. *Journal of cell science* 121:3561-9.

Sharma DK, Brown JC, Choudhury A, Peterson TE, Holicky E, Marks DL, Simari R, Parton RG, Pagano RE (2004) Selective stimulation of caveolar endocytosis by glycosphingolipids and cholesterol. *Molecular biology of the cell* 15:3114-22.

Sharma P, Mao X, Payne AS (2007) Beyond steric hindrance: the role of adhesion signaling pathways in the pathogenesis of pemphigus. *Journal of dermatological science* 48:1-14.

Sharma P, Sabharanjak S, Mayor S (2002) Endocytosis of lipid rafts: an identity crisis. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology* 13:205-14.

Shi J, Sugrue SP (2000) Dissection of protein linkage between keratins and pinin, a protein with dual location at desmosome-intermediate filament complex and in the nucleus. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 275:14910-5.

Shimizu A, Ishiko A, Ota T, Tsunoda K, Amagai M, Nishikawa T (2004) IgG binds to desmoglein 3 in desmosomes and causes a desmosomal split without keratin retraction in a pemphigus mouse model. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 122:1145-53.

Shogomori H, Brown DA (2003) Use of detergents to study membrane rafts: the good, the bad, and the ugly. *Biological chemistry* 384:1259-63.

Simons K, Ehehalt R (2002) Cholesterol, lipid rafts, and disease. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 110:597-603.
Simons K, Sampaio JL (2011) Membrane organization and lipid rafts. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 3:a004697.

Simons K, Toomre D (2000) Lipid rafts and signal transduction. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 1:31-9.

Simpson CL, Patel DM, Green KJ (2011) Deconstructing the skin: cytoarchitectural determinants of epidermal morphogenesis. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 12:565-80.

Skerrow CJ, Matoltsy AG (1974) Chemical characterization of isolated epidermal desmosomes. *The Journal of cell biology* 63:524-30.

Smith EA, Fuchs E (1998) Defining the interactions between intermediate filaments and desmosomes. *The Journal of cell biology* 141:1229-41.

Sobolik-Delmaire T, Katafiasz D, Keim SA, Mahoney MG, Wahl JK, 3rd (2007) Decreased plakophilin-1 expression promotes increased motility in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells. *Cell communication & adhesion* 14:99-109.

Spindler V, Waschke J (2011) Role of Rho GTPases in desmosomal adhesion and pemphigus pathogenesis. *Annals of anatomy = Anatomischer Anzeiger : official organ of the Anatomische Gesellschaft* 193:177-80.

Stahley SN, Kowalczyk AP (2015) Desmosomes in acquired disease. Cell and tissue research.

Stahley SN, Saito M, Faundez V, Koval M, Mattheyses AL, Kowalczyk AP (2014) Desmosome assembly and disassembly are membrane raft-dependent. *PloS one* 9:e87809.

Stanley JR, Amagai M (2006) Pemphigus, bullous impetigo, and the staphylococcal scalded-skin syndrome. *The New England journal of medicine* 355:1800-10.

Stappenbeck TS, Bornslaeger EA, Corcoran CM, Luu HH, Virata ML, Green KJ (1993) Functional analysis of desmoplakin domains: specification of the interaction with keratin versus vimentin intermediate filament networks. *The Journal of cell biology* 123:691-705.

Steffen C, Thomas D (2003) The men behind the eponym: Francis E. Senear, Barney Usher, and the Senear-Usher syndrome. *The American Journal of dermatopathology* 25:432-6.

Stokes DL (2007) Desmosomes from a structural perspective. *Current opinion in cell biology* 19:565-71.

Taulet N, Comunale F, Favard C, Charrasse S, Bodin S, Gauthier-Rouviere C (2009) Ncadherin/p120 catenin association at cell-cell contacts occurs in cholesterol-rich membrane domains and is required for RhoA activation and myogenesis. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 284:23137-45.

Thiery JP, Chopin D (1999) Epithelial cell plasticity in development and tumor progression. *Cancer metastasis reviews* 18:31-42.

Thomason HA, Scothern A, McHarg S, Garrod DR (2010) Desmosomes: adhesive strength and signalling in health and disease. *The Biochemical journal* 429:419-33.

Towbin JA (2014) Inherited cardiomyopathies. *Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society* 78:2347-56.

Trojan L, Schaaf A, Steidler A, Haak M, Thalmann G, Knoll T, Gretz N, Alken P, Michel MS (2005) Identification of metastasis-associated genes in prostate cancer by genetic profiling of human prostate cancer cell lines. *Anticancer research* 25:183-91.

Troyanovsky SM, Eshkind LG, Troyanovsky RB, Leube RE, Franke WW (1993) Contributions of cytoplasmic domains of desmosomal cadherins to desmosome assembly and intermediate filament anchorage. *Cell* 72:561-74.

Tselepis C, Chidgey M, North A, Garrod D (1998) Desmosomal adhesion inhibits invasive behavior. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 95:8064-9.

Tsukita S, Tsukita S (1985) Desmocalmin: a calmodulin-binding high molecular weight protein isolated from desmosomes. *The Journal of cell biology* 101:2070-80.

Tsunoda K, Ota T, Aoki M, Yamada T, Nagai T, Nakagawa T, Koyasu S, Nishikawa T, Amagai M (2003) Induction of pemphigus phenotype by a mouse monoclonal antibody against the aminoterminal adhesive interface of desmoglein 3. *Journal of immunology* 170:2170-8.

Tsunoda K, Ota T, Saito M, Hata T, Shimizu A, Ishiko A, Yamada T, Nakagawa T, Kowalczyk AP, Amagai M (2011) Pathogenic relevance of IgG and IgM antibodies against desmoglein 3 in blister formation in pemphigus vulgaris. *The American journal of pathology* 179:795-806.

Tsuruta D, Ishii N, Hamada T, Ohyama B, Fukuda S, Koga H, Imamura K, Kobayashi H, Karashima T, Nakama T, Dainichi T, Hashimoto T (2011) IgA pemphigus. *Clinics in dermatology* 29:437-42.

Tucker DK, Stahley SN, Kowalczyk AP (2014) Plakophilin-1 protects keratinocytes from pemphigus vulgaris IgG by forming calcium-independent desmosomes. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 134:1033-43.

van der Wier G, Pas HH, Kramer D, Diercks GF, Jonkman MF (2014) Smaller desmosomes are seen in the skin of pemphigus patients with anti-desmoglein 1 antibodies but not in patients with anti-desmoglein 3 antibodies. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* 134:2287-90.

van Wilgenburg B, Moore MD, James WS, Cowley SA (2014) The productive entry pathway of HIV-1 in macrophages is dependent on endocytosis through lipid rafts containing CD4. *PloS one* 9:e86071.

Vasioukhin V, Bauer C, Yin M, Fuchs E (2000) Directed actin polymerization is the driving force for epithelial cell-cell adhesion. *Cell* 100:209-19.

Vidal A, McIntosh TJ (2005) Transbilayer peptide sorting between raft and nonraft bilayers: comparisons of detergent extraction and confocal microscopy. *Biophysical journal* 89:1102-8.

Vogt AB, Spindeldreher S, Kropshofer H (2002) Clustering of MHC-peptide complexes prior to their engagement in the immunological synapse: lipid raft and tetraspan microdomains. *Immunological reviews* 189:136-51.

Wahl JK, Sacco PA, McGranahan-Sadler TM, Sauppe LM, Wheelock MJ, Johnson KR (1996) Plakoglobin domains that define its association with the desmosomal cadherins and the classical cadherins: identification of unique and shared domains. *Journal of cell science* 109 (Pt 5):1143-54.

Wallis S, Lloyd S, Wise I, Ireland G, Fleming TP, Garrod D (2000) The alpha isoform of protein kinase C is involved in signaling the response of desmosomes to wounding in cultured epithelial cells. *Molecular biology of the cell* 11:1077-92.

Wang H, Li ZY, Liu Y, Persson J, Beyer I, Moller T, Koyuncu D, Drescher MR, Strauss R,Zhang XB, Wahl JK, 3rd, Urban N, Drescher C, Hemminki A, Fender P, Lieber A (2011)Desmoglein 2 is a receptor for adenovirus serotypes 3, 7, 11 and 14. *Nature medicine* 17:96-104.

Waschke J (2008) The desmosome and pemphigus. Histochemistry and cell biology 130:21-54.

Waschke J, Spindler V, Bruggeman P, Zillikens D, Schmidt G, Drenckhahn D (2006) Inhibition of Rho A activity causes pemphigus skin blistering. *The Journal of cell biology* 175:721-7.

Wei Q, Huang H (2013) Insights into the role of cell-cell junctions in physiology and disease. *International review of cell and molecular biology* 306:187-221.

Williamson L, Raess NA, Caldelari R, Zakher A, de Bruin A, Posthaus H, Bolli R, Hunziker T, Suter MM, Muller EJ (2006) Pemphigus vulgaris identifies plakoglobin as key suppressor of c-Myc in the skin. *The EMBO journal* 25:3298-309. Witcher LL, Collins R, Puttagunta S, Mechanic SE, Munson M, Gumbiner B, Cowin P (1996) Desmosomal cadherin binding domains of plakoglobin. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 271:10904-9.

Wolf A, Hatzfeld M (2010) A role of plakophilins in the regulation of translation. *Cell cycle* 9:2973-8.

Wolf A, Krause-Gruszczynska M, Birkenmeier O, Ostareck-Lederer A, Huttelmaier S, Hatzfeld M (2010) Plakophilin 1 stimulates translation by promoting eIF4A1 activity. *The Journal of cell biology* 188:463-71.

Wong MP, Cheang M, Yorida E, Coldman A, Gilks CB, Huntsman D, Berean K (2008) Loss of desmoglein 1 expression associated with worse prognosis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients. *Pathology* 40:611-6.

Xu X, Bittman R, Duportail G, Heissler D, Vilcheze C, London E (2001) Effect of the structure of natural sterols and sphingolipids on the formation of ordered sphingolipid/sterol domains (rafts). Comparison of cholesterol to plant, fungal, and disease-associated sterols and comparison of sphingomyelin, cerebrosides, and ceramide. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 276:33540-6.

Yamamoto Y, Aoyama Y, Shu E, Tsunoda K, Amagai M, Kitajima Y (2007) Anti-desmoglein 3 (Dsg3) monoclonal antibodies deplete desmosomes of Dsg3 and differ in their Dsg3-depleting activities related to pathogenicity. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 282:17866-76.

Yang L, Chen Y, Cui T, Knosel T, Zhang Q, Albring KF, Huber O, Petersen I (2012) Desmoplakin acts as a tumor suppressor by inhibition of the Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway in human lung cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 33:1863-70.

Yashiro M, Nishioka N, Hirakawa K (2006) Decreased expression of the adhesion molecule desmoglein-2 is associated with diffuse-type gastric carcinoma. *European journal of cancer* 42:2397-403.

Ye X, Zhang HM, Qiu Y, Hanson PJ, Hemida MG, Wei W, Hoodless PA, Chu F, Yang D (2014) Coxsackievirus-induced miR-21 disrupts cardiomyocyte interactions via the downregulation of intercalated disk components. *PLoS pathogens* 10:e1004070.

Yin T, Green KJ (2004) Regulation of desmosome assembly and adhesion. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology* 15:665-77.

Yong AA, Tey HL (2013) Paraneoplastic pemphigus. *The Australasian journal of dermatology* 54:241-50.

Zeki AA, Kenyon NJ, Goldkorn T (2011) Statin drugs, metabolic pathways, and asthma: a therapeutic opportunity needing further research. *Drug metabolism letters* 5:40-4.

Zhu D, Xiong WC, Mei L (2006) Lipid rafts serve as a signaling platform for nicotinic acetylcholine receptor clustering. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 26:4841-51.

Zidovetzki R, Levitan I (2007) Use of cyclodextrins to manipulate plasma membrane cholesterol content: evidence, misconceptions and control strategies. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1768:1311-24.